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2.1 KEY MILESTONES

AND ACHIEVEMENTS 2016

Vnesheconombank is the largest development institution in Russia.

The Vnesheconombank mission is to contribute to the long-term
economic development of Russia, first and foremost through

the support of downstream industries and high-tech projects,
promotion of exports and infrastructure-driven economic growth.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank started a large-scale revamp involving the revision
and reorganization of its business processes, readjustment of its current
functional management model and determination of a new strategy.

February
[

March
8

June

Sergey Gorkov was
appointed Chairman of
Vnesheconombank.

The Boguchanskaya
HPP construction
project sponsored by
Vnesheconombank
won the ADFIAP
Projects Awards
2016 (Infrastructure

Development category).

September

The government
resolved to provide to
Vnesheconombank a
RUB 150 bn subsidy out
of the federal budget.

October

The Bank’s employees
formulated and adopted
new corporate values:
Development,
Leadership, Partnership,
Teamwork, Integrity and
Patriotism.

December

Vnesheconombank and
the club of Chinese
commercial banks
signed a three-year
CNY 10 bn syndicated
loan agreement.

Vnesheconombank
ranked tenth on the

list of the most reliable
banks in the Central

and Eastern Europe for
2016 according to Global
Finance.

The Vnesheconombank
Supervisory Board
approved the Bank’s
Strategy 2021 and the
new business model.
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2.2 DEVELOPMENT DYNAMICS:
MAJOR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Development Dynamics: Major Financial Highlights! (RUB bn)

Total balance sheet? 4222.5 4,115.7
Equity (capital) 460.1 526.8
Profit (Loss) -87.4 -128.1
Term resources raised from banks 1,062.1 807.3
Resources raised from bond placement 1,058.6 975.6
Loan portfolio, including: 2,432.8 2,232.5
- development bank’s loan portfolio 1,355.5 1,147.6
- loan portfolio of special projects (transactions) 1,077.3 1,084.9

Equity investment (participation interests) in

authorized capital of companies® SR IS
Securities portfolio 531.8 441.4
Portfolio of guarantees and sureties 459.7 972.2

2.3 VNESHECONOMBANK’S
RATINGS

asat 01.01.2017

Long-term ratings

in national BBB-(assigned on BBB- (assigned on Bal (assigned on
currency 16.01.2015) 29.01.2015) 24.02.2015)
in foreign BBB-(assigned on BB+ (assigned on Bal (assigned on
currency 16.01.2015) 29.01.2015) 24.02.2015)

Short-term ratings

in national A-3 (assigned on NP (assigned on
currency 29.01.2015) 24.02.2015)
in foreign F3 (assigned on B (assigned on NP (assigned on
currency 04.02.2009) 29.01.2015) 24.02.2015)

1. Inthe given report, all the financial indicator values are calculated based on the accounting data
(formats 0409101 and 0409102).

2. With consideration for income/expense balance, as well as positive and negative revaluation of
securities available for sale (total balance sheet by sub-ledger accounts).

3. Debt and equity securities (excluding equity investment), and units in investment funds.
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2.4 VNESHECONOMBANK
STRATEGY: BACKGROUND
INFORMATION

In early 2016, Vnesheconombank faced a number of challenges:
an increase in accrued troubled assets including special projects,

and the limitations in the Bank's funding mechanisms resulting
from the imposed sanctions.

Despite the difficulties with its loan portfolio and liquidity, Vnesheconombank
remained a major long-term investor in the economy and Russia's largest
development institution.

The Bank’s team also focused on anti-crisis policies, a new business model and
development strategy.

The Vnesheconombank strategy 2015-2020 was adopted in 2014 (the Strategy)
and is aimed at increasing investment volumes. The size of the Bank’s loan
portfolio at the end of the reporting year was within the target range established
by the modernization scenario of the Strategy, meanwhile the amount of export
promotion loans was 74% below the target. The amount of market borrowings
nearly reached the targeted strategic level and the scope of state aid was within
the range specified by the Strategy.

Achievement in 2016 of the Strategy 2015-2020
Modernization Scenario Targets

RUB bn Of the lower target

limit
Loan portfolio 2,100- 2,330 2,233 106
- bank for development 965-1,070 1,148 119
- special projects 1,135-1,260 1,085 96
Export promotion loans 260 68 26
Funds raised
Total 2,565-2,820 2,596 101
- market borrowings 1,205 1,204 100
- state aid 1,360-1,615 1,392 102

In the reporting year, the Bank concentrated on building its new business
model and strategy based on the analysis of the Bank’s previous performance
and the best practices of development banks worldwide, and with due regard
for the priorities and needs of the Russian economy. The key parameters of
Vnesheconombank’s new business model were formulated in July 2016.
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In December 2016, the Vnesheconombank Supervisory Board approved the Strategy
2021 and the Bank’s new business model.

As part of the Strategy 2021, the reporting year saw the process of Vnesheconombank
transformation.

By the end of 2016, the transformation efforts brought about the following
qualitative results:

/ restructuring of a portion of troubled assets;
/ further financing of major investment projects;
/ fulfilment of domestic and foreign debt obligations.

Moreover, the Bank adopted new corporate values, developed a new investment
process, established a sectoral business solutions function, defined the strategy-related
initiatives, created a register of the Bank’s transformation projects, and identified
investment priorities and the role of its subsidiaries in the target business model.

The Strategy’s key priority is the mobilization of funds for the nationally significant
sectors of economy.

Vnesheconombank focused on the segments that have utmost importance for the
transformation of the domestic economy, and in which the Bank can act as a key
player. These include infrastructure, downstream industries, high-tech projects and
non-commodity exports and innovations.

Furthermore, Vnesheconombank is involved in the National Technology Initiative
projects and the conversion of defense production to civilian purposes.

According to the Strategy, 2017 will witness Vnesheconombank’s switch over

from the anti-crisis management to the next stage: the Bank’s transformation.
Vnesheconombank will be changing in accordance with its new competencies and
corporate values, concentrating its efforts on divesting non-core assets, launching
new strategic investment and introducing a new investment project support process.

Vnesheconombank’s Strategy: Priority to Advanced Development of the Country

In 2016, Vnesheconombank defined two key directions in its strategy for the development
of the Russian economy: ‘catching-up” development and “advanced” development.

“Advanced” development entails innovative directions where Russia can become the
global leader:

/ Blockchain in the public administration system and the Russian economy.

/ B2B marketplace for scaling up the Russian defense company diversification system,
and for innovative products and services (an element of the innovation ecosystem).

/ NBICS technologies (convergent technologies): man-machine neurointerface and
cyber physical systems.

/ Quantum technologies, including computer calculations, quantum sensors and
quantum data transmission.
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/ Private capital in the space industry, in particular, Russian projects for building
new-generation small-size space vehicles.

/ Infrastructure for new technologies.
/ Conversion of the defense industry to downstream civilian products.

“Catching-up” development entails directions providing opportunities for the
growth of the Russian economy:

/ Downstream industries, in particular, in the segments meeting the national
priorities.

/ Infrastructure: transport, energy, high-tech health care infrastructure and
infrastructure for industrial sites.

/ Promotion of non-resource exports.

2.5 OVERVIEW OF THE RUSSIAN
ECONOMY

In 2016, the effect of the negative shock connected with the

slump in oil prices gradually dissipated, while overall the
economy worsened.

The GDP was down 0.2% after a reduction of 2.8% in 2015. In the first half of the
year, oil prices remained low - on average, less than USD 40 per barrel - causing
the ruble to be depreciated and a relatively fast price inflation in the consumer
market. During this period, inflation substantially limited purchasing power. In

H1 2016, household incomes in real terms and consumer expenses were rapidly
decreasing. Investment demand was also going down in connection with severe
loan restrictions and the reduction of government investments.

In Q2 2016, the GDP trend hit a low point after which economic activity gradually
began to increase. The environment in the global commodity markets began to
improve - in the second half of 2016 the price of oil reached USD 44-52 per barrel.
In addition, the global prices for metals, coal and the European price for the
pipeline gas started to grow. The weakening of the ruble stimulated the export-
oriented sector. Accelerated growth of exports was observed not only in mineral
raw materials, but also in machine building, chemistry, metallurgy and wood
processing products. This triggered the growth of industrial production in general,
which in 2016 increased by 1.3%. Good weather conditions ensured record high
grain harvest figures, which also contributed to the revival of economic growth in
the second half of the year.
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Following the increase in oil prices, the exchange rate of the ruble began to rise,
which, alongside with good harvest figures and the zero growth of food stock
prices in the world markets, led to the rapid decline in inflation. Thus, the growth
of the consumer price index for 2016 amounted to 5.4%. The decreasing pace

of inflation slowed down the decline in the real income of the population, and
the levels of salaries in real terms began to demonstrate growth. However, the
consumer demand remained weak. High interest rates stimulated the preservation
of high propensity for savings in the context of the volatile flow of income.

In H2 2016, the decline in investment demand was replaced by the fast growth of
investments in the energy sector, export-oriented industries, wholesale trade and
financial services.

In general, the reduction of investments in fixed assets was negligible - by just
0.9% - while the investments of small businesses remained at the 2015 level.

The main macroeconomic indicators of the economy in 2016 can be described as
follows.

2017

Macroeconomic indicators
Forecast
Urals oil prices (global), USD / barrel 51 42 51
GDP, % -2.8 -0.2 0.8
Manufacturing output -0.8 1.3 15
Investments, % -10.1 -0.9 2.2
Retail turnover, % -10.0 -4.6 1.5
Consumer price index, December to December 12.9 5.4 3.6
Export, USD bn 341 282 328
Import, USD bn 193 191 221

2.6 ASSISTING THE
DEVELOPMENT OF THE
NATIONAL ECONOMY

In 2016, Vnesheconombank faced the challenges of limited access to global
capital markets, decreased support from the state and an increased portfolio of
accumulated troubled assets.

Nevertheless, the Bank was fully meeting its obligations to finance investment
and export promotion projects, and other projects and transactions.
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Changes in the size of loan portfolios in 2016 (RUB bn):

T T

Bank for Development's loan portfolio 1,147.6 1,355.5
Portfolio of export promotion loans 67.7 86.6

Portfolio of loans to companies involved in the

government defence order 2 )

Bank for Development’s loan portfolio: sectoral structure, %

Infrastructure

e 191
Chemicals and petrochemicals

147

Y 13.4

Machine engineering (except aircraft building)

9.7
I 106

Metallurgy

7.6
I ¢!
Timber processing industry

6.4
I 74

Electronics
5.0

I 48

Defense industry

I 46

Aircraft building
1.2
I
Medical equipment and pharmaceuticals

1.0

B

Rocket and space complex
1.8

B o7

Other

25.3
I 283

asat 01.01.2016
@ :55t01.01.2017

8.1
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The bulk of the Bank for Development’s loan portfolio consists of infrastructural,
chemical and petrochemical loans.

Bank for Development’s loan portfolio: by maturity, %

0.8% 1.3% 4 19 0.8% 0.5% 1.0%

01.01.2016 01.01.2017

up to 1 year
@ 1to 3 years
@ 3t05 years
@ above 5 years

At the end of the reporting year, the share of loans with tenors exceeding 5 years
in the total loan portfolio of the Bank for Development increased by about 4
percentage points to reach 97.7%.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank developed a new business model focused on the key
national economic priorities, including:

/ financing investment-intensive projects on a co-financing basis - borrowings
from banks and foreign investments;

/ investing in breakthrough technologies.

The new model provides for completion and commissioning of facilities under more
than 20 projects that, subject to additional funding, could contribute within 2 years
to positive GDP growth, creation of high-performance jobs and increased fiscal
revenues.
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SUPPLY OF FINANCE TO INVESTMENT PROJECTS

Financing major investment projects among key objectives of the national
development bank

For reporting year

Financing initiated Total value

2 71.7

projects RUB bn

Bank’s commitment Funding delivered

42.2 12

RUB bn projects

At year-end

Total loans Equity financing

1,212.7 56.9

RUB bn RUB bn

149

projects

At year-end 2016, Vnesheconombank granted loans to 149 investment projects.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank completed financing of 12 investment
projects.

Funds provided by the Bank in the form of loans and equity investments were
fully repaid. As a result, more than 1,338 new jobs were created with benefits
exceeding costs by almost RUB 23.8 bn.

Below are a few examples of investment projects completed in 2016:

/ Ka-226 helicopter modernization R&D. The project resulted in the serial
production of the Ka-226T light multipurpose helicopter with unique flight
characteristics;

/ Reconstruction and technical upgrade of the Klimov company’s research and
production facilities for the development and manufacturing of gas turbine
engines. The project provided for the transfer of existing production facilities
from the center of St. Petersburg, construction of new production buildings and

utilities infrastructure, and the purchase of state-of-the-art high-tech equipment.

The Klimov first modern design and production facility was launched in 2014.
The new manufacturing facilities are now in use to produce finished products;
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Construction of the SU-35 Multipurpose Fighter. The Bank had been financing
the project since 2006. The result was the creation of the 4++ generation
super-maneuverable multipurpose fighter, which is aimed at increasing the
export potential of Russian high-tech products.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank began financing 2 new investment projects
totaling RUB 71.7 bn, with the Bank’s commitment standing at RUB 42.2 bn. Overall,
in 2016, the Bank extended RUB 4.9 bn worth of loans to deliver these projects.

/

One of the projects aims at setting up the production of import-substituting
pharmaceutical substances and finished pharmaceutical products in the Yaroslavl
Region, and financing the R-Pharm R&D programme.

The project provides for the construction of a factory to produce pharmaceutical
substances in Rostov (the Yaroslavl Region), the second construction phase of
the factory to produce finished pharmaceutical products in Yaroslavl, and the
completion of R&D for seven R-Pharm brand-name medications intended for the
domestic market and for export. The R&D programme saw all the study phases
for the chronic hepatitis C medication completed and the medication registered
with the Russian Ministry of Health in May 2016. The main line of brand-name
medications is expected to be registered before 2020.

Along with financing new projects, the Bank continued to provide financial
support to investment projects launched before 2016. Below are the reporting
year’s investment project highlights:

/

Construction of an innovative complex for the development, introduction and
manufacturing of bio- and nanotechnology-based pharmaceuticals. The Bank
has been providing financial backing for the project since 2011. The project is
aimed at the construction of a GMP-compliant pharmaceutical plant.

In addition, the company’s influenza vaccine plant became operational. The
company has considerably reconstructed its production facilities and upscaled
product sales: in 2016 - 9.15m doses of influenza vaccine (in 2015 - 2.2m
doses), in 2017, the sales are expected to reach 17.8m doses.

Social and economic effects*:

KM 430.5 X 3838

Benefits exceeded costs by RUB 430.5 m new jobs

Construction of the CSKA football stadium in Moscow.

The first loan disbursement was made in 2013. The project for the construction
of the CSKA football stadium with a multifunctional complex of class A
commercial real estate is designed to increase the number of public sports
facilities in Moscow.

Put into operation on 17 August 2016, the new arena hosted CSKA's first official
game on 10 September 2016.

Here and elsewhere: accumulated social and economic effects from the beginning of the project’s
implementation.

26.6

RUB bn - total project value.

14.6

RUB bn - Vnesheconombank’s

commitment.

6.9

RUB bn - total project value.

5.1

RUB bn - Vnesheconombank’s

commitment.

16.3

RUB bn - total project value.

14.7

RUB bn - Vnesheconombank’s

commitment.
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/ Construction of the Western High-Speed Diameter Toll Motorway. The project

provided for the construction of the central section (11.6 km) of the WHSD toll
motorway (46.6 km) in St. Petersburg and the operation of its three sections
(northern, central and southern). The project was implemented on a public-
private partnership basis.

In December 2016, the central section was finished and opened for traffic.

Social and economic effects:

A'E 64

new jobs

Construction of a 500,000 tpa polypropylene production facility in Tobolsk.
The project resulted in the construction of Russia’s largest associated gas
component processing facility for the production of popular polymer
classes. The facility ranks among the top three global leaders in terms

of output.

The polypropylene production facility was launched in October 2013. By
the end of 2016, the facility produced some 460,000 tons of polypropylene
reaching 90% of its production capacity

Social and economic effects:

A,E 372

new jobs

Construction of the Boguchany Timber Processing Complex in the
Krasnoyarsk Region. The project was initiated by Kraslesinvest, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Vnesheconombank. In 2016, the company
completed a pilot launch of a timber mill which delivers steady production
performance. The plant sells its products to the People’s Republic of
China. To recycle its main production waste, the project provided for the
construction of a facility to produce up to 105,000 tons of fuel pellets per
year. The equipment suppliers have been already selected, and the project
will become fully operational in 2017.

Currently, the company is developing a project for the construction of a
pulp mill for the production of up to 750,000 tons of pulp per year using
Kraslesinvest facilities. The FEED is scheduled to be completed in 2017.

The project is designed to set up a zero-waste highly profitable
manufacturing facility, create new jobs and significantly increase payments
into budgets and extra-budgetary funds.

Social and economic effects:

IH 2,128.5

Benefits exceeded costs by RUB 2,128.5 m

A?@ 451

new jobs

120.2

RUB bn - total project value.

25.0

RUB bn - Vnesheconombank’s

commitment.

17.7

RUB bn - total project value.

16.8

RUB bn - Vnesheconombank’s

commitment.
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‘Immediate effect’ projects

The investment project portfolio comprises projects that are 80-85% funded by
Vnesheconombank and require relatively small investment. These are ‘immediate
effect’ projects, 21 of which are capable of ensuring a 0.2-0.3% growth in the
national GDP. These include:

/ construction of a timber processing complex in the Krasnoyarsk Territory;
/ construction of an infusion solution plant in the Kaluga Region;

/ construction of high-yield beef cattle production facilities in five Russian
constituent entities.

The ‘immediate effect’ projects provide for the construction of new manufacturing
facilities in Russia’s five federal districts in sectors including: timber industry,
metallurgy, medical equipment and pharmaceuticals, engineering and agribusiness.

Vnesheconombank finances investment projects primarily in the form of loans. For
some projects, Vnesheconombank provides equity financing and issues guarantees.

Changes in loan and equity financing for investment projects
in 2016 (RUB bn):

Atyear end 2016 | At year start 2016

Loan financing for investment projects 1,212.7 1,359.2

Equity financing for projects (equity investment) 56.9 35.4

At the end of 2016, loans for innovation projects accounted for 33.4%

(RUB 405.6 bn, 34 investment projects) of the investment loan portfolio.
Furthermore, RUB 0.8 bn worth of equity financing was extended to finance an
innovation investment project.

In the year under report, three investment projects also received guarantee support.

The Boguchanskaya HPP project sponsored by Vnesheconombank won an ADFIAP
Award 2016 in the Infrastructural Development category. The annual ADFIAP
Awards 2016 ceremony was held in conjunction with the 39th annual ADFIAP
meeting in Apia, the Independent State of Samoa.

The Boguchanskaya HPP ranks among the top five largest domestic hydraulic
plants, covering one-third of the Krasnoyarsk Territory’s power needs.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank management approved the Bank’s financing of
3 investment projects for a total of RUB 79.2 bn, with the Bank’s commitment
standing at RUB 56.8 bn.

These include:

/ construction of a PET and synthetic fibres complex in the Ivanovo Region.
The project value is EUR 356.5 m, with the Bank’s commitment standing
at EUR 278.9 m. The project provides for the construction of a 175,000 tpa
polyester staple fiber production facility with a 30,000 tpa PET chips unit.
Pertaining to the high-tech industry sector, it aligns with Vnesheconombank’s
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strategic priorities and is aimed at substituting consumer goods and textile
imports in Russia. The complex is scheduled to go on stream by 2020. The
project is included in the Subprogramme “Consumer Goods Industry” of

the State Programme on Industrial Development and Improving Industrial
Competitiveness approved by Order of the Russian Government No. 328
dated 15 April 2014, and is classified as a category | top priority investment
project under the Russian Chemical and Petrochemical Industry Strategy to
2030 approved by Order No. 651/172 dated 08 April 2014 of the Russian
Ministry of Industry and Trade and the Russian Ministry of Energy.

Furthermore, by end of the reporting year, Vnesheconombank has considered
18 investment projects with a total value of around RUB 503.7 bn, with the expected
Bank’s commitment standing at RUB 295.4 bn.

Development Award for a significant contribution to social and economic
development of Russia

In 2016, the Vnesheconombank Development Award competition attracted a
record number of entries (303 projects), which is a testament to the strong
interest from the business community and confirms that there is a sufficient
number of investment projects in Russia that deserve high recognition.

The winners of the Development Award are listed below

e

Integrated Infrastructure for Lipetsk Industrial and Production
Special Economic Zone, OJSC Lipetsk Industrial Production Special
Economic Zone, Lipetsk Region

Best Infrastructure
Project

Facilities for the production of socially valuable medicines and

o8 (e Vel Lt i active pharmaceutical substances, Geropharm LLC, St. Petersburg

Best Project on
Integrated Territorial Belokurikha-2 Tourist Cluster, JSC KurortBelokurikha, Altai Territory
Development

Research and manufacturing complex for the research and
production of active pharmaceutical substances, JSC Medical-
Biological Research and Production Complex Citomed, St.
Petersburg

Best SME Project

“Three factors”: production of recombinant coagulation factor
medicines for the treatment of haemophilia, (JSC GENERIUM,
Vladimir Region

Best Innovation/
High-Tech Project

Power-independent mixed waste utilization facilities using
anaerobic digestion to produce biomethane along with multi-
purpose microbiological by-products, Kompleksnyie Sistemy
Utilizatsii LLC, Orenburg Region

Best Environment
and Green Technology
Project

Development of Technology and Expanded Production of Sapphire
and Sapphire Plate for Sale to Global Manufacturers of LEDs,
Smartphones and Other Commercial Products, JSC Monokristall,
Stavropol Territory

Best Export Project

Integrated Facilities for Deep Processing of Grain for the
Production of Amino Acids in Volgodonsk, Rostov Region, Donskiye
Biotekhnologii LLC, Rostov Region

Best Project with
Foreign Participation
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CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PLANNING ON THE
FEDERAL AND REGIONAL LEVELS

In the modern world, the development of the strategic planning system is key
for improving the competitiveness of the Russian economy, making it possible to
exploit the potential of new scientific and engineering solutions.

As a national development institution, Vnesheconombank provides expert
assistance in elaborating the strategic planning framework, as envisaged by
Federal Law No. 172-FZ dated 28 June 2014 “On Strategic Planning in the Russian
Federation”.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank contributed to creating the Russian Spatial
Development Strategy concept, the first of its kind in Russia to combine the
strategic and spatial approaches to planning.

Furthermore, Vnesheconombank has conducted an expert review of:
/ InnoKamStandalone Innovation and Production Center concept;
/ Komsomolsk-on-Amur long-term social and economic development plan.

The findings and expert opinions were presented to federal and regional
executive authorities.

Additionally, as part of its cooperation with the local executive authorities,
Vnesheconombank provided expert opinions on the regional development
potential and prospects, proposals for improving the strategic planning practices
in the regions and mapping out their social and economic development strategies.

Economic forecasting and macroeconomic policy reports

The Bank issues and updates on a regular basis Russia’s mid-term and long-term
economic forecasts. In March and August 2016, Vnesheconombank prepared

and published on its website its 2016 to 2018 Russian Economic Development
Forecast. The Bank’s forecasts provide insight into different scenarios depending
on external conditions and fiscal and monetary policy measures aimed at
encouraging investment, adjusting the monetary policy, supporting household
incomes and stimulating exports.

The Bank has been continuously engaged in preparing mid- and long-term
development forecasts for a number of key industries, including mechanical
engineering, metallurgy, agriculture and transport. The forecasts identify the key
factors shaping sector trends and evaluate a number of key sector performance
indicators.

presenting the analysis of current macroeconomic trends and

the estimation of economic development potential as well as
Vnesheconombank’s SEMAFON, a composite indicator for the media
landscape based on the economic monitoring results.

I In 2016, the Bank also released a monthly VEB GDP Index report
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SUSTAINABLE INTEGRATED TERRITORIAL
DEVELOPMENT AND PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP
(PPP) PROJECTS

In 2016, Vnesheconombank’s activities were aimed at developing a new
cooperation model with Russian constituent entities as well as building

relationships with regional authorities and development institutions to coordinate

the supply of finance and encourage interest in the joint implementation of
large-scale regional investment projects.

In the reporting year, the Bank identified new possibilities and areas of joint work
with the Agency for Strategic Initiatives to Promote New Projects (ASI).

Expanding regional Establishing a Creating a standardized
presence through regional certified transparent project
a network of ASI managers institution selection mechanism,
regional representative including an online
offices and public platform
representatives

hvd hd

Vnesheconombank and ASI cooperation

"\ "\
Developing a Improving the Providing information
qualitatively new economy of projects support to the Russian
investment process through regional state constituent entities

support measures

The new model offers novel approaches to interaction with regional
authorities. This is also one of the reasons why the Bank closed its
representative offices in Russia in the reporting year.

At the 15th Sochi International Investment Forum 2016, Vnesheconombank
signed memoranda on cooperation with the authorities of six regions, such

as the lvanovo, Kaluga, Orenburg, Tula, Yaroslavl Regions, the Republic of
Chechnya, and with the Governor of the Krasnoyarsk Territory. The memoranda
laid out the main areas of cooperation, which include: selecting investment
projects, developing possible funding options, ensuring collaborative support
for and implementation of investment projects.

As at the end of the reporting period, Vnesheconombank signed cooperation
agreements/memoranda with 61 constituent entities of the Russian
Federation.

In 2016, the VEB Group continued implementing joint activity plans for
integrated territorial development with the Administration of the Primorsk
Territory (2013-2018), the Governments of the Astrakhan and Rostov Regions
(2013-2018), and the Samara Region (2014-2019). The joint activity plans are
seen as a road map for the Bank’s cooperation with the regions in searching
for and implementing key investment projects.
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Activities in the North-Caucasian Federal District (NCFD)

During the reporting year, the Bank continued providing financial support to
6 investment projects in the NCFD. As at 1 January 2017, the total financial stock
offered by the Bank amounted to RUB 22.8 bn (1 January 2016: RUB 23.5 bn).

Vnesheconombank’s subsidiary - JSC North Caucasus Development Corporation
(NCDC, or the Corporation) - has also been actively engaged in attracting
investment and implementing industrial and infrastructure projects in the NCFD.

At the end of 2016, NCDC’s portfolio included 4 investment projects in the NCFD:

/ establishment of an innovative medical cluster in the Caucasian Mineral Waters
Region;

/ construction of Minvody EXPO multipurpose exhibition complex in the Caucasian
Mineral Waters Region;

/ development of adventure tourism and ecotourism on the basis of the North-
Caucasian Mountain Club (the NCMC). The main objective is to arrange and
support year-round adventure and ecotoursim tours in the North Caucasus;

/ construction of the Kazbek Innovation Construction Technological Park.
In 2016, the Corporation completed 2 investment projects.

Among them is the Stavropol Intensive Crop Farming project (IrriCo), involving the
installation of a 5,000 ha irrigation system and the purchase of modern equipment
for the maintenance of agricultural land.

Activities in the Far Eastern Federal District (FEFD) and the Baikal Region

In 2016, the number of investment projects funded by Vnesheconombank in the
FEFD decreased from 10 (as at year start) to 8 (as at year end). Among them is an
interregional investment project which is also implemented in the FEFD. By the
end of the reporting year, the total loans granted to FEFD projects amounted to
RUB 42.6 bn, with equity financing of RUB 25.1 bn.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank completed 2 investment projects. The
funds provided for their implementation were repaid in full.

—e—— (One of the projects completed in 2016 involved the construction of
a Ka-62 multi-purpose helicopter. The objective was to conduct R&D
to design and build a Ka-62, a globally competitive and up-to-date
next-generation civil multi-purpose, medium class 6.5 tons
helicopter, the economic efficiency of which would exceed that of
equivalent helicopters available in the global market. The project
was included in the Federal Targeted Programme “Development of
Civil Aviation Technology”.

[ .

During the 2nd Eastern Economic Forum in Vladivostok, Vnesheconombank, the
Khabarovsk Territory Government, RFP Group and Asia Les signed an agreement

of intent on the establishment of the Far East forestry cluster. According to the
agreement, the parties intend to join their efforts in creating and subsequently
developing the cluster. Vnesheconombank is to coordinate public funding to cluster
residents and to provide comprehensive support on finance issues. The largest forestry
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investment projects in the region have been implemented with Vnesheconombank’s
support. As at 1 January 2017, the total funds provided by the Bank for the
implementation of forestry projects in the Far East exceeded RUB 29 bn.

The Far Eastern Federal District and Baikal Region Development Fund (the Fund)
is part of the system of institutions facilitating the economic development of the
region.

The Fund’s sole shareholder is Vnesheconombank.

In 2016, the registered capital of the Fund increased by RUB 2.9 bn through
subsidies from the federal budget granted for the implementation of priority
investment projects in the Far East and the Baikal Regions.

As at the end of the reporting period, 12 investment projects for a total of
RUB 150.4 bn with the Fund’s commitment standing at RUB 21.7 bn were named
eligible for priority funding from the Fund’s budget.

The implementation of the above 12 projects in the Far Eastern and Baikal
Regions will result in the growth of the macro-regional gross regional product
(GRP) by more than RUB 494.1 bn and an increase in tax revenues of the
government, constituent entities and municipalities of the Russian Federation by
RUB 96.1 bn.

In 2016, the Fund commenced financing the following 3 projects:

/ construction of the Russian Post logistics hub in the Far East (the Khabarovsk
Territory). The funding was provided for the purchase of two aircraft and the
construction of an automated logistic postal center in Khabarovsk;

/ construction of housing for personnel at the Zvezda shipbuilding facility;
/ affordable loans for SMEs.

As at the end of the reporting year, the Fund participated in the financing of
6 investment projects. As at 1 January 2017, the total stock of finance provided for
their implementation amounted to RUB 4.8 bn.

Development of Public-Private Partnership

Public-private partnership (PPP) as a mechanism for raising funding from
non-government sources is intended to facilitate infrastructural and socially
important investment projects, thus providing mutual benefit for both the state
and the business.

For a number of years, Vnesheconombank has been actively engaged in
developing and promoting PPP principles in Russia. Along with co-financing PPP
projects, Vnesheconombank advises state authorities and local governments on
procurement and finance matters.

As provided for by Resolution of the Russian Government No. 134 dated

1 March 2008 “On Approving Rules for Arranging and Using Budgetary
Allocations from the Russian Investment Fund”, Vnesheconombank monitors
the use of investment funds for projects which have received state support out
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of the Investment Fund resources. In 2016, Vnesheconombank monitored the
performance of investment project obligations by 8 investors. Based on the
monitoring results, Vnesheconombank prepared and submitted quarterly reports
to the Russian Ministry of Economic Development.

Vnesheconombank is a sole provider of advisory services to address the public
needs of Russian constituent entities in terms of PPP investment project
procurement.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank rendered consulting services to the public
authorities in three Russian constituent entities.

In compliance with a contract signed in 2014, Vnesheconombank
S provided investment consulting services for the Perm Territory
(reconstruction of the Perm - Berezniki highway). In the reporting
year, the services envisaged by the final stage of the project were
rendered in full. By the end of 2016, Vnesheconombank honoured
all its commitments under the contract. The services provided by
the Bank were accepted and paid for by the constituent entity.

In 2016, as part of its investment consulting services for a project on the
construction of a motorway and an on-ramp to a federal highway in the
Republic of Bashkortostan, Vnesheconombank signed additional agreements
releasing Vnesheconombank as a contractor from the liability for any delays
caused through the fault of government authorities.

At the end of the reporting year, Vnesheconombank delivered and the Omsk
Regional Ministry of Industry, Transport and Innovative Technologies accepted
three phases of the investment consulting services for the Omsk-Fedorovka
airport construction and operation project.

SUPPORT FOR SINGLE-INDUSTRY TOWNS

Vnesheconombank has been promoting development, diversification and
economic modernization of single-industry towns seeking to enhance their
investment potential and stimulate investment activities.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank started financing two new single-industry town
projects for a total of approx. RUB 32 bn, with the approved commitment of
Vnesheconombank standing at RUB 17.8 bn.

Overall, in 2016 Vnesheconombank extended RUB 25.6 bn worth of financing for
single-industry towns.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank completed 5 single-industry
town projects with a total value of RUB 127 bn. The funds provided by
Vnesheconombank since the start of the project financing totaled RUB 47 bn.

As at 1 January 2017, total loans extended by Vnesheconombank to fund projects
in single-industry towns reached RUB 189.8 bn. As of the reporting date,
Vnesheconombank was financing 16 such projects.
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To help find new investors, Vnesheconombank collected and
processed information about industrial sites in Russian single-
industry towns by 76 technical condition and business environment
criteria. Passports for 192 industrial sites in 76 single-industry towns
are available on the Vnesheconombank website.

Single-Industry Town Development Fund

Established by Vnesheconombank in late 2014, non-commercial organization
Single-Industry Town Development Fund (SITD, or the Fund) is promoting
infrastructure development and economic diversification in single-industry towns.

In June 2016, the Russian Government by its Resolution No. 549 expanded the Fund’s
mandate to include, alongside with the most socially and economically disadvantaged
single-industry towns, all single-industry towns of the Russian Federation.

In 2016, SITD and constituent entities of the Russian Federation signed 40 framework
cooperation agreements on the development of Russian single-industry municipalities.

In the year under report, SITD committed to co-finance the Russian constituent
entities and municipalities’ costs of construction and/or reconstruction of
infrastructure facilities required to deliver new investment projects in 10 single-
industry towns. To honour its commitments in 2016, SITD remitted RUB 619.2 m to
Russian constituent entities. Since its inception, SITD has transferred RUB 3.7 bn
under the cost co-funding agreements to the budgets of Russian constituent
entities to deliver investment projects to 14 single-industry towns.

By the end of 2020, the co-funding agreements concluded by SITD and Russian

constituent entities as at 1 January 2017 are expected to create nearly 19,000 new
jobs and raise approximately RUB 85 bn worth of investment.

EXPORT SUPPORT

Russian export support is one of the key priorities of Vnesheconombank

For reporting year

Financial support was provided for Russian
export projects (transactions)

31

countries worldwide

At year-end

Size of the guarantee portfolio Size of the loan portfolio

807 67.7

RUB bn RUB bn
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In accordance with the Strategy 2021 and Vnesheconombank’s business model,
the support for Russian non-resource exports is one of the Bank’s key priorities.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank provided financial support for the
projects (transactions) involving the export of Russian products to 31 countries
worldwide. The key export support areas included power generation, transport,
specialist and power engineering, the nuclear industry, including the nuclear
power industry, aircraft engineering and the rocket and space complex.

Development dynamics: export support activities (RUB, bn)

asat 01.01.2016

asat 01.01.2017

807 875

Guarantees to support exports
Pre-export finance

. Export credits

The production and subsequent export of high-tech Russian products are supported,
among other things, through subsidies that cover part of Vnesheconombank’s costs
of foreign buyer financing. As at 1 January 2017, the Vnesheconombank foreign
buyers loan portfolio for the purchase of Russian-manufactured high technology
products amounted to RUB 24.6 bn (as at 1 January 2016 -RUB 22.7 bn).

During the Minsk meeting in late 2016, the Government of the Republic of
Belarus, Vnesheconombank, Bank for Development of the Republic of Belarus,
Bank BelVEB and ROSEXIMBANK signed a Memorandum of Intent on the
establishment of an integration development platform to create a financial
infrastructure for export projects and projects with high integration potential. The
integration platform is aimed at supporting supplies of Russian and Belorussian
jointly manufactured products to third-country markets.

In the reporting year, Russia’s foreign economic activity in the sphere of financial
and non-financial export support has expanded, largely owing to the efforts of
the Russian Export Center (the Center), Vnesheconombank’s dedicated subsidiary.
The Center provides Russian exporters with tailored ‘one-stop-shop’ export
support solutions. In 2016, as part of the measures to improve non-commodity
export support conditions, Vnesheconombank received targeted subsidies for

a total of RUB 8.8 bn, of which RUB 8.1 bn was used to increase the capital of
ROSEXIMBANK and RUB 732 m was allocated to the Russian Export Center.

The Russian Export Center’s activity report 2016 is attached hereto.

Granting export support loans

As at 1 January 2017, Vnesheconombank’s lending in support of export activity
amounted to RUB 67.7 bn (as at 1 January 2016 - RUB 86.6 bn).
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Total export-aid loans granted in 2016 equaled RUB 15.8 bn (as determined at
the Bank of Russia’s exchange rate as at 31 December 2016).

To raise additional funding for new projects, the bank sold part of its export
portfolio. Specifically, it assigned to the International Investment Bank the right
to claim repayment of USD 40 m in principal and interest under a syndicated loan
for Termogas Machala project.

| The Bank provided USD 92.8 m to cover the costs of RJ Leasing Ltd
(Ireland) for purchasing 3 Sukhoi Superjet 100 passenger planes
manufactured by Sukhoi Civil Aircraft, with EXIAR providing the
insurance coverage. The jets will subsequently be delivered to
Citylet airline (Ireland) under an operational lease.

This marks the first time in the recent history that, through co-funding from
Vnesheconombank, Russian civil aircrafts have entered the highly competitive
European market. Fifteen jets will be supplied under a fixed-price contract and
another sixteen —under an option agreement. This deal will contribute to further
strengthening and expanding the partnership between Russian exporters and
foreign buyers of Russian aircraft.

In December 2016, the Bank started disbursement of loans to
finance Metrovagonmash’s export contract for the supply of 222
o o subway cars under the Budapest subway modernization programme
fmm (Hungary). Vnesheconombank’s total commitment for this project
stands at RUB 3 bn. Funding comes from the National Welfare Fund
(NWF), which allows to apply a lower interest rate.

The use of NWF funds for this project is another step in the development of new
forms of government support to promote Russian high-technology exports.

Vnesheconombank, through its subsidiary Bank BelVEB, provided
EUR 3.1 m to finance the supplies of Russian power generation
equipment to Belarus under the Grodno CHP-2 reconstruction project.

Guarantees as a mechanism to support export

By the end of 2016, the portfolio of guarantees extended by Vnesheconombank to
support exports has more than doubled.

In the reporting year, the Bank provided 87 export guarantees for a total equivalent
of RUB 247.3 bn (calculated at the Bank of Russia’s exchange rate as at 31 December
2016). The aggregate number of export guarantees issued by Vnesheconombank as
at the end of 2016 has reached 151 for a total of RUB 357.6 bn (calculated at the
Bank of Russia’s exchange rate as at 31 December 2016).

Among those that recently received export guarantees are RIC,
NOVATEK, Chelyabinsk Pipe-Rolling Plant (ChelPipe), Inter RAO

- Export. The total value of guarantees issued to new counterparts
stands at RUB 184.3 bn (calculated at the Bank of Russia’s
exchange rate as at 31 December 2016).

Specifically, Vnesheconombank provided, at ChelPipe’s request,a EUR 29 m
guarantee for Nord Stream 2 AG, Zug (Switzerland) to secure the 2016 - 2018 pipe
supply contract under the Nord Stream 2 project.
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Furthermore, the limit used by EXIAR under a USD 10 bn limited liability guarantee
provided by Vnesheconombank to secure EXIAR’s obligations to Russian and foreign
insurers grew almost threefold from USD 2.6 bn (at the Bank of Russia’s exchange
rate as at 31 December 2015) to an equivalent of USD 7.4 bn (at the Bank of
Russia’s exchange rate as at 31 December 2015).

BORROWING IN CAPITAL MARKETS

The recovery of energy prices and the reduction of the base rate by the Bank
of Russia has had a positive influence on the Russian debt market, allowing
the largest Russian issuers, including Vnesheconombank, to reduce the cost of
financing and increase the duration of loans.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank ensured the performance of all its
obligations to creditors and investors and borrowed the resources necessary for
its operation in capital markets.

In 2017, the situation in the domestic debt market will largely depend on the
external environment and the level of oil prices. In the context of persisting
limitations due to sanctions, the refinancing policy of the Central Bank of

Russia will be an important factor determining the investment appeal of

debt instruments for the players on the Russian financial market. The gradual
reduction of the base rate of the Bank of Russia will ensure a slight reduction of
the passive rate in the domestic market.

Raising resources with the use of securities market instruments

As part of its capital market funding activities in 2016, Vnesheconombank
placed RUB 54.6 bn nominal worth of RUB-denominated bonds and USD 600 m
of USD-denominated bonds with settlement in Russian rubles, the first ever
foreign-currency-denominated bond issuance of this kind in the Russian
securities market.

Bonds placed on the domestic market

Issue amount,
Coupon

Bond issue Maturity rate, % p.a. Currency Ic)t:‘rrency units
PBO-001P-01 February 9 years 11.6 RUB 19.6
PBO-001P-02 May 3 years 10.9 RUB 15.0
PBO-001P-03  July 5 years 4.9 usb 0.6
PBO-001P-04 July 3 years 10.15 RUB 20.0

The Bank refinanced RUB 89 bn and USD 500 m nominal worth of 8 bond issues
to meet its current liquidity needs.
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Refinanced bonds in 2016

Time to the nearest L I
Bond issue Put date . rate,% Currency amount,currency
put/call option date )
p-a. units bn
Series09 28032016 -Yearandsé 114  RUB 15.0
months
Series BO-16v 05.05.2016 1 year 3.0 usD 0.5
Series 21 08.09.2016 2Yearsandé 10.0 RUB 15.0
months
Series 10 29.09.2016 > Yedrsand 6 985  RUB 15.0
months
Series 18 11.10.2016 3 years 9.8 RUB 10.0
Series 19 17102016 *yearsand6 9.75 RUB 10.0
months
Series 08 20.10.2016 4 years 9.7 RUB 15.0
Series BO-02 28.11.2016 1 year 9.75 RUB 9.0

In February 2016, Vnesheconombank fully paid off Eurobonds at a total of 500 m
Swiss francs.

Use of NWF funds

In 2016, Vnesheconombank employed for the first time the resources of the
National Welfare Fund (NWF) to finance projects in the real economy. The Bank
signed deposit agreements with the Federal Treasury on depositing NWF funds
with Vnesheconombank to finance a RUB 3 bn project for the modernization of
Budapest subway cars and the acquisition and lease-out of the Moscow Metro
cars for a total of RUB 27.8 bn. Project financing is underway.

Fundraising via bank

The sanctions imposed on Russia by Western countries remained in effect in
2016. Therefore, the majority of Russia’s largest companies and banks, including
Vnesheconombank, remained affected by the restrictions on borrowings in foreign
capital markets for a term exceeding 30 days.

V(\ In December 2016, Vnesheconombank and Japan Bank for
International Cooperation (JBIC) signed cooperation agreements
%f defining their main areas of work while under sanctions:

/ A bilateral agreement between Vnesheconombank and JBIC designed to
promote Japanese equity investments in Russian companies, cooperation
in financing projects delivered in Russia, primarily, in Eastern Siberia and
Russia’s Far East, including financing foreign trade contracts between Russian
and Japanese companies, and project co-financing. Priority industries include
infrastructure development, power generation and energy saving projects,
downstream projects in petrochemicals, timber processing and engineering.

/ Atripartite agreement between Vnesheconombank, JBIC and ZAO Nakhodka
Fertilizer Plant on a project to construct a mineral fertilizer factory in
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Nakhodka, including an integrated facility with an annual production capacity
of 2.2 m tons of ammonia, 2 m tons of urea and 1 m tons of methanol, with
the total project cost estimated at USD 6.3 bn. Acting as a project coordinator
and arranger, Vnesheconombank will help identify equity investors. The project
will enable the creation of up to 2,000 new jobs and the launch of a training
programme for highly qualified personnel at the Far East Federal University.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank and a club of Chinese commercial
banks signed a CNY 10 bn syndicated loan agreement for a 3-year
term with an optional extension for another 3 years. Importantly,
the loan proceeds under the agreement are not allocated for any
specific investment projects and may be used to finance a broad
range of Vnesheconombank investment and export projects and
current commitments.

il

((

Furthermore, in November 2016, the Bank and China Development Bank signed
a CNY 6 bn framework agreement for a term of up to 15 years. In particular, the
agreement provides for the co-financing of power generation, energy efficiency,
and infrastructure projects, China cross-border projects, as well as sustainable
development and cooperation projects in Russia’s Far East.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank performed its debt servicing obligations
to foreign banks for a total of approximately RUB 137 bn (as calculated at the
Bank of Russia’s exchange rate as of 31 December 2016).

The diagrams below represent the structure of the Bank’s resource base

composed of the funds mobilized in capital markets, as broken down by currency,
instrument and maturity.

Funds borrowed in capital markets, by instrument, currency units bn

USD bn EURO bn RUB bn
15.79 2.04 2.09 )
14.31
v
6.55
6.95
as at as at as at as at as at as at
01.01.2016 01.01.2017 01.01.2016 01.01.2017 01.01.2016 01.01.2017
Total RUB equivalent, bn:
1,151.2 867.8 162.2 1333 384.9 415.7

@ Bank financing
@ Eurobonds
Domestic bonds
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Funds borrowed in capital markets, by maturity, currency units bn

USD bn

As at 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

EURO bn

As at 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

RUB bn

As at 01.01.2016 Asat 01.01.2017

1 to 3 years @ 3to5 years @ Above 5 years
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Partner (Islamic) financing

In the reporting year, the Bank continued to pursue its efforts to raise
Q debt finance in capital markets new to Vnesheconombank, in particular,

in the Middle East and South-East Asia, using Sharia-compliant

financing instruments. In May 2016, the Bank signed a memorandum

of understanding with the Islamic Development Bank Group, a core

international institution in the Islamic finance market, representing

57 member states of the Organization of Islamic Cooperation (OIC).

In the future, Vnesheconombank intends to arrange a fundraising deal using Islamic
or traditional financing instruments with the intention of promoting cooperation
with financial institutions in the Middle East.

Furthermore, Vnesheconombank has been actively engaged in the activities of a
partnership banking work group established under the auspices of the Bank of
Russia, primarily, in terms of improving the Russian legal framework. In particular,
in March 2016, the work group approved a road map to promote partnership
banking for the period of 2016-2017.

In 2017, Vnesheconombank plans to continue upgrading the Russian legal
framework to enable efficient fundraising from Islamic financial institutions.

2.7 FXAND INTERBANK
MONEY MARKET OPERATIONS,
MANAGING THE BANK’S
SECURITIES PORTFOLIO

FX and interbank money market

In 2016, the Russian ruble strengthened by 16.8% demonstrating
one of the best results among the currencies of developing
countries. Its exchange rate followed the trend of oil prices. In

mid-January, it reached the bottom low of RUB 83.59 for USD 1
and then, as oil prices were recovering, strengthened to reach
RUB 60.66 for USD 1 by the year-end.

The ruble appreciation was attributed to a tight monetary policy of the Bank of
Russia. Against the backdrop of high interest rates for ruble-denominated financial
instruments and a stable exchange rate, speculative carry trade operations by
international investors increased to provide additional support for the ruble.
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In 2016, the Bank’s total FX transactions dropped to RUB 3,461 bn (in 2015,
RUB 13,445.9 bn). Spot transactions more than doubled to make RUB 85 bn

(in 2015, RUB 39.6 bn). Forward transactions totaled RUB 8.8 bn as opposed to
RUB 15.1 bnin 2015. The turnover of swap transactions came to RUB 2,433 bn
(RUB 12,201 bn in 2015).

Currency/ruble transactions fell from RUB 10,501.7 bn in 2015 to RUB 2,626.9 bn
in 2016. The total turnover of currency/currency transactions decreased from
RUB 2,944.2 bn in 2015 to RUB 83%4.1 bn in 2016.

In 2016, the total turnover of funds placed in the interbank market demonstrated
an almost twofold increase on the previous year (RUB 5,441 bn) reaching
RUB 10,453.8 bn in ruble equivalent.

The total turnover of funds borrowed in the interbank market amounted to
RUB 5,584.9 bn in ruble equivalent against RUB 6,632.4 bn in 2015.

Income received by Vnesheconombank in the reporting year from transactions

in the interbank market totaled RUB 6.5 bn, which is ten times higher than the
previous year’s result (RUB 0.65 bn).

Structure of securities portfolio, %

. 5%
10.9% 1.4% 16.2%

As at 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

Russian Federation debt securities
@ Corporate debt securities of RF residents (bonds, Eurobonds and promissory notes)
() Other debt securities (bonds of foreign issuers and credit notes linked to corporate
and sovereign risks)

@ Shares and depository receipts

Securities portfolio

In 2016, the Russian stock market demonstrated an appreciably faster growth
than mature markets and most of the developing markets. The USD-denominated
RTS index increased by 52.2% (in 2015 and 2014, it lost 4.3% and 45.2%,
respectively) and the RUB-denominated MICEX index went up by 26.8% (in 2015
it grew by 26.1% after a 6.6% decrease in 2014).
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In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank sold a block of shares and depositary
receipts representing Gazprom shares. As a result, Vnesheconombank’s securities
portfolio in monetary terms (subject to the revaluation of accrued coupon yield)
was reduced by 33.5% from RUB 400.3 bn as of 1 January 2016 to RUB 266.1 bn
as of 1 January 2017.

The Bank’s financial results related to trade in shares of Russian issuers jumped to
RUB 7.4 bn from RUB 0.49 bn.

The bulk of investment in promissory notes as at 1 January 2017 were accounted

for by promissory notes of Russian issuers (60%), T-bills (17.6%), and Eurobonds of
Russian issuers (15.5%), with the bond yield totaling RUB 18.1 bn.

2.8 DEPOSITORY ACTIVITIES

The Federal Law “On the Bank for Development” allows

Vnesheconombank to engage in depository activities in the
securities market.

The Vnesheconombank Depository offers its customers a wide range of flexible
services, enabling them to conduct depository transactions in securities of Russian
and foreign issuers. The Depository has highly automated operational processes in
place to ensure speedy and precise execution of customers’ orders.

Support for Vnesheconombank investment projects

The Depository is part of the system to manage and monitor projects delivered
with Vnesheconombank’s participation. The function of the Depository is to keep
records of the securities accepted by Vnesheconombank as collateral to secure
the counterparties’ obligations. Consequently, it ensures online monitoring of
pledged assets and mitigates project risks incurred by both the pledgee and the
pledgor.

Technologies employed by the Depository enable the entire spectrum of
transactions in securities that are put/held in pledge. Along with the pledge
registration and deregistration, the Depository registers the assignments of
pledgees’ rights under pledge agreements, transfers of title to pledged securities,
creation or termination of any subsequent pledge, and alterations to pledge
conditions, as well as effects settlements in case of pledge enforcement in
compliance with the statutory procedures.

As at the end of 2016, the Depository kept records of 74 issuers’ securities
pledged to the Bank under 48 investment projects.
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Customer service

In 2016, Vnesheconombank opened 18 client depository accounts. As at the end of
the reporting year, the Depository maintained 491 client depository accounts.

The total market value of the securities kept in the clients’ depository accounts as
at 1 January 2017 amounted to RUB 632.4 bn in ruble equivalent.

In the period under review, Vnesheconombank effected on behalf of its clients
15,497 settlement transactions over their depository accounts, and 6,270
operations in connection with the issuers’ corporate actions.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank transferred to its clients USD 462.96 m
worth of gains on securities (at the Bank of Russia’s exchange rate effective as at
1 January 2017).

In 2016, securities of 638 issues were deposited with Vnesheconombank. Overall,
as at the end of the reporting year, Vnesheconombank held 2,810 issues of
issue-grade securities, with foreign and international securities accounting for
83%, and the Russian issuers’ securities, for 17%.

Payments on issuers’ bonds

In its capacity of the paying agent, Vnesheconombank effected in 2016

RUB 19.8 bn worth of coupon yield payments on bonds issued by the Agency

for Housing Mortgage Lending (AHML), United Aircraft Corporation, RUSNANO,
Western High-Speed Diameter, North-West Concession Company, and Russian
Highways (Avtodor), as well as payments in redemption of the AHML securities
(Series A7 and A9) and the Avtodor securities (Series 01) in favor of 1,320 security
holders.

Servicing sovereign internal currency debt and liaising with the Russian
Ministry of Finance

In accordance with the Federal Law “On the Bank for Development” and the
agreement with the Russian Ministry of Finance authorizing Vnesheconombank to
act as the agent for the Government of the Russian Federation, Vnesheconombank
provides depository services for sovereign debt management.

In 2016, the Bank effected payments in repayment of the sovereign internal
currency debt for a total of USD 78,600. Upon the settlement of accounts, the
number of blocked and special currency accounts fell by 30 to 3,148 at the end of
the reporting period.
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2.9 AGENT OF THE
GOVERNMENT OF THE RUSSIAN
FEDERATION

Vnesheconombank acts as an agent of the Government of the Russian Federation
and is responsible for:

/ accounting for, managing and repaying the external sovereign debt and
external financial assets of the Russian Federation;

/ ensuring the repayment of debt owed to the Russian Federation by legal
entities, constituent entities and municipalities of the Russian Federation;

/ providing, administering and performing state guarantees of the Russian
Federation.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank carried out the functions of an agent of the
Government of the Russian Federation in accordance with Federal Law No.
359-FZ dated 14 December 2015 “On Federal Budget for 2016”, Resolution of
the Government of the Russian Federation No. 1456 dated 28 December 2015
“On Measures for the Implementation of the Federal Law ‘On Federal Budget for
20167, acts of the Government of the Russian Federation governing specific areas
of activity of the Bank and in accordance with the Agreement for the performance
of functions of an agent of the Government of the Russian Federation No. 01-01-
06/04-472 dated 25 December 2009 between the Russian Ministry of Finance and
Vnesheconombank.

Accounting for, servicing and repaying external financial
° assets and liabilities of the Russian Federation —
As at 1 January RUB 4.5 tn

2017, assets and

liabilities managed

by Vnesheconombank Providing, administering and performing state
guarantees of the Russian Federation —
exceeded
RUB 2.6 tn

Ensuring repayment of debt owed to the Russian

Federation —
RUB 511.3 bn

In 2016, Vnesheconombank participated in the international negotiation of the
interstate debt of the Russian Federation. Specifically, as part of the Russian
delegation Vnesheconombank took part in all 8 sessions of the Paris Club, the
annual meeting with private sector representatives and sovereign creditors, the
Paris Club Forum and several rounds of bilateral negotiations with representatives
of foreign borrowers/creditors.
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SERVICING THE EXTERNAL DEBT OF THE RUSSIAN
FEDERATION

In 2016, the sovereign foreign debt of the Russian Federation recorded in
Vnesheconombank’s books increased from USD 37.2 bn to USD 38.7 bn, primarily
due to the registration of obligations under the external bond loan of the Russian
Federation issued in 2016 with maturity in 2026.

Over the reporting period, Vnesheconombank effected USD 3.9 bn worth of
payments (drawing on the Federal Treasury resources) in redemption and
management of the Russian sovereign foreign debt.

In 2016, the Bank ensured the redemption and management of the foreign debt

of the former USSR and the Russian Federation through deliveries of goods and
services for the total amount of USD 124.3 m (Kuwait, Macedonia). Repayment of the
debt via “debt in exchange for goods” conversion operations was fully completed.

As part of the final stage of the settlement of the foreign debt of the

Russian Federation owed by the former USSR to Bosnia and Herzegovina,
Vnesheconombank’s experts participated in drafting and negotiating the terms
of the intergovernmental agreement and the corresponding technical agreement
covering the accounting procedure and repayment of the debt.

MANAGING EXTERNAL FINANCIAL ASSETS OF THE
RUSSIAN FEDERATION

The revenues of the Federal Treasury in 2016 from operations connected with
government external financial assets were generated by debt and debt service
payments from foreign borrowers and proceeds from the tender sale of debt funds
in clearing and settlement currencies.

As at 1 January 2017, Vnesheconombank ensured the accounting of and settlements
in respect of the arrears of 49 borrowing countries on government loans extended
by the former USSR and the Russian Federation under 150 intergovernmental
agreements.

In 2016, the obligations of China, Mongolia, Nepal and Uzbekistan to the Russian
Federation were fully settled.

Vnesheconombank conducted an expert review of 12 draft intergovernmental
agreements, supplements, protocols and of a set of regulatory documents on the
ratification of the intergovernmental agreement.

The Bank and the authorized foreign financial organizations signed 12 technical
agreements, supplements, protocols and letters of exchange to the technical
agreements on accounting procedure and settlement of government loans
extended by the Russian Federation, as well as a quadripartite protocol on the
implementation of the intergovernmental agreement.
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ENSURING REPAYMENT OF DEBT OWED TO THE
RUSSIAN FEDERATION BY LEGAL ENTITIES, RUSSIAN
CONSTITUENT ENTITIES AND MUNICIPALITIES

As at 1 January 2017, Vnesheconombank’s records showed RUB 511.3 bn worth
of debt owed to the Russian Federation by 220 borrowers (as at 1 January 2016,
RUB 560.8 bn and 268 borrowers, respectively).

In the reporting year, the Bank continued to ensure the repayment of the federal
budget loans by 5 debtors under Sakhalin and Kamchatka projects. It assessed the
debtors’ financial standing, arranged for the provision of authorization (consent)
of the pledgee for the lease of fishing vessels, the beneficiary’s consent for the
payment of the insurance proceeds to the insurers of the fishing vessels when
insured events occur and authorized reorganization of the debtor through merger
by absorption of a third party.

; 2 RUB 5.1 bn transferred to the federal budget
(] . . .
(including RUB 3.7 bn under previously concluded

Overall, the liabilities to settlement and restructuring agreements)

the Russian Federation

settled in 2016 totaled

books

F RUB 0.1 bn worth of arrears written off the Bank’s

Pursuant to the instruction of the Accounts Chamber of the Russian Federation,
Vnesheconombank, in conjunction with the Russian Ministry of Industry and Trade
and the Ministry of Finance, conducted comprehensive work to reconcile and record
in the accounts of the Russian Ministry of Industry and Trade RUB 288.3 bn worth
of liabilities of 87 fuel and energy companies on the loans extended by the Russian
Ministry of Fuel and Energy in 1992-2000.

GOVERNMENT GUARANTEES

In 2016, Vnesheconombank checked and reviewed 122 filings of 64 principals
for the provision of state guarantees of the Russian Federation for a total of
RUB 356.7 bn. As a result, 113 state guarantee agreements were signed, with
RUB 337.7 bn worth of state guarantees of the Russian Federation issued and
recorded in a sub-ledger journal.

As at 1 January 2017, Vnesheconombank recorded on its sub-ledger accounts
298 effective government guarantees totaling RUB 2,614.6 bn.

Vnesheconombank has been regularly assessing the financial standing of the
principals, whose obligations are secured by state guarantees. In the reporting
year, the Bank reviewed the financial standing of 155 principals.
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Vnesheconombank performs ongoing monitoring of the obligations secured by
state guarantees of the Russian Federation, including the analysis and preliminary
approval (at the creditors’ and/or principals’ requests) of amendments to be

made in the loan and collateral documents and the conditions of bonds backed

by government guarantees. In 2016, Vnesheconombank considered 306 requests
from beneficiaries and principals.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank also implemented a set of measures to
comply with the Resolution of the Government of the Russian Federation on the

early repayment by the relevant principals of 200 loans previously acquired under
the state guarantees of the Russian Federation.

2.10 PENSION SAVINGS
MANAGEMENT

In 2016, return on invested pension savings significantly exceeded
inflation

Inflation 5.4% p.a.

Extended investment portfolio Government securities portfolio

10.53% 12.20%

Payment reserve portfolio Term payment pension portfolio

11.10% 11.24%
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Federal Law No. 111-FZ dated 24 July
2002 “On Investing Funds to Finance
the Funded Component of Retirement
Pension in the Russian Federation”

Resolution by the Russian Government
No. 34 dated 22 January 2003 “On
Designating the Bank for Foreign
Economic Affairs of the USSR
(Vnesheconombank) as State Trust
Management Company for Pension
Savings”

Federal Law No. 360-FZ dated 30
November 2011 “On Procedure for
Financing Payments Drawing on
Pension Savings”

Resolution by the Russian Government
No. 503 dated 14 June 2013 “On the
Term of State Corporation Bank for
Development and Foreign Economic
Affairs (Vnesheconombank) Acting as
State Trust Management Company

for Pension Savings, and State

Management Company for Payment
Reserve Resources”

For over 10 years, Vnesheconombank has been performing the functions of a state
trust management company for pension savings of insured Russian citizens.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank as a state management company focused on the
following objectives:

/ minimization of the liquidity risk to secure obligations under trust
management agreements;

/ safe-keeping (ensuring positive yield) of the portfolios of the state trust
management company for pension savings and the state management
company for payment reserve resources;

/ outlining proposals to enhance the regulatory framework applicable to trust
management of pension savings.

Trust management of pension savings is effected by Vnesheconombank in
compliance with the legislation of the Russian Federation and on an arm’s length
basis.

As a state trust management company for pension savings of Russian citizens and
a state management company for payment reserve resources, Vnesheconombank
in 2016 built up four portfolios: an extended investment portfolio (El portfolio),
a government securities portfolio (GS portfolio), a payment reserve portfolio (PR
portfolio), and a term payment pension portfolio (TP portfolio). The Bank formed
its portfolios in accordance with the investment declarations approved by Russian
Government Resolutions No. 540 dated 01 September 2003, No. 842 dated

24 October 2009, and No. 550 dated 4 June 2012.

Management of pension savings in 2016 was considerably affected by global
geopolitical tensions, the US and EU sanctions imposed on the Russian
Federation and its major companies, a tough market environment, and the need
to reserve a significant part of pension savings to ensure their repayment to the
Pension Fund of the Russian Federation.
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Nevertheless, at the year-end, the Bank ensured absolute safety (adjusted for
inflation) of the pension savings.

Yield on invested pension savings at the end of 2016 (% p.a.)

12.20%

9 11.24%
10.53% 11.10%

5.40%

Extended investment portfolio
@ Government securities portfolio
. Payment reserve portfolio

Term payment pension portfolio

Inflation

Extended investment portfolio

At the end of 2016, the market value of the El portfolio amounted to
RUB 1,939.7 bn (at the beginning of the year: RUB 1,990.2 bn).

The pension savings repaid to the Russian Pension Fund in the reported period
using the El portfolio funds totaled RUB 290.1 bn (in 2015: RUB 425.6 bn).
Throughout 2016, the Russian Pension Fund transferred RUB 49.2 bn worth of
funds to SMC to form the El portfolio (in 2015: RUB 287.7 bn).

To reserve part of pension savings within the El portfolio in order to ensure

their subsequent repayment to the Russian Pension Fund, Vnesheconombank in
2016 conducted three deposit auctions. Deposits with credit institutions totaled
RUB 240.6 bn (in 2015: RUB 333 bn), with the weighted average interest rate on
the deposits running at 10.25% p.a. (in 2015: 11.21% p.a.).

In 2016, Vnesheconombank spent about RUB 70 bn to acquire bonds issued by
Russian infrastructure and manufacturing companies, in particular, ROSSETI,
KAMAZ, and Atomenergoprom.

The funds of the El portfolio invested in 2016 in non-government bonds
totaled RUB 95.3 bn (at the market value, net of accrued coupon yield) (in 2015:
RUB 136.2 bn).
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Extended investment portfolio, %

1.6% 1.2%
17.5%
22.1%
1.3%
3.4% 13%
19.2%
2.8%
24.4% 0.1%
)
30.4% 0.2% >-3%
4.9% 31.7%
As at 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

@ OFZs (Federal Loan Bonds)
GSOs (Government Savings Bonds)
RF constituent entities’ bonds

@ Guaranteed bonds
Corporate bonds
Mortgage-backed bonds
IFO bonds
Cash (including deposits)

- Accrued coupon yield

Government securities portfolio

At the end of 2016, the market value of the GS portfolio amounted to
RUB 28.8 bn (at the beginning of the year: RUB 22.7 bn).

In 2016, the funds of the GS portfolio repaid by the state trust management
company to the Russian Pension Fund amounted to RUB 3.4 bn (in 2015:

RUB 3.1 bn). The funds received in the reporting year from RPF to build the GS
portfolio totaled RUB 6.5 bn (in 2015: RUB 12.9 bn).

Seeking to diversify the GS portfolio and earn a higher coupon yield than

that on the government bonds, Vnesheconombank acquired in the secondary
market RUB 2.9 bn worth of bonds (at the market value, net of accrued coupon
yield) issued by the Western High-Speed Diameter and backed by the Russian
government guarantee. As a result, a share of bonds secured by state guarantees
of the Russian Federation in the GS portfolio during the period under report
increased from 41.1 to 43.1%.

At the same time, in the lack of opportunities to acquire other Russian
government-backed bonds, OFZs remained in the reporting period the main
investment instrument of the GS portfolio, with the share of OFZs increasing
from 16.1 to 28.8%. In absolute terms, the total of these bonds increased from
RUB 3.6 bn to RUB 8.3 bn (at the market value, net of accrued coupon yield).
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Government securities investment portfolio, %

() 0,
12.5% 17.0% 9.8%

1.2%

16.1%

41.1%

As at 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

@ Gsos

OFZs
@ Guaranteed bonds
[ Accrued coupon yield

@ cash

Trust management of payment reserve resources and pension savings of
insured citizens entitled to a term pension payment

At the end of 2016, the market value of the PR and TP portfolios stood at
RUB 7,307.0 m and RUB 1,888.6 m, respectively (as at the beginning of the year:
RUB 4,916.1 m and RUB 565.0 m, respectively).

In 2016, Vnesheconombank repaid RUB 311.4 m and RUB 172.5 m worth of
PR and TP portfolio funds, respectively, to the Russian Pension Fund. To build
up the respective portfolios, the Russian Pension Fund remitted RUB 2,077.6 m
(PR portfolio) and RUB 1,394.8 m (TP portfolio) to be held in trust with
Vnesheconombank.

To enhance investment efficiency of the PR and TP portfolios, the Bank also
acquired corporate bonds and bonds issued by Russian constituent entities. The
funds allocated in 2016 to purchase such securities totaled RUB 1,808.9 m and

28.9%

RUB 888.7 m (at the market value, net of accumulated coupon yield), respectively.

As a result, by the end of the year, such bonds still accounted for a significant
share in the PR and TP portfolios: 54.3 and 57.9%, respectively.

Furthermore, Vnesheconombank purchased OFZs for its PR and TP portfolios,

in particular, the series 52001 OFZ-INs with the inflation-adjusted par value to
ensure preservation of pension savings (subject to consumer price increase) and
accommodate the interests of insured citizens, as well as the high-yield series

24019 OFZs with RUONIA-linked coupon. Overall, the Bank acquired RUB 676.0 m

and RUB 154.8 m worth of OFZs (at the market value, net of accumulated coupon
yield) for its PR and TP portfolios, respectively.

5. RUONIA-Ruble OverNight Index Average.
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Payment reserve portfolio, %

7.3% 0.1%
2.2%

33.1% 29.8% 3.4%
0.6%

1.4%
1.3% 2.8%

6.7% 49.4%

As at 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

Term payment pension portfolio, %

6.2% 0.1%
2.1% 10.2%

40.4%

43.9%

1.2%

6.2%
Asat 01.01.2016 As at 01.01.2017

@ orzs

[ RF constituent entities’ bonds
) Guaranteed bonds
@ Corporate bonds
IFO bonds
. Accrued coupon yield

@ cash

. Accrued coupon yield receivable
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3.1 RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM

To manage financial and non-financial risks associated with
its operations, Vnesheconombank employs a complex of

methodological, administrative and IT solutions designed to
secure its financial sustainability.

Vnesheconombank’s governing and working bodies (Supervisory Board,
Management Board, Risk Management Committee, Managing Committee,

Assets and Liabilities Committee, and Credit Committee) determine the levels

of the aggregate risk and specific types of risks assumed by the Bank. The risk
management goals and objectives, and principles and procedure are defined in
the approved Risk Management Policy of the VEB Group. The internal regulatory
framework governing the risk management procedures is structured in accordance
with the Policy.

Risk management includes risk identification, assessment and monitoring, as well
as risk mitigation measures.

The risks are assessed in accordance with the approaches approved by the
management. The approaches enable assessing both expected and contingent
losses as the maximum possible losses at a given probabilistic level and time
horizon. Contingent losses are assessed by analyzing the statistics on loss risk
factors and patterns (models) of correlation between any changes in risk factors
and the occurrence of losses.

The Bank also uses stress-testing to simulate stress situations and elaborate
action plans in case of events deemed to be statistically improbable.

Risk monitoring and mitigation is based on a system of limits. The established
Llimits reflect the level of risk the Bank is ready to take and are consistent with the
Bank’s strategic priorities by business line.

To assess and control its aggregate exposure to significant credit, market and
operating risks, the Bank calculates its capital adequacy ratio. Currently, the
minimum capital adequacy ratio is 10%.

Information on the status of and trends in the internal and external factors by
business line is reviewed for early detection, analysis and control of risks, with the
respective reports and analytical comments submitted to the governing bodies
and the Internal Control Service.

The reports provide information (broken down by risk type and core business
line) on the compliance with the established risk limits, counterparty
creditworthiness monitoring, and loan portfolio parameters in general.
Furthermore, they describe expected, contingent and stress losses, results of the
gap analysis and analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to foreign exchange, interest
rate and liquidity risks.
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In 2016, Vnesheconombank operated amid the recession that had hit the
Russian economy in the second half of 2014. The economic downturn was
conditioned by external shocks such as a collapse in oil prices and significantly
restricted access to global capital markets, which led to a sharp fall in the ruble
exchange rate, consumer price increase and an overall decline in business and
consumer confidence. A tighter monetary policy together with budgetary cuts
increased the negative impacts.

The above factors triggered the realization of credit and market risks, which,
along with a lack of access to long-term financing in overseas markets,
weakened the Bank’s liquidity position.

The new Strategy provides for the following measures to mitigate the risks
assumed:

/ developing specialized models to assess project, borrower and portfolio
risks; introducing individual financial monitoring; drafting special credit
documentation; augmenting the system of limits and other restrictions to
manage credit risks;

/ introducing a new investment process to ensure better project quality;

/ disposing of high-risk market instruments in the portfolio of liquid assets;
introducing a system of Llimits on operations in financial markets with tight
restrictions on credit and portfolio market risks;

/ maintaining adequate liquidity; enhancing prediction accuracy of factors
that may adversely affect the bank’s liquidity; adopting consolidated liquidity
management within the VEB Group.

Seeking to further develop its risk management system in 2016,
Vnesheconombank developed and approved approaches to the risk

appetite and formal risk identification procedures; adopted risk appetite
levels, operating risk management procedure, integrated stress-testing
methodology, and IAS 39-compliant provisioning, as well as organized
regular training for Vnesheconombank’s employees in operating risk
management. The Bank also approved the Liquidity Risk Management
Standard and the Operating Risk Management Standard to be applied within
the VEB Group.

Furthermore, the Bank placed an increased focus on developing its information
systems and integrating key risk controls in business processes, and, in
particular, launched:

/ Ajoint project of its business and risk-management units for improving the
investment process. The project is aimed at changing the Bank’s project
support model, enhancing its current IT solutions standards in terms of
investment process automation, including integrated key risk controls.

/ A project to set up a system for credit risk limits accounting and
monitoring and provide the Bank with new credit risk assessment and

management tools.

/ A project to automate the operating of the risk management process.
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3.2 CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

DEVELOPING AND INTRODUCING THE BANK’S CSR
SYSTEM

The Vnesheconombank corporate social responsibility (CSR) system is based on
principles contemplated by key Russian and international CSR and sustainability
standards and initiatives, including the international standard and its equivalent
Russian GOST ISO 26000-2012 “Guidance on Social Responsibility”, the principles
of the UN Global Compact (UNGC), the Guide to Banking and Sustainability of the
United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI).

Since 2013, Vnesheconombank has been chairing the UN Global Compact
Network Russia and performing functions related to the Network’s operations

on the national and global levels, as well as to its institutional development and
expansion of outreach. In 2016, the Bank continued to promote the values of the
UN Global Compact in Russia.

In December 2015, Vnesheconombank approved a Sustainability Road Map.
According to the Map, the Bank is to implement the initiatives focused on its
adoption of green financial instruments, promotion of the sustainability principles
in the business community, etc.

In the reporting year, following the results of the annual contest held by the
Association of Development Financing Institutions in Asia and the Pacific
(ADFIAP) and the European Organization for Sustainable Development (EOSD),
Vnesheconombank’s Sustainability Road Map was honoured with a special
diploma “For Outstanding Achievements in the Introduction of the Sustainability
Principles into a Company’s Business Processes”.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank took part in the work of the Task Force on green
financing of the Group of Twenty (G20 GSFG), thus involving in the process of
elaboration and promotion of innovative green financial mechanisms, which is
actively pursued globally.

The green efforts of Vnesheconombank are regulated by the instruction of the
Russian President Vladimir Putin given following the meeting of the Council
of State on “Economic Development of the Russian Federation for the Benefit
of Future Generations” held on 27 December 2016, in terms of the formulation
of proposals on the application of green mechanisms by Russian development
institutions and public companies.

In its CSR and sustainability efforts, Vnesheconombank adheres to openness and
transparency principles. Since 2009, the Bank has been publishing its annual
non-financial reports with consolidated information on the contribution of all
the VEB Group entities to sustainable development in compliance with the
requirements of the international Sustainability Reporting Guidelines of the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).
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INVESTMENT IN HUMAN CAPITAL

Recruitment and onboarding

In 2016, in the context of Vnesheconombank’s new strategy, the

—l— Personnel Selection and Onboarding Department was entrusted with

\ the ambitious task of recruiting the best professionals available in

the market for key positions in the Bank. To accomplish this task, the
Bank transformed its personnel selection function, namely by forming
a personnel selection and onboarding team and introducing new
mechanisms for the search and evaluation of candidates. Currently,
the Bank is automating the selection process and developing a new
personnel onboarding approach. In 2016, more than 200 highly
qualified top- and medium-level managers were employed by
Vnesheconombank.

Nurturing young talents

In 2016, the Bank continued its work with students and graduates of the leading
financial and economic institutions of higher education: 75 students from 18 Russian
universities passed undergraduate and pre-graduation practical training at various
subdivisions of Vnesheconombank.

In the reporting year, the Bank organized a pilot targeted internship programme for
students with knowledge of Chinese. Following the results of selection procedures,
three students of the Department of International Economic Relations of the
Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation did internships
at Vnesheconombank’s relevant subdivisions for several months. The students were
offered a chance to obtain practical knowledge about the activities of the SCO IBC
and BRICS, legal regulation of banking in the PRC and cultivation of financial and
economic relations between China and Russia. The results of the pilot programme led
to the decision to expand this practice in 2017.

Personnel training and development

In 2016, the Bank’s employees had an opportunity to undergo the training primarily
focused on the extension of knowledge and skills that directly help support the
corporate business and are required in accordance with the applicable law. Moreover,
according to the Bank’s Strategy 2021, major emphasis was placed on the development
of new corporate competencies in current technologies, project management,
performance improvement and business optimization. Apart from basic training
formats, such as training courses and seminars, the focus shifted to new modern
training formats aimed at broadening of cross-functional interaction skills: workshops,
strategic and facilitation sessions, including those using a design thinking technique.

During the reporting year, more than 50 corporate training courses and seminars
were organized for the Bank’s employees. The training was focused, in particular,
on the following topics: role of leaders in performance management, organization
of procurement, project management for investment managers and optimization of
business processes.

The Bank’s employees could upgrade their qualifications and improve professional
skills through training courses in computer technologies at Vnesheconombank’s
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computer lab (during the year, more than 400 employees received the training).
In addition, using the Bank’s training portal, a large percentage of employees
completed e-learning related to fire safety, operational risk management and
anti-corruption (90% of employees completed e-learning).

During the year, with a view to obtain special professional knowledge and skills,
more than 200 employees got training at external training organizations on
important topics such as information technologies, accounting, IAS, audit, securities
markets, personnel management and anti-corruption.

Leaders of Change

Leaders of Change is the Vnesheconombank strategic project aimed at building a
team of talented, self-motivated employees who care about the Bank’s problems
and are actively involved in the Bank’s transformation projects.

Any employee of the Bank could join the project after passing several selection
phases:

/ testing for business qualities, capability and readiness to change;

/ writing an essay describing the proposed programme for the improvement of
the Bank’s operations;

/ taking part in a strategic session during which the potential Leaders of Change
prepared plans for integrating initiatives for the improvement of the Bank’s
operations and were evaluated on embodiment of corporate values.

At the end of all selection stages, the Leaders of Change were provided

an opportunity to become members of the working groups involved in
Vnesheconombank’s transformation projects and to participate in dedicated
training events.

The most significant projects of the Leaders of Change included the
implementation of the efficient cost management system, the development of an
end-to-end business process for handling troubled debts, a client service model
and a single treasury within VEB Group.

In 2016, the Bank organized off-site design brainstorming training events and
Agile workshops for the participants, as well as seminars and training courses
for heads of project groups aimed at the extension of teamwork skills and
improvement of personal performance under the common name “Communication
Effectiveness Laboratory of the Leaders of Change”.

Remuneration and functional organization

In 2016, the Bank launched a project for building a new employee compensation
and incentive scheme.

The main objectives of the employee compensation scheme are to motivate
employees to work effectively and to the highest standard, to maintain the
employee’s remuneration at the competitive (market) level, to develop transparent
and standardized mechanisms for determining the remuneration level of
employees, based on the value and importance for Vnesheconombank of the
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tasks carried out by them and the assessment of their performance. The new
remuneration system is based on the following principles:

/ Meritocracy - Vnesheconombank motivates employees of all levels for
overachievements. Employees are well compensated for high performance.

/ Competitiveness - a fair and competitive remuneration in accordance with
Vnesheconombank’s legal status and goals in order to recruit and retain various
categories of employees who possess the skills required for the implementation
of its strategic objectives, subject to the Bank’s financial constraints.

/ Support of Vnesheconombank’s new values.

Furthermore, for the purposes of the Vnesheconombank Strategy 2021 and

new business model, the Bank initiated the introduction of a new functional

organization structure. When creating the new structure, the key focuses were:

1) development of new competencies at Vnesheconombank:

/ establishing an industry analysis function to select the niches for financing of
projects by the VEB Group;

/ establishing a center of competencies to analyze projects and business models
based on industry expertise and offering integrated business solutions;

/ establishing a center of competencies to provide the expert analytical and
financial support to the National Technology Initiative projects;

/ forming a separate function to manage bad and non-core assets;

/ establishing a center of competencies to aggregate the government’s project
support measures;

2) efficiency improvement:

/ building productive relationships with investors, structuring and international
finance;

/ strengthening and developing the function to support Russian non-resource
exports;

/ modernizing the information technology function to create state-of-the-art IT
solutions for improving the efficiency of project support;

/ introducing a common system of risk management within the VEB Group,
integrated risk management and comprehensive risk assessment;

3) internal centralization of functions within Vnesheconombank and the VEB
Group:

/ reducing management levels;

/ establishing an investment block and a sectoral business solutions block using a
function- and sector-based approach as part of an end-to-end investment process;
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/ introducing project teamwork techniques (including Agile elements) without
applying a rigid hierarchy to the sectoral structure;

/ eliminating unreasonable duplication of functions within structural

subdivisions and centralizing similar functions within Vnesheconombank and
the VEB Group entities.

VOLUNTEERING

Corporate volunteering project "Never Too Old to Dream” - targeted aid to
elderly home patients

Sponsorship of residential care homes for the elderly and disabled
people: Vyshniy Volochek, Dubna, Tula Region, Ostashevo, Moscow
Region (half of 1000 patients of these residential care homes are

bedridden)

Received private donations of Collected and provided over

5,216 1000

RUB m New Year gifts for 3 residential care homes

Held the New Year celebration for Organized
the patients of the Vyshnevolotskiy volunteering
residential care home visits

°

>500 &

patients the Bank provided medical rehabilitation
and care equipment: wheelchairs, portable
toilets, walkers, bed linen, diapers, personal

hygiene products for bedridden patients

The Vnesheconombank volunteering movement has a long history.

In 2016, the Bank and the VEB Group employees took part in a series of corporate
volunteering events, including:

/ blood donor initiatives with the participation of employees of
Vnesheconombank and the VEB Group. All collected blood (more than 153
liters) was donated to the child patients of the Dmitry Rogachev Federal
Scientific and Clinical Center for Pediatric Hematology, Oncology and
Immunology;

/ collecting medical supplies and accessories for learning games, raising funds
to produce orthoses for disabled children, residents of the Kuntsevskiy Family
Education Assistance Center;
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/ aid to the Church of the Annunciation, Yaroslavl Region.

In October 2016, the Bank launched a corporate volunteering project

named “Never Too Old to Dream”. As part of the project, volunteers from
Vnesheconombank and the VEB Group’s entities took under patronage patients of
three elderly homes:

/ Dubenskiy residential care home for the elderly and disabled, Dubna, Tula
Region;

/ Vyshnevolotskiy residential care home for the elderly and disabled people,
Vyshniy Volochek, Tver Region;

/ Nursing care department at the Ostashevo hospital, Moscow Region.

Volunteers collect essentials and holiday gifts, make private donations, visit
sponsored homes and communicate with patients.

Since the launch of the project, volunteers collected medical care and
rehabilitation products for patients and met the needs of the sponsored
institutions for Q4 2016. Vnesheconombank received private donations to
start renovation works at the Vyshnevolotskiy residential care home, including
the equipping of 4 shower rooms and 2 mini-kitchens and developing IT
infrastructure.

3.3 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

VNESHECONOMBANK ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2016, the Vnesheconombank organizational structure
comprised 55 stand-alone structural subdivisions and 10 separate structural
subdivisions - Vnesheconombank representative offices abroad (as at the
beginning of 2016: 34 stand-alone structural subdivisions and 17 separate
structural subdivisions, including 7 Vnesheconombank representative offices in
the Russian Federation).

In 2016, to improve its organizational structure, the Bank:

/ reorganized some stand-alone structural subdivisions by optimizing functions
and number of employees of such subdivisions and establishing new ones;

/ closed down all Vnesheconombank’s representative offices in the Russian
Federation;
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/ made decisions to form several functional blocks within Vnesheconombank’s

subdivisions:

operating activities.

sectoral business solutions;

economics and finance;

treasury, relations with investors and financial institutions;

All organizational and staff measures implemented in 2016 fully met the
requirements of the labour legislation of the Russian Federation.

GOVERNING BODIES

Vnesheconombank Supervisory Board

Highest Governing Body

Composition: Eight members and the Chairman of Vnesheconombank (ex

officio). The Chairman of the Russian Federation Government is the Chairman of
Vnesheconombank Supervisory Board. The members of the Supervisory Board are
appointed by the Government of the Russian Federation for a term of five years.

Defining Vnesheconombank major
business lines

Making decisions (within its
competence) on financing of
investment projects

N N
Key powers of the Supervisory Board
\ \

Approving Vnesheconombank
revenues/expenditures plan (budget)
and Vnesheconombank annual report

Approving an independent external
auditor and appointing the head of
Vnesheconombank Internal Control
Service

During the reporting period, 21 meetings of the Supervisory Board were held and

117 issues were scrutinized.

The matters falling within the competence of the Supervisory Board are subject
to preliminary consideration by the Task Force on Considering the Materials for
the Meetings of Vnesheconombank Supervisory Board and the Personnel and
Remuneration Committee under Vnesheconombank Supervisory Board.

Annual report 2016
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Vnesheconombank Management Board

Collective Executive Body

Composition: Eight members and the Chairman of Vnesheconombank (ex
officio). The Chairman of Vnesheconombank superintends the Management
Board activities. The members of the Management Board are appointed by
Vnesheconombank Supervisory Board

Key powers of Vnesheconombank Management Board

™\ /\
Preparing and Approving Making decisions
submitting for approval Vnesheconombank (within its competence)
of Vnesheconombank organizational on financing of
Supervisory Board structure investment projects

proposals relating
to key issues of
Vnesheconombank
activities

During the reporting period, 340 Vnesheconombank Management Board meetings
were held and 915 issues were scrutinized.

With a view to supporting the activities of Vnesheconombank’s Management

Board, collective working bodies prepare recommendations on the relevant issues.

These include:

/ Committee for Strategic Development;

/ Committee for Development of Investment Operations;
/ Credit Committee;

/ Committee for Assets/Liabilities Management;

/ Budget Committee;

/ Risk Management Committee;

/ Situational Committee;

In 2016, in order to improve the Bank and the VEB Group’s corporate governance
system, Vnesheconombank established new collective working bodies:

/ Managing Committee;

/ Troubled Asset Management Committee;

/ Process and Technology Management Committee;
/ VEB Group Security Committee;

/ Subsidiary and Associate Management Committee;
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Chairman of Vhesheconombank

Sole Executive Body

The Chairman of Vnesheconombank is appointed by the President of the Russian
Federation for a term of up to five years.

The Chairman of Vnesheconombank is responsible for the management of the
Bank’s day-to-day operations.

Sergei Gorkov was appointed as the Chairman of Vnesheconombank pursuant to
Decree No. 85 by the President of the Russian Federation dated 26 February 2016.

ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Pursuant to Federal Law No. 82-FZ “On Bank for Development” dated 17 May 2007,
Vnesheconombank organizes its accounting procedure in accordance with the
accounting and reporting rules established for Russian credit institutions, subject
to certain conditions applied to Vnesheconombank by the Central Bank of Russia.

Over 2016, the Bank maintained accounting records in accordance with the
Accounting Rules for the Credit Institutions Located in the Russian Federation
approved by Directive of the Bank of Russia No. 385-P dated 16 July 2012.

As provided for by the Tax Code of the Russian Federation, Vnesheconombank
pays taxes in Russia and is registered with the Interregional Tax Inspectorate for
Major Taxpayers No. 9 of the Russian Federal Tax Service.

Pursuant to the laws of the Russian Federation and the requirements imposed
by the international financial community, the Bank prepares and publishes its
financial statements in conformity with the international financial reporting
standards.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Vnesheconombank internal control system is based on the international best
practices, embraces all of its business areas, fully meets the legal requirements
of the Russian Federation and is designed to ensure its financial and operational
efficiency and compliance with the legislation, regulations, rules and standards
governing its activities.
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Independent
assessment of

the effectiveness

of the systems of
internal control,
risk management,
accounting and
reporting, business
processes, the
performance of
subdivisions and
employees, as well
as evaluation of the
economic feasibility
and efficiency of
conducted operations

Review of the
reliability of internal
control over the

use of automated
information systems

Assessment of the
techniques (methods)
applied to ensure the
safety of property

N

Major tasks of internal control and audit

"\

VAN

Monitoring of the
main risk profiles and
controls to identify
weaknesses of the
internal control
system; developing
of preventive control
mechanisms to
anticipate risk events

Preparing
recommendations
for improving and
enhancing the
efficiency of the
systems, processes
or procedures, the
performance of
Vnesheconombank
and the Group

Ensuring effective
interaction with
external supervisory
agencies and auditors

In order to assist the governing bodies in ensuring the efficiency of
Vnesheconombank’s operations, Vnesheconombank established an Internal
Control Service responsible for auditing Vnesheconombank subdivisions and
processes, IT audit, monitoring operations in financial markets and providing
independent recommendations on the improvement of Vnesheconombank’s
activities and control procedures.
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Major elements of
Vnesheconombank
internal control
system

Vnesheconombank
governing bodies
(Supervisory Board,
Management Board,
Chairman)

Chief Accountant

Committees and
commissions

Internal Control
Service

Department for
Compliance and
Financial Monitoring

NN — NN N AN N

Risk Directorate

Controller of
Professional Securities
Market Participant

Vnesheconombank
Internal Control
Service. Key element

of the internal control
system. The structural
subdivision accountable
to the Supervisory Board
and, in the matters of
day-to-day operations,
to the Chairman of
Vnesheconombank.

The Head of the
Internal Control Service
is appointed by the
Supervisory Board of
Vnesheconombank.

On a regular basis, the Internal Control Service reviews the adequacy and
efficiency of the risk assessment and management methodologies and procedures
and prepares recommendations for their improvement. The Internal Control
Service reports the results of the audit of Vnesheconombank and the Group risk
management system to the Management Board.

In the reporting year, the Internal Control Service carried out 33 reviews (full
scope audits, limited scope audits, and inspections) as part of the internal audit of
Vnesheconombank subdivisions.

Furthermore, the Internal Control Service conducted 37 financial and economic
audits of Vnesheconombank’s subsidiaries and affiliates.
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3.4 COMMUNICATION POLICY

Underlying the Vnesheconombank communication policy
are the principles of maximum openness, timeliness and
availability of the information on its activities. In the
reporting year, in the context of regular appearances of

Vnesheconombank representatives in mass media and public
events, the key topic of communication was the creation

of an image for the new Bank implementing a modern
business model

In 2016, the communication policy transformation resulted in

a rise in attention to Vnesheconombank activities from mass

media and the public. As compared with 2015, the number of
media publications about Vnesheconombank and its subsidiaries
increased fivefold.® Vnesheconombank continues to rank among
the top 3 Russian banks for its media profile. Vnesheconombank
representatives regularly appear in the leading Russian and foreign
mass media and actively discuss issues of high priority for the state,
business and economy. At the end of 2016, the Vnesheconombank
management also received the top 3 media rating among Russian
banks.

As part of its communication policy, in the reporting year the Bank put special
emphasis on the adoption and implementation of its new Strategy 2021, staff
changes, establishment of a new management team, introduction of a new
business model and modern business approaches, and involvement in investment
projects relevant for the state and the Russian economy.

Major forums and exhibitions, both in Russia and abroad, served as an effective
means of communication between the Vnesheconombank team, the business
community and public authorities. Vnesheconombank arranged the session
entitled “New Growth Economy: Role of Development Institutions. Realizing
Ambitions” and held the Development Award ceremony during the St. Petersburg
International Economic Forum to mark the contribution to the social and
economic development of Russia. Vnesheconombank also presented information
on its operations as a development institution at the Annual Meeting of the World
Economic Forum in Davos, the 2nd Eastern Economic Forum in Vladivostok and
the Sochi-2016 International Investment Forum.

@ 20 In 2016, through its communication policy, Vnesheconombank built
a positive media profile with regard to the transformation of the
Bank and development of its brand.

6. According to Medialogia. Rating based on the mass media database, which currently includes more
than 37,700 sources.
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3.5 IT INFRASTRUCTURE

In 2016, IT infrastructure upgrade comprised the modification
of existing and the introduction of new IT systems and services

according to the needs of the business subdivisions, the Strategy
2021 and the Vnesheconombank business model, as well as the
management of smooth operation of IT systems.

In particular, in the reporting year Vnesheconombank:

/ launched the projects named “Transition to the Vnesheconombank New
Automated Banking System” provided for the introduction of a modern
IT-platform, and “Creation of a Prototype ‘Digital Contract’ (Blockchain) System”
to build an electronic contract administration system;

/ developed its SDO Monitoring module in compliance with the legal
requirements for the presentation of information to a single information
system for the state defense order;

/ set up an electronic archive of daily accounting records to compile, sign and
keep ledgers and to store transaction memos;

/ designed a system to keep electronic legal files of Vnesheconombank
customers;

/ as part of the project “Customer’s Electronic Office”, created the prototype
modules “Monitoring of Conditions”, “Single Electronic File” and “Feedback/
Communications: Chat”;

/ upgraded the inventory record system, the software for reporting, bookkeeping,
tax, pension and depository accounting, compliance and financial monitoring,
as well as the non-financial counterparty analysis system to implement the
methodology for calculating counterparty and transaction ratings;

/ automated the processes of preparation and processing of documents received
by the collective governing bodies, as well as the procedures for monitoring
the compliance with decisions made by the collective governing bodies.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank deployed a corporate Wi-Fi network on
.\\ all its premises, thus allowing for high-speed controlled Internet
. access for the employees.
In addition, the Bank improved the mobile signal reception on
Vnesheconombank’s premises and set up a base station system and a relay
network.

In 2017, Vnesheconombank intends to explore the issues related to automating
business processes of a number of Vnesheconombank subdivisions, liquidity

monitoring, creating the Development Project Factory to proactively search and
select investment projects in regions, upgrading the Dashboard of the Chairman
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of Vnesheconombank to reflect and monitor changes in the key parameters of
Vnesheconombank activities. The Bank will continue to implement the analytical
system of the software package designed to deal with problems related to the
Vnesheconombank asset and liability management on the system level.

In order to improve the reliability of its IT infrastructure, Vnesheconombank will

upgrade the core of its local area network, structured cabling system, active
equipment and communication channels.

3.6 VNESHECONOMBANK
PROCUREMENT SYSTEM

A key objective of Vnesheconombank’s procurement activities
is to timely and completely satisfy the Bank’s needs for goods,
works and services subject to maintaining a balance between

the price, the quality of the purchased products and efficient
use of Vnesheconombank’s funds, procurement transparency and
competition.

Vnesheconombank’s procurement activities are carried out in accordance with
Federal Law No. 223-FZ“On Procurement of Goods, Works and Services by Certain
Types of Legal Entities” dated 18 July 2011 (Federal Law No. 223-FZ) and the
Bank’s internal regulatory documents.

According to the National Procurement Transparency Rating, in 2016
Vnesheconombank was for the second time assigned the highest category,
“‘guaranteed transparency”, among customers whose activity is regulated by
Federal Law No.223-FZ.
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During 2016, Vnesheconombank managed to achieve a substantial increase in its
procurement efficiency and improve its procurement system.

The share of competitive procurement increased by 1.4 times. Most of competitive
procurement procedures (96%) were effected in electronic form.

In 2016, the average number of participants per each competitive procurement
increased, compared to the previous period, and was 4.2 (in 2015: 2.1).

35%
48%
52%
65%

2015 2016

. Share of competitive procurements

. Other

109 procurement procedures resulted in the conclusion of agreements with
small and medium enterprises. As compared with the previous year, the share of
procurements from SMEs increased by 1.44 times.

The total number of procurement procedures carried out in 2016 was 322. The
savings from the procurement activities amounted to RUB 87.7 m.

27.4%
41.6%
58.4%
72.6%

2015 2016

) Share of procurements from SMEs

@ Other

Information about Vnesheconombank’s procurement activities was regularly
published in the Unified information system www.zakupki.gov.ru, on the
website of the United Electronic Market Place www.roseltorg.ru and on the
Vnesheconombank official website www.veb.ru.
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In order to optimize and improve the quality of procurement procedures in

the reporting year, the Bank developed and adopted a system of category
procurement management and a new service model of “turnkey procurement”
and implemented a package solution for the procurement service (preparation of
procurement documentation and procurement procedure) for the Bank’s initiating
subdivisions in accordance with Vnesheconombank’s procurement activities.

The plans for 2017 include the centralization of procurement functions within
the VEB Group in order to unlock the synergies of procurement efficiency and cost
savings from the procurement procedures by the companies of the Group, as well
as putting into service the Vnesheconombank Procurement Portal.
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4.1 VNESHECONOMBANK'’S
ACTIVITIES RELATED TO SCO
IBC AND BRICS INTERBANK
COOPERATION MECHANISM

In 2016, the primary focus of the Shanghai Cooperation
Organization Interbank Consortium (SCO IBC) member-banks
was to build on the relations with financial institutions of the

observer states and the SCO dialogue partners, as well as to
establish contacts with new financial development institutions in
the SCO domain and in the Asian region.

Vnesheconombank took part in the SCO IBC Council Meeting that adopted a
resolution to grant the SCO IBC partner bank status to the Development Bank of
Mongolia.

In the reporting year, Vnesheconombank actively participated in drafting a
medium-term SCO IBC development strategy (2017-2021), as well as the
Memorandum on Partnership between the SCO IBC and the Silk Road Fund. The
documents are scheduled to be signed in 2017.

During the BRICS Summit in Goa on 15-16 October 2016, BRICS Interbank
Cooperation Mechanism (BRICS ICM) member banks and the New Development
Bank signed a Memorandum on Cooperation envisaging joint implementation of
projects in BRICS countries.

Two new working groups were established under the auspices of BRICS ICM to set
up a new rating agency and conduct financial research. The first meetings of the
working groups were held before the end of the reporting year.
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4.2 VNESHECONOMBANK'’S
PARTICIPATION IN NON-
COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATIONS

At the end of the reporting year, Vnesheconombank participated

in more than 30 Russian and international associations, unions
and other non-commercial organizations.

Such membership enables Vnesheconombank to develop economic relations,
promote cooperation with partners on business lines of strategic importance

to the Bank, efficiently exchange experience with leading international
organizations and bolster the Bank’s image of a leading development institution.

Major NCOs in which Vnesheconombank is a participant/member as at
1 January 2017 (by business lines)

World Economic Forum

Russo-British Chamber of Commerce

Moscow Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Italian-Russian Chamber of Commerce
Developing trade and  Norwegian-Russian Chamber of Commerce
SR E (AT Franco-Russian Dialogue Association

Russian Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs (All-Russian
Association of Employers)

International Chamber of Commerce - The World Business
Organization

Russian-American Council for Business Cooperation (Non-Profit
Association of Legal Entities)

Russian-Chinese Business Council
Russian-Arab Business Council

Russian-American Business Council
Fostering and
improving business
relationships Dialogue Forum Non-Profit Partnership

Association of Russian Banks

Russian Finance and Banking Union

CIS Finance and Banking Council (Non-Profit Partnership for
Cooperation between CIS Member-States)

Russian Public Relations Association — RASO (Non-Profit
Partnership)
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Creating favorable
conditions for the
development of
innovation process

Co-financing projects

Supporting
development of
single-industry
municipalities

Developing and
using professional
standards in the
securities market

Developing standards
and regulations

for conducting
transactions in the
payment services
market

Foundation for Development of the Center for New Technologies
Development and Commercialization (Non-Profit Organization)

Fund to Operate the Financial Aid Programme for Innovation
Projects of the Skolkovo Foundation (Non-Profit Organization)

Association of Development Financing Institutions in Asia and the
Pacific (ADFIAP)

The Latin American Association of Development Financing
Institutions

Single-Industry Town Development Fund (Non-Profit Organization)

National Stock Association (Self-Regulating Non-Profit
Organization)

International Capital Market Association

Association of MasterCard Participants (before 13.05.2013 -
Association of the Russian Members of Europay)

Russian National SWIFT Association
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ADDRESSES AND TELEPHONES
OF REPRESENTATIVE OFFICES

N LA Great Britain, London
S Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the United

Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
53 Chandos Place, London, WC2N 4HS, UK
tel.: +44 207 812-6466

fax: +44 207 812-6666

e-mail: vebuk@veb.ru

Italy, Milan
I I Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the Italian Republic
8, Piazzale Principessa Clotilde, Milano, 20121, Italy
tel.: +39 02 653-625
fax: +39 02 655-1697
e-mail: vebitaly@veb.ru

* ' China, Beijing
Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the People’s

Republic of China

20A, CITIC Building, 19, Jianguomenwai dajie, Beijing, 100004,
China

tel.: +86 10 6592-8905

fax: +86 10 6592-8904

e-mail: vebchina@veb.ru

USA, New York

Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the United States
of America

777 Third Avenue, Suite 29B, New York, NY 10017, USA

tel:+1 212 421-8660

fax:+1 212 421-8677

e-mail: vebusa@veb.ru

India, Mumbai
® Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the Republic of
I India, Mumbai

Shop No. 11, Arcade Ground Floor, World Trade Center, Cuffe
Parade, Colaba, Mumbai 400005, India

tel.: +91 22 2218-2705

fax: +91 22 2218-5845

e-mail: vebmumbai@veb.ru

India, New-Delhi

Representative Office of Vnesheconombank

Plot EP-15, Dr. Jose P. Rizal Marg, Chanakyapuri, New Delhi-
110021, India

tel.: +91 11 2412-1282

fax: +91 11 2412-1577

e-mail: vebindia@veb.ru
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- Germany, Frankfurt-am-Main
Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the Federal Republic of Germany
Taunusanlage 1, 60329, Frankfurt, Germany
tel.: +49 69 272-2197 00
fax: +49 69 272-2197 29
e-mail: vebgermany@veb.ru

France, Paris
I I Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the French Republic
24, Rue Tronchet, 75008 Paris, France
tel.: +33 140 07-1976
fax:+33 140 07-07 18
e-mail: vebfrance@veb.ru

Switzerland, Zurich

Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the Swiss Confederation
Talstrasse, 58, 8001 Zurich, Switzerland

tel.: +41 44 213-6642

fax: +41 44 213-6645

e-mail: vebch@veb.ru

South Africa, Johannesburg

Representative Office of Vnesheconombank in the Republic of South Africa
2024, 2nd fl., Chelsea Place, 138 West Street, Sandton, Johannesburg, RSA
tel.: +27 11 783-3425

fax:+27 11 784-4688

e-mail: vebsar@veb.ru

f



Russian Export Center: 2016 Report

Moscow

2017



Contents

L. OVBIVIBW ..ttt ettt e et e et ease e e te e ene e e ste e aseeenteesnaeenseeanneenees 3
2. The REC Group Financial Block: operating results............cccccoocvviiienennene. 3
3. The REC Group Non-Financial Block: operating results ..........cccccccceveninnen. 6
4. The REC Group footprint in Russia’s regions ...........ccccooevieiinienicneeneenn 10
5. The REC Group global footprint..........ccccoiiviiiicei e, 11
6. Integration of companies of the REC Group .......cccovevveiieeiieniie e, 12
7. The REC Group’s Financial Results ....................cccccooiiii 12



1. Overview

For the Russian Export Center (REC) Group, 2016 was a year of considerable
achievements. Business expansion has brought about internal structural changes within the
Group, in particular, the integration of the Russian Export Center, Russian Agency for Export
Credit and Investment Insurance (EXIAR), and Eximbank of Russia, into a single development
institution to promote exports which, in fact, the REC Group has become, based on the 2016
results. The integration affected not only the image of the Group’s companies in the eyes of
funding recipients but rather constituted the transition to a single front office, consolidation of
support functions, building a unified organizational framework of the Group — in essence in the
simplification of business processes within the Group, as well as in faster and better quality
support to exporters.

With eleven representative offices launched in Russia and another six abroad, the REC
Group considerably expanded its regional and international footprint. The Russian representative
offices enable the Group to interact with exporters at the local level thus increasing the number
and enhancing the quality of applications for support, whereas its foreign representative offices
process hundreds of search requests for foreign customers.

2. The REC Group Financial Block: operating results

2.1 Performance review

The REC Group Financial Block renders insurance, credit, and guarantee support for
export operations. Insurance services are provided by EXIAR, while Eximbank of Russia is
responsible for credit and guarantee support.

In 2016, the Financial Block extended USD8.9bn worth of export support (excluding the
Yamal LNG deal) to 275 exporters. In the context of insurance cover, 263 contracts were signed
for a total of RUB365.6bn. At the request of the insured, the Group in 2016 placed 1,515 new
credit limits on buyers and borrowers. Financing extended as part of the credit support exceeded
the targets by 3% to reach RUB36.2bn.



Table 1: The REC Group Financial Block: performance in 2016 (RUB billion)

Item Performance indicator Actual Target Completed Actual Actual
No. result by result increase
2016 2015 on 2015

1 Amount of  contracts | 365.6 197.7 185% 136.4 +68%
concluded (Amount
insured)

2 Number of contracts | 263 - - 233 +13%
concluded

3 Amount of insurance | 1515 - - 791 +92%
limits extended

Eximbank of Russia Credit and Guarantee Support

4 Amount of loans extended | 36.2 35.0 103% 15.9 +128%

4.1 Including subsidized 20.0 - - 5.5 +264%

5 Number of loans extended | 883 - - 138 +540%

51 Including subsidized 490 - - 25 +1860%

6 Amount of contracts | 34.4 - - 36.9 -71%
concluded

6.1 Including subsidized 15.2 - - 25.7 -41%

7 Number of contracts | 128 - - 60 +113%
concluded

7.1 Including subsidized 60 - - 38 +58%

8 Guarantee support 1.0 - - 0.0

2.2 Export support: sectoral and regional structure

The principal risk associated with the insurance facilities provided by EXIAR (excluding
the Yamal LNG deal) is the buyer’s risk in power engineering (19.2%), railroad transport
(13.1%), defense industry (11.9%), and aircraft industry (9.8%).

Fig. 1 Insurance facilities by industry
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Fig.2 The REC Group Financial Block: export support by region
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2.3 Insurance coverage for Yamal LNG

In 2016, EXIAR developed a new product — insurance of loans for the construction of
export-oriented manufacturing facilities. In particular, the REC Group Financial Block used this
instrument to conclude its largest deal - insurance for a EUR3.6bn Sberbank and Gazprom
syndicated loan extended for 15 years to deliver the Yamal LNG Project. The total project-
related exports during the loan repayment period alone are estimated to exceed USD150bn.
Strategically important for Russia, this project will help boost exports, increase the share of the
Russian liquid natural gas (LNG) in the global market, develop Yamal transport and social
infrastructure, promote commercial use of the Northern Sea Route, and generate business for a
number of Russian industries. The project provides for the construction of an LPG plant for
infrastructure facilities, in particular, a sea terminal and an international airport. The deal is
unigque for Russia in terms of both the overall loan amount and the amount of foreign financing.
In equivalent, the total financing amounts to USD19bn, with more than USD12bn obtained from
foreign sources including major state and commercial banks of China, Italy and Japan with
insurance coverage by export-credit agencies.

2.4 Support for medium-sized exporters

The REC Group Financial Block has a range of instruments to support medium-sized
exporters: an insurance scheme for banks extending loans to medium-sized exporters to finance
export contracts, and an insurance scheme for export factoring. Primarily, the schemes are
designed to remove the major financial barrier, i.e. a lack of working capital. Furthermore, the
Financial Block intends to launch a pilot project on online insurance for small- and medium
enterprises. In 2016, support for medium-sized exporters totaled USD172.8m, which is a 1.6-fold
increase on the previous year (USD105.3m). In the reporting period, financial support for
medium-sized exporters accounted for 44% of the total transactions (2015, 40%). More than
45% of the exporters that obtained financial support from the Group in 2016 were medium-sized
enterprises. Overall, more than a thousand of such companies applied to the Group for financing
in the year covered by the report, or three quarters of the total applicants.



3. The REC Group Non-Financial Block: operating results

3.1 Performance review

Fig. 3 Applications for non-financial support by industry
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Fig. 4 Applications for non-financial support by type of service (excluding basic advice)
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The REC Group is introducing online services and standardized products with a view to
considerably increasing the number of supported exporters in the coming years. Medium-sized
companies lacking free resources and sufficient competencies to expand their footprint to foreign
markets constitute the majority of the non-financial support applicants. The year 2016 saw the
groundwork laid to establish an analytical centre, which is to become a single centre of
specialized competencies in non-resource exports, their growth and diversification.

Furthermore, the REC Group companies modernized their websites. As an illustration,
the EXIAR website now boasts a price calculator. To better accommodate exporters, the REC
website provides them with an “individual export office” to access some 20 online non-financial
support products.



3.2 Educational project

The educational project is a training programme designed to teach new exporters
fundamentals and techniques of exporting. As part of the project, 1,182 SME representatives
underwent full-time training, which exceeded the target by 64%. Remote training was received
by 3,400 trainees. According to the feedback from the full-time and remote trainees, the average
score of the training quality stood at 4.88 on a scale from 1 to 5.

Fig. 5 REC Group educational project and training model principles
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As part of the educational project, 45 regional infrastructure representatives have become
certified trainers (target exceeded by 125%) entitled to train SMEs in their respective regions
under the REC Educational Project and using the project methodology and materials. In the
reporting year, 8 educational courses were designed and launched:

e Introduction to exports: an export project lifecycle. State support to export-oriented
enterprises.

e Effective marketing for exporters.

e Business communication in export business.

e Legal groundwork for export business.

¢ Financial management for exporters.

e Document support for export business.

e Custom clearance for export operations.

e Logistics in export business.



3.3 International adaptation

The REC Group is promoting international adaptation and certification of Russian
products. In 2016, the Group focused on such areas as advising and raising exporters’ awareness
of mandatory requirements and procedures applicable to compliance assessment in external
markets, assistance in obtaining documents required to release Russian products onto the market
and documents evidencing compliance with external market requirements, building a partner
network, issuance of free sale certificates, and performing agency functions to subsidize
certification and homologation.

At 31.12.2016, the Group registered 396 applications for international adaptation and
certification of export products, with the majority of applications pertaining to the EU, USA,
China, the Gulf, Latin America and Southeast Asia.

3.4 International cooperation

Cooperation with foreign ECAs and insurers

Cooperation with foreign export-credit agencies (ECAs) and insurers enabled the Group
to significantly support the Russian exports. Overall, the Group entered into 20 cooperation
agreements with foreign ECAs and commercial insurers. In 2016, the Group signed agreements
with EIAA (Armenia), Asuransi Asei (Indonesia), NEXI (Japan), and renewed a reinsurance
agreement with Beleximgarant (Belarus).

Cooperation with international organisations

Interaction with international organizations is an important area of the REC Group’s
international cooperation.
To illustrate this, EXIAR representatives were participating in the work of Russian coordinating
and consultative bodies on Russia’s interaction with OECD, and in OECD working groups for
state backed export lending. Furthermore, EXIAR provided Russian ministries and agencies with
expert assistance via WTO in terms of state backed export lending.

In 2016, EXIAR representatives also participated in export lending discussions at various
international platforms, in particular, in the context of the International Working Group on
Export Credits created on the initiative of the USA and China to develop international regulatory
standards for export credits taking into consideration the interests of various countries and best
global practices.

Business missions

In 2016, the REC Group organized 10 foreign business missions with the participation of
more than 200 Russian exporters. The business missions were hosted by Azerbaijan, Argentina,
Vietnam, Kazakhstan, China, India, Iran, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and the RSA.
Promotion of agricultural and food exports to the Asia Pacific is also among REC business
priorities. To this end, REC organized in 2016 two Russian Gastro Week events. Being actively
developed by REC, this business mission format combines a tasting session with direct
communication between producers and foreign wholesale buyers and distributers, retailers and
hospitality companies. Hosted by Beijing and Guangzhou, the event brought together 70 Russian
and over 300 Chinese companies. Some USD10m worth of tentative agreements and memoranda



on Russian product supplies were signed. December 2016 witnessed the Russian Gastro Week
with the participation of 25 Russian and 60 Vietnamese companies (including 12 leading
retailers) in Ho Chi Minh City (Vietnam)/

For 2017, six Russian Gastro Weeks events are scheduled to take place in India, UAE,
China, Vietnam, Japan, and Iran.

The REC Group also conducts international events in Russia. In November 2016,
Moscow hosted the ‘Made in Russia’ International Export Forum comprising more than a
thousand participants including exporters, representatives from government agencies, business
community, development institutions, foreign companies, independent experts and journalists.

Online electronic trading platforms

The REC Group makes active use of online services to support exporters. In 2016, the
Group entered into a cooperation agreement with Alibaba Group, which became a platform to
expand Russian trading facilities to cover all brands comprising Alibaba Group. To provide
Russian consumer-goods makers with access to the Chinese market, a Russian pavilion was
launched on Tmall Global (Alibaba Group). With some 12 thousand visitors per day, the
pavilion sold more than 200 thousand of various goods in the first four months of its operation.
In 2017, the Group intends to increase the number of partnership programmes for placement of
Russian products on global marketplaces to five. The Group also conducted a targeted marketing
campaign on WeChat and Weibo. December 2016 saw the launch of an educational online
product A Guide to Access Global Online Trading Platforms. Furthermore, REC advises
exporters on global online trading platforms.

3.5 The REC Group as the agent for the Russian Government
(Development function)

In its capacity as agent for the Russian Government, the REC Group acts as a subsidy
operator, as well as performs and renders certain public functions and services.
In terms of subsidies, the Group manages the reimbursement for costs related to:

e Certification, homologation, and transportation of automobile and agricultural machine
building production;

e Registration of intellectual property in foreign markets;

e Promotion of high-technology innovative products/services in foreign markets;

e Exhibitions and trade fairs.

3.6 The REC Group as the headquarters for Russia’s major strategic
development area International Cooperation and Exports (HQ function)

The main objective of the REC Group as the International Cooperation and Exports
Priority Programme Headquarters is to enhance the legal framework applicable to the state
support for exports.

REC as an institution designed to promote non-resource exports is responsible for the
coordination of efforts to create a favourable export-oriented environment. In particular, REC
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coordinates two priority projects!, Systematic Measures to Promote Cooperation and Exports,
and International Industrial Cooperation and Exports, and actively participates in the
Agricultural Exports auxiliary project.

Another important objective of REC in the context of its HQ function is to lower excessive
administrative barriers and, consequently, to increase the level of exporters’ satisfaction with the
export regulations.

This objective has seven dimensions:

1. Providing analytical and methodological justification for the removal of excessive
administrative barriers;

Improving customs control procedures;

Improving the zero rate and VAT recovery confirmation procedures;

Improving exchange controls;

Improving export documentation procedures;

Streamlining export state control procedures;

Eliminating excessive costs of border crossing.

No ook wd

4. The REC Group footprint in Russia’s regions

The REC Group’s regional development concept provides for the creation of proprietary and
partner points of presence (PoPs) in Russia’s regions. In 2016, the Group established 11
proprietary regional branches on the basis of the Russian Ministry of Industry and Trade
agencies.

Fig. 6 The REC Group regional network
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Regional branches admit applications, give consultations and review documents required
to obtain export licenses for specific products? in compliance with the agreement signed with the
Russian Ministry of Industry and Trade. Since November 2016, 167 export licenses were issued
to exporters. Regional branches also liaise with regional executive bodies and business
community regarding support for exports and exporters.

1 This list is to be expanded to include projects promoting the export of IT, tourism, education, healthcare, transport
and other services.

2 The REC Group operates as an agent for the Russian Government by virtue of the Russian Government’s
Resolution No. 938 dd. 17/09/2016 ‘On the Russian Export Center Joint Stock Company performing the functions
of an agent for the Russian Government to review documents and information presented by foreign trade
participants to obtain an export license for specific products (excluding export licenses for natural liquefied gas).’
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The REC Group regional footprint is to be expanded to other regions via partnership
agreements with regional centres for export support, local chambers of industry and commerce,
regional branches of non-governmental organisations and associations of entrepreneurs. In 2017,
the REC Group intends to establish its partner points of presence in 15 constituent entities of the
Russian Federation.

The REC Group sees its partners’ major objectives as:

e Expanding its customer base by promoting the Group’s services in the partners’ regions
of presence and by facilitating customers in accessing services;

e Delivering joint programmes, in particular, providing the REC Group’s customers with
services using partners’ own resources;

e Searching for Russian suppliers, in particular, processing requests of foreign
counterparties looking for Russian suppliers of goods, work and services.

5. The REC Group global footprint

Alongside its regional network, the REC Group is also creating its points of presence
abroad to more efficiently promote Russian exports at local level.

The first foreign representative office was opened by EXIAR in 2015 in Belarus. This
representative office is promoted as an integrated centre of competencies for the entire REC
Group. In 2016, the representative office employees helped conclude eight export deals worth
USD258.6m. The existing portfolio of the office comprises ten projects with export potential
exceeding USD400m. It was with active participation of the representative office, that REC and
Belenergo signed a strategic cooperation agreement as part of their joint implementation of
projects in Belarusian power engineering.

Importantly, the REC Group together with the Russian Ministry of Economic
Development is delivering a concept of developing a trading house network abroad with a view
to promoting Russian exports®. Seeking to embrace the maximum of Russian exporters
(including the potential ones), the Concept provides for the launch of proprietary, partner, and
joint representative offices abroad. At the end of 2016, the REC Group had six foreign
representative offices, viz. in Vietnam, Kazakhstan, Iran, Tajikistan, Argentina, and Belarus. The
key task facing the representative offices is to look for potential partners in foreign markets.
More than 500 applications for partners are under review; against 252 applications, partners have
been already found for 121 Russian companies.

The REC Group Strategy provides for a substantial expansion of the PoP network, both in
Russia and abroad, prior to 2019. The roadmap envisages the launch of proprietary, partner and
joint representative offices to ensure the maximum reach of Russian regions and target markets.

3 Approved by First Deputy Prime Minister of the Russian Federation Igor Shuvalov (Letter No. P13-39875 dd.
13.08.2015).
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6. Integration of companies of the REC Group

The integration of the Group’s companies in 2016 substantially improved the efficiency
of support to export-oriented companies. It contributed to the availability of the REC Group’s
instruments, helped simplify management of the Group’s companies and eliminated duplication
of their functions.

The key results of the integration include:

e A unified organizational framework and a single front-office;

e A common website, a single CRM-system, a unified system for customer application
processing and credit risk assessment; streamlined back-office functions;

e Transition to a single strategic planning system; unified KPIs and incentive scheme for
all companies of the Group.

Fig. 7 The REC Group’s companies: integration benefits
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7. The REC Group’s Financial Results

At year-end, the REC Group’s net profit totaled RUB1,279m, with consolidated equity
(proprietary funds) amounting to RUB62,758m.

Table 2. The REC Group s key financial indicators for 2015-2016 (RUB million%)

At the end of 2016 At the beginning of 2016
Indicator Roseximbank EXIAR Group Roseximbank EXIAR Group
Authorized 20,751 43,530 57,632 12,651 43,530 48,800
capital
Proprietary funds 20,197 51,117 62,758 11,793 49,974 52,698
Profit for year 355 1,143 1,279 336 3,162 3,584

4 The REC Group’s financial indicators are provided in compliance with the management accounting data. The
Group has no available consolidated financial statements. Roseximbank’s financials are provided in compliance
with the Russian Accounting Standards.
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Independent auditor's report

To the Supervisory Board of State Corporation
"Bank for Development and Foreign Economic Affairs (Vnesheconombank)"

Opinlon

We have audited the consoclidated financial statements of State Corporation "Bank for
Development and Foreign Econemic Affairs (Vnesheconombank)" and its subsidiaries

(the "Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at

31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFR5s).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (I5A).

Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Russian Federation, and
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.

Accordingly,
assessment of the risks of material
results of our audit procedures, including the proc

provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying c

aur audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
misstatement of the consclidated financial statements. The

edures performed to address the matters below,
onsolidated financial statements.

Key audit matters

Consideration of the matter
in the course of our audit

Allowance for Impairment of loans to customers

The significance of loans to customers, which
represent for 53% of total assets, and the
appiication of professional judgment by the
Group's management for timely identification and
measurement of loans impairment losses, makes
impairment allowance a key audit matter.

The identification of impairment and the
determination of the recoverable amount reguire
the significant professional judgment, the use of
assumptions and analysis of various factors,
inclueding financial performance of counterparkies,
expected future cash flows and collateral value,
The use of different techniques and assumptions
could produce significantly different results.

Information on the impairment of loans to
customers and the Group's management approach
to assessing and managing credit risk are included
in Note 17 Loans to customers and Note 36 Risk
management to the consolidated financial
statements.

We analysed the following areas during our audit:

» management's judgment in relation to the
identification of impairment events for
significant loans to customers;

» projected future cash flows (including
collateral-sourced cash flows) in relation to
loans with signs of impairment.

our audit procedures included an evaluation of

the methodologies used by the Group in identifying
impairment events and calculating impairment
allowance.

For a sample of significant credit exposures subject
ta individual impairment assessment, we inspected
assumptions of the Group on the expected future
cash flows, including those from current operations
of the borrowers and those from foreclosure of
caollateral based on available market information.
Far collectively assessed allowance for impalrment
we tested key inputs and assumptions used.

We also analysed the disclosuras in the
consolidated financial statements about the
allowance for impairment of loans to customers.

Fair value measurement of securities not quoted in

an active market

A significant part of the Group's investments in
securities is attributable to instruments not quoted
in an active market (Level 2 and Leved 3 financial
instruments). The fair value of these securities is
determined by the Group using valuation models
that may use complex assumptions and rely on
unobservable inputs (Level 3), Various valuation
methods and assumptions may have a material
impact on the fair value measurement. Due to
significance of professional judgment and potential
affect on the consolidated financial statements, we
considered the fair value measurement of securities
not quoted in an active market to be one of the key
audit matters.

The information on the fair value measurement is
included in Note 37 Fair value measurement to the
consolidated financial statements.

our audit procedures included an assessment of
the valuation models and the sources of significant
assumptions used in determining fair value. Fora
sample of individually significant estimates, we
engaged our valuation specialists 1o analyse the
appropriateness of the models and assumptions
used.

We also analysed the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements about the fair
value measurement of securities not quoted in an
active market.
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Other matters

The consalidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 were
audited by another auditor who issued the auditor's report dated 19 April 2016 and expressed an
unmadified opinion, including the Emphasis of Matter paragraph drawing attention to the Group's
accumulated liquidity deficit for the term of up to one year as at 31 December 2015 and to the
fact that the Group's ability to continue as a going concern depends, to a significant extend, upon
implementation of the measures taken by management to maintain the financial stability of the
Group and on the obtaining of other forms of financial support.

Other Information included in the Annual report 2016 of Vnesheconombank

Other information consists of the information included in the Annual report 2016 of
vnesheconombank, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Management is responsible for other information. The Annual report 2016 of
vnesheconombank is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Qur opinion on the consclidated financial statements does not cover other information, and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so. consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

Responsibilities of management for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease its operations, or has no realistic alternative but

to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of our audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

"

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control,

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going Concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
antities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication,

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is G.A. Shinin.

)

- =

G.A. Shinin
Partner
Ernst & Young LLC

28 April 2017

Detailz of the audited entity

Mame: State Corporation "Bank for Development and Forelgn Econombc Affairs {Vnesheconombank)"

state Cofporation "Bank for Development and Foreign Economic Affairs (Vnesheconombank)” was formed by means of
regrganization of Bank for Foreign Economic Alfairs of the US5R purseant to and in accordance with Federal Law

Wo. 82-FZ, On the Bank for Developrrent, dated 17 May 2007, In accordance with Federal Law Mo, 395-1, On Banks
and Banking Activily, dated 2 December 1990, State Corporation "Bank for Development and Foreign Economic Afairs
{Vnesheconombank)* performs banking operations as stipulabed by Federal Law Mo, B2-FZ, On the Bank for
Development, dated 17 kay 2007.

Ricord made in the State Register of Legal Entities on 8 June 2007; State Registration Mumber 1077711000102,
Address: Russia, 107996, Moscow, Prospekt Akademika Sakharova, 9.

Details of the auditor

Mame: Ernst & Youwng LLC

Record made in the State Register of Legal Entities on 5 December 2002, State Registration Number 1027739707203,
Address: Russia, 115035, Moscow, Sadovnicheskaya naberezhnaya, 77, building 1.

Ernst & Young LLC |5 a member of the Self-requlated Organization of Auditors "Russian Union of Audifors”
(Association) ("SRO RUA")Y. Ernst & Young LLC is included in the control copy of the reglster of auditors and auwdit
arganizatiens, main registration number 11603050648, and also included in the contral copy of the register of
auditors and audil organizations, main registration number 10301017410,
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VEBE Group finant'n:l.ﬂ:“l:::tﬁirt:::

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2016
{in billions of Russian rubles)
2015 1014
Motes 2016 (Restated) _ (Restated)

Azsets
Cash and cash eguivalents 11 350.1 3121 504.5
Financial assets at falr value throwgh profit or loss 12 15.2 515 443
Financial assets lent and pledged as collateral under repurchase

agresments 13 47 TB.0 103.7
Special purpose accounts 20 799 635 93
Amourts due fram banks and treasury 14 923 683 1109
Mon-current ateets held for sale and assets of disposal groups 14 130 i3r.2 ¥
Loans to customers i7 1.904.5 1.580.3 2,251.2
Met investments In leases 18 1834 1431 1808
Inveskment financial assets: 19

- available for sale 4705 390.48 68T

- hield to maturity 180 275 1.4
Subordinated loans to banks 14 574 0.4 449
Investments in assockates and jointly controlled entities i 197 9.9 109
Property and equipmient 22 1004 6B GE3
Income tax assets 23 6.5 11.% 1.5
Oniheer asseis 7% 1338 17B.5 1280
Total sssets 55734 45814 3.885.8
Liabilities
Amaunts due o banks 6 EA44.5 1,01%9.4 1,010.5%
Financial liabélities at fair value through profit or loss 15 0.5 24 2.7
Amaunts duee to the Russian Government and the Bank of Russia 9 5558 7064 5591
Liabilities of disposal groups held for sale 16 = &9.0 0.2
Armaunts due 1o customers 7 5321 6423 508.7
Debt securities issued 18 10246 117599 GR5.2
Finance lease liabilities R - 759 1059 B9.8
Subsrdinated deposits 9 L5 10L1 3030
Income tax Liabilithes 13 14.2 0.5 73
Provisions 4 134 14.8 G4
Other liabilities 25 46.2 48.5 36.1
Total Uabilities 30177 39016 5,507.2
Equity 30
Autharized capital D964 4456 4131
Additional pald-in capital 164.3 150.5 158.2
Uncavered lass [264.3) [154.2) (169.0)
Unrealized revaluation of investrment financial assets available

for sale 455 353 (139
Fareign currency translation reserve 8.4 (0.3 0.8
Equity attributable to the Russian Government 5503 4763 - 3743
Non-controlling interests 34 4.5 4.3
Total equity 5557 - 4B0.8 1786
Tatal equity and Liabilities 45824 1,865.8
M. Gorkoy Chairman of the Bank

V.0 Shaprinskiy % Chief Accountant
18 April 2017

The accompanying notes 1-42 are an integral port of these consolidated financial statements,



Consolidated
financial staements
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2016
{in billions of Russian rubles)
2015
Nates 2016 {Restated)
Interest incarme 52 316.8 5153
Interest expense LY (227.7) (258.3)
Het interest income 891 &7.0
Provision for impairment of interest-earning assets 14,17, 18 {(510.4) (191.8)
Met interest expense after provision for impairment of interest-earning
atsets {421.3) {125.8)
Net fee and commission income 33 9.2 21
Met gains/{losses) from financial instrusments at fair value through profit or
loss 4.3 18
Met gains/{losses) from investment financial assets available for sale 34 224 [28.4)
Met gains/{losses) from foreign currencies:
- dealing 7.2 35
- translation differences [44.8) 1.7
Met gains/Tosses) on initial recognition of financial instruments,
restructiuring and early repayment 15, 17 (5.5) 1.9
Share in net Loss of associates and jointly controlled entities 11 (4.3) (6.5}
Drividiemds 1B 9.2
Government granis 5,15 2119 3303
INSUrENCE Premiums 3 259 24
Other operating income 35 1115 25.6
Mon-interest income 4554 352.8
Payrodl and other staff costs (36.1) {146
Decupancy and equipment (B.0) (B.4)
Depreciation of property and eguipment 21 (5.6 (18]
Taxes other than income tax (2.8} 5.3
Other pravisions and provisions for impairment of other assels 24 (19.8) 21.3)
Other operating expenses 15 (53.8) (37.3)
Mon-interest expense {126.1) (100.9)
Profit/[loss) before income tax [104.8) 15.2
Income tax expense 13 (7.1) 0.5
Prafit/{loss) for the year [111.9) —~
Artributable to:
- ther Russian Government (111.6) 164
- non-controtling interests {0.3) {1.5)
{111.9) 149

The accompanying notes 1-42 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Congolidated
NES o financial statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

{in billions of Russian rubles)
Motes 2016 2015

Profit/{loss) for the reporting year (111.9) 14.9
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Other comprehensive incomefloss) to be subsequently reclassified to prafit or

boss wiven Spécific conditiong are met
Change in unrealized gains/{losses) on investment financial assets available

for sale, including reclassification of such gainslosses) to profit or logs

due to impairment and/or) disposals 30 169 50,5
Translation differences 9.3 (1.8
Income tax relating to companents of other comprehensive income 3 - (1.3
Met othier comprehensive income to be subsequently reclassified to profit or

loss 16.2 47.4
Other comprehensive income for the reperting year, net of tax 26.2 47.4
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the reporting year (85.7) 613
Attributable to:
- the Russian Government (B5.2) h4.7
- non-controlling interests (0.5) (1.9)

(85.7) 613

The accompanying nates 1-42 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
10



VEB Group

Consolidated
financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2016

{in billions of Russian rubles)
Artributable ta the Russian Government
Unrealized
rervaluation
on
imvestment
financial Foseign
Additional FEER L] CLETEnCY Mon-
Authorized  pald-in Uncovered avallable for  ‘tramslaticn conirolling
__capital  capifal loss sale resenve Tatal imterests  Total equity
51 December 2014 4181 1351 [18%.0) (139 04 3743 4.3 3786
Profit/loss) for the
repanting year - - 16, 4 = = 16.4 s 149
nl:h"mm-u;?ﬂmm - - 31 (1.4) 47.8 [0.4) 474
Total compretsenshne
Income/[Loss] for the
reporting year - = 16.4 49,2 [LF']' 4.3 (19 623
Contribations of the
Russinn Govermenant s 113 - 198 - 198
Subsidiary atguired - - - - - L 0.8
Change in inferest i
exitsting i-l.lhil-ll-llll‘ll:‘i = = (18 - .4 (L0 i3 0
4TS 4.5 80,8
11 December 2015 4456 150.5 (154.7) 353 0.9
31 December 2015 456 1505 {154.2) 353 0.5 4763 45 4508
Less for the reporting year - - {111.6) = - (1114} R ] {111.%)
Onher ehersi
|n-:m:-::;m i - - - 169 9% 6.4 o 6.1
Total comprebenihee
imzome [loss) for the
reporting year - = [111.&) 16.9 9.5 (B5.2) [0.5) (85,7
Contribaitions of the
Russian Goverriment
(Hote 50) 150.0 138 - - - 1658 - 1658
Distributicn of capital to
thee Rissian Government
(Note 34 10 = 13 (6.5 03 i|5.8) (14 {52}
Sudriidian ]
{Hote ?:IH ahz - = - - - - 11 11
Chang® in levtenest in
Existing subsidiaries
[Mate 7) - - 08 - - (0.8) 0.8 -
11 December 1016 5986 164.3 ﬂ. 45.3 B4 550.3 L 555.7

The accompanying notes 1-42 are an integral part of these consolidated financiol statements.
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e
financial statementy
Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016
{in biltions of Russion rubles)
1015
Hotes 1016 (Restated)

Cash Aows from operating activities
Profit/{loss) for the reporting yéar (1119 149
Adjurstments:
Change in interest accruals (3E8.4) 4800
Impairment and ather provisions 14,17, 18, 14 540.2 3141
Changes in unrealized revaluation of trading securities and derivative

financial instraments (5.9 (4.5)
Government grants o 14 [211.9) (330.5)
Gains less losses from investment financial assets available for sale,

net of impairment loss (25.5) 1.0
Impairment of investment financial assets available for sale 19 1 274
Changes in translation differences 44.8 {1.7)
Gains lass losses on initial recognition of financial instruments,

restructuring and earky repayment 16,17 5.5 129
Share in net Loss of associates and jointly controlled entities 1 43 6.5
Irmpairment of goodwill 35 6.5 -
Depreciation and amorization b4 47
Gain from disposal of loans 15 [184.0 -
Deferred income tax 3 4.4 (1.9)
Loss on write-off of impalred assets i5 11.5 -
Other changes (31) (200
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating

assets and liabilities 46.4 7.0
Met (increasel/decrenie in opdnaling arsms
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss f.6 [20.6)
Special purpose accounts [29.2) [(19.3)
Amownts due from banks and treasury 11 (32.2)
Loans Lo Customeers 161.5 (90.5)
Het investments in leases 0.8 5.2
Other assets 9.7 (17.8)
Ner increasefdecrease) in operoting labilities
Amaunts due to banks, net of Leng-term interbank financing (172.8) (35.%)
Amounts due to the Russian Government and the Bank of Russia, net

of Leng-term financing (2%0.1) 1420
Amaunts due to cusiomers {162.2) LER
Debt securities issued, net of bonds and Eurcbonds 187 (3.8)
Finance lease Liabilities [13.0) (8.1)
Other Liabilities 2.2) 0.3
Met cash used in operating activities (363.8) (5.1}

The accompanying notés 1-42 are an integral part of these consolidated fingncial stalements.
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VEB Group

Consolldated
financial staternents

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)
{in bithions of Russian rubles)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of irmrestment finangial assets

Proceeds from sale and redemption of investment financlal assets
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash

Inwestments in associates and jointly controdled entities

Purchase of property and eguipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Purchase of investment property

Disposal of investment property

Met cash from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Long-term interbank financing raised

Long-term interbank financing repaid

Long-term financing raised from the Bank of Russia and the Russian
Gorvernment

Long-term financing repaid to the Bank of Russia and the Russian
Gavernment

Placesment of bonds

Redemgption of bonds and Eurobonds

Purchase af bonds and Eurcbonds issued by the Group

Proceeds from sale of previcusly purchased bonds and Eurcbonds

Change in interest in existing subsidiaries

Cantributions to authorized and additional paid-in capitals from the
Flussian Govemment

Government grants and assistance received

Dividends from subsidiaries

Het cash fromused in) financing activities

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates against the Russian ruble on

cash and cash egquivalents
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning

Cash and cash equivalents, ending

Cash recognized within non-current assets held for sale, beginning
Cash recognized within non-curment assets held for sale, ending
Supplemental Information:

Income tax paid
Interest paid
Irnterest recehned
Dividends received

2015
Motes 2016 _(Restated)
(230.3) [256.1)
4036 1813
(30.5) -
(1.2} {0.2)
2.2} (3.6)
0% 0.1
25 0.7} {0.6)
75 01 0.2
1191 .1
16 FLLE: ] F .
16 {2000 (191.8)
o 3941 75.7
] [106.1) [26.5)
T84 B4
(102.9) [46.1)
(78.0) (48.8)
165 448
- 1.2
0 15000 e
in 1r2 9
0.1) -
1541 34.1)
(5.5) 3748
139 2.7
11 i1 504.5
i1 3501 3121
41 -
= 41
(1.9} [1.6)
(204.4) (225.8)
1544 J44.3
44 932

The accompanying notes 1-42 are an integral part of these consoligated financial stotements.
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VEB Group Mates to 2016 consolidated
fimancial statements

{in billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Principal activities

The Group of the state corporation “Bank for Development and Foreign Econamic Affairs (Vneshecanombank)®
comprises state corporation “Bank for Development and Foreign Economic Affairs (Vnesheconombank)”
"Vnesheconombank” or the “Bank’), subsidiary Russian banks and CIS-based banks, as well as subsidiary Russian
and foreign companies (collectively, the "Group”). A List of major subsidiaries is presented in Note 4, and a list of
associates and jointly controlled entities is presented in Note 21,

vnesheconombank was formed on & June 2007 pursuant to and in accordance with Federal Law No. 82-FZ dated
17 May 2007, On Bank for Development (the “Federal Law’), by means of reorganization of the Bank for Foreign
Economic Affairs of the USSR (Vnesheconombank of the LU33R’), and is its legal successor. ¥nesheconombank
of the USSR was a specialized state bank of the Russian Federation servicing, in an agency capacity, the foreign
debt and assets of the former USSR and the Government of the Russian Federation (hereinafter, the “Russian
Government”) and its authorized institutions.

in accordance with Federal Law Mo, 395-1 dated 2 December 1990, On Banks and Banking Activity, as amended,
Vnesheconombank performs banking operations as stipulated by the Federal Law. The Bank has no right to
attract deposits from individuals, The legislation on banks and banking activity shall apply to the Bank only to
the extent that is does not contradict the mentioned Federal Law, and is subject to certain specifics established
by the Federal Law.

The main principles and areas of the Bank's activity are set out in the Federal Law and the Memorandum on
Financial Policies of State Corporation “Bank for Development and Foreign Economic Affairs (Vnesheconombank)®
approved by Resolution of the Russian Government No. 1007-r dated 27 July 2007 (extended by Resolutions
Mo, 1170-r of the Government of the Russian Federation dated 15 July 2010 and No. 1316-r dated 25 July 2013).
The Memorandum on Financial Policies (hereinafter, the “Memorandum’) provides for the main areas of the Bank's
investing and financing activities, stipulates quantitative limitations, conditions and criteria of specific operations.
The Russian Government, by Resolution Mo, 2610-r dated 29 December 2012, approved amendments to the
Memorandum setting out terms and procedures for providing financial support and guarantees 10 companies
working on state defense contracts and involved in federal-level defense and security programs. In addition, the
Memorandum was amended by adding a section on the formal process for Vnesheconombank to make decisions
on investing pension savings in bonds covered by guarantees of the Russian Federation and bonds issued by
Russian companies, which have been assigned a long-term credit rating for liabilities in the currency of the Russian
Federation or in foreign currency not lower than Russia’s sovereign rating for liabilities in the currency of the
Russian Federation and foreign currency assigned by an international credit rating agency approved in accordance
with the procedure established by the Russian legislation,

As a legislative initiative aimed at deoffshorization of the Russian economy, Resolution Mo 16 of the
Russian Government dated 16 January 2015 On Amendments to Certain Acts of the Russion Government
supplemented the Memorandum with a new paragraph under which Vnesheconombank can carry out
transactions with counterparties of offshore zones included into a list approved by the RF Ministry of Finance
only in the order approved by the Supervisory Board of Vnesheconombank.

The management bodies of the Bank are the Supervisory Board (chaired by the Prime Minister of the Russian
Federation), the Management Board, and the Chairman of the Bank. In accordance with the Federal Law, the
Chairman of the Bank is appeinted by the President of the Russian Federation as proposed by the Prime Minister
of the Russian Federation for a term which cannot exceed 5 years.

Vnesheconombank activities are aimed at overcoming infrastructure growth constraints, upgrading and
promoting the economic sector for non-raw materials, encouraging innovation, exporting high-technology
products, carrying out projects in special economic zones, enviranment protection projects, and supparting small
and medium-sized enterprises. The Bank actively participates in large investment projects contributing to the
development of infrastructure and high-technology industries of the real sector of the economy, as well as in
investment projects aimed at the development of municipalities engaged in a single area of activity,

14



VEB Group Motes to 20146 consolidated
financlal statements

{in biltions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise staled)

Principal activities (continued)

The Bank's authorized capital has been formed through asset contributions from the Russian Federation made
under decisions of the Russian Government, including the contribution of state-owned shares of J5C “Russian
Bank for Small and Medium Enterprises Support” (JSC SME Bank’), State Specialized Russian Export-Import Bank
(jeint-stock company) (EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA), the Federal Centre for Project Finance (FCPF), and international
and domestic long-distance electrical communication operator Public Joint-3tock Company Rostelecom (PISC
‘Rostelecom”) to the authorized capital.

Vnesheconombank performs the functions of an agent for the Russian Government for the purpose of accounting,
servicing and repaying the foreign sovereign debt of the former USSR and the Russian Federation (including
internal currency debt of the former USSR); accounting, servicing and repaying (using) government Loans issued
by the former USSR and the Russian Federation to foreign borrowers, collecting (recovering) debis from legal
entities, constituent entities of the Russian Federation and municipal governments under cash Liabilities to the
Russian Federation; providing and executing state guarantees of the Russian Federation and monitoring projects
implemented by the Russian Federation with involvement of international financial institutions.

Vnesheconombank performs the functions of an agent of the Russian Government under the Agreement entered
into with the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation (the "Russian Ministry of Fimance”) on
25 December 2009, Additional Agreement Mo. 1 dated 23 December 2010, Additional Agreement No. I dated
8 December 2011, Additional Agreement Mo.3 dated 23 July 2011, Additional Agreement MNo. 4 dated
1% August 2013, Additional Agreement MNo.5 dated 16 April 2014, Additional Agreement MNo. & dated
1 October 2015, and Additional Agreement No. 7 dated 21 September 2016 (collectively, "Agency Agregment”).

Based on the 2014 performance results, Voesheconombank received a fee for agency services as provided for by
Federal Law No. 359-FZ, On the Federal Budget for 2016 and the Planned Period of 2016 and 2017 dated
14 December 2015 in the total amount of RUB 0.5 billion (2015: RUB 0.5 billion) net of VAT, This fee is shown
as agency fees within the Group's fee and commission income (Note 33).

The Bank performs functions of the agent servicing the foreign debt of the former USSR and of the Russian
Federation, including maintenance of accounting records, settlements and reconciliation of the above debt by
the date determined by the Russian Government.

In January 2003, the Bank was appointed as the state trust management company for the trust management af
pension savings. Vnesheconombank performs trust management of accumulated pension savings of insured
citizens who have not selected a non-state pension fund or a private management company and who have
selected the Bank as the management company.

On 2 August 2009, Federal Law Mo, 182-FZ dated 18 July 2009, On Amendments fo Federal Law "On Nor-stolbe
Pension Funds” and Federal Law "On Investment of Funds to Finance the Funded Part of Labor Pensions in the Russian
Federation”, came into effect which provides that from 1 November 2009 the Bank, as a state trust management
company for pension savings, shall form two portfolios: an extended investment portfolio and an investment
portfolio of government securities, The Bank shall form the portfolios in accordance with the investment
declarations approved by Resolution of the Russian Government Mo. 540 dated 1 September 2003 and
Resolution of the Russian Government No. 842 dated 24 October 2009,

In June 2012, Vaesheconombank was appointed as the state management company for funds in the payment
reserve. The payment reserve is formed in accordance with Federal Law Mo. 360-FZ dated 30 November 2011,
On the Procedure for Using Pension Accruals to Finance Payments for purposes of payments to the cumulative
pension.
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VEB Group Hotes to 20146 consolidated
financial statements

{in billions of Russian rubles, uniess otherwise stoted)

Principal activities (continued)

The Bank, as a management company for the payment reserve, shall form two portfolios: a payment reserve
portfolio and a portfolio of pension savings of insured persons to whom a term pension payment is assigned.
The Bank shall form the portfolios in accordance with the investment declarations approved by Resolution of
the Russian Government Mo, 550 dated 4 June 20132,

During 2016, the Bank, as a state management company, invested pensien savings in state securities
denominated in Russian rubles, corporate bends of highly credible Russian issuers, and in corporate bonds
collateralised by guarantees of the Russian Federation and mortgage securities. As at 31 December 2015 and
11 December 2015, total funds of the State Pension Fund of the Russian Federation placed in management to
the state management company amounted to RUB 1,977.8 billion and RUB 2,018.4 billien, respectively.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank, as the state trust management company for pension savings received a
consideration in the amount of RUB 0.6 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 0.5 billion), as set forth in the trust
management agreement entered Into with the Pension Fund of the Russian Federation.

In accordance with Resolution of the Russian Government Mo, 503 dated 14 June 1013, Vnesheconombank
performs functions of the state trust management company for pension savings and the state management
company for the payment reserve until 1 January 2019,

Since October 2008, Vnesheconaombank has been taking measures aimed at supporting the financial system of
the Russian Federation $o as to implement Federal Law Mo. 173-FZ dated 13 October 2008, On Additional
Measures to Support the Financial System of the Russian Federation (Federal Law No. 173-FZ). As detailed in
Motes 14 and 17, the Bank extended unsecured subordinated loans to Russian banks, and starting from the end
of December 2010, the Bank acts as a lender for operations to enhance affordability of mortgage loans through
extending loans to JSC “The Agency for Housing Mortgage Lending” (J5C "AHML").

The Bank is located in Moscow, Russia at the following address: 9 Prospekt Akademika Sakharova, Mascow,
The Bank has representative offices in New York (the United States of America), London (the United Kingdom of
Great Britain and Morthern Ireland), Milan (the Italian Republic), Frankfurt am-Main (the Federal Republic of
Germany), Johannesburg (the Republic of South Africa), Mumbai and New-Delhi (the Republic of India), Beijing
(the People’s Republic of China), Paris (the French Republic) and Zurich (the Swiss Confederation).

As at 31 Decernber 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group had 17,540 and 18,382 employees, respectively.

Basis of preparation
General

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

The Bank, its subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities are required to maintain their accounting
records and prepare financial statements in accordance with regulations applicable in their country of
registration. These consolidated financial statements are based on those accounting books and records, s
adjusted and reclassified in order to comply with IFRS.
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VEB Group Motes to 2016 consolidated
financial statements

{ire billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Basis of preparation (continued)
General (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as
disclosed in the summary of significant accounting policies below. For example, trading securities, financial
assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets, derivative financial
instruments and investment property have been measured at fair value.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in billions of Russian rubles ("RUB billion’), unless
otherwise is indicated.

Golng concern
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern assumption.

These consolidated financial statements reflect the Group management’s current assessment of the impact of
the Russian business environment on the performance and the financial position of the Group., The future
development of the Russian economy is largely dependent upon the effectiveness of measures undertaken by
the Russian Government and other factors, including regulatory and political developments, which are beyond
the Group's control. The Group's management cannot predict the impact of the above factors may have on the
financial position of the Group in future,

The ability to continue as a geing concern depends, to a significant extent, upon future financial support from
the Russian Gowvernment.

Funetional currency

The Russian ruble is the functional currency of Vnesheconombank and the presentation currency of the Group.
Transactions in other currencies are treated as transactions in foreign currencies. The Group’s foreign subsidiary
0J5C "Belvnesheconombank® (Bank BelVER 0QJSC) uses the Belarusian ruble ("BYR") as its functional currency.
Public Stock Company “Joint-Stock Commercial Industrial and Investment Bank® (PSC Prominvestibank), another
foreign subsidiary of the Group, uses the Ukrainian hryvnia ("UAH") as its functional currency. The foreign
subsidiary VEB Asia Limited - uses the Hong Kong dollar ("HKD") as its functional currency.

Clearing currencies are the settlement currencies for bilateral trade between the Russian Federation and
designated countries. Clearing currencies are regularly traded on special auctions held by the Bank under the
supervision of the Russian Ministry of Finance. Clearing currencies-denominated assets and liabilities have been
translated into RUB at the official rates of the Bank of Russia as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

Segregation of operations

In its agency capacity, the Bank manages and services certain assets and liabilities on behalf of the Russian
Government. Balances of respective assets and liabilities have not been included in the accompanying
consolidated statements of financial position given the agency nature of the relationship and in accordance with
the underlying Agency Agreements and specific guidelines (hereinafter, the "Guidelines’) approved by the Board
of Directors of Vnesheconombank of the USSR and the Russian Ministry of Finance in 1997,
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VEB Group Notes to 2016 consclidated
financial statements

{in billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Basis of preparation [continued)
General (continuwed)

The Guidelines stipulated the following assets and liabilities are the responsibility of the Russian Ministry of
Einance and have, therefare, been excluded from the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position:

® Liabilities to foreign creditors, including all accrued Interest which are serviced and redeemed at the
expense of the Russian Government;

. Internal foreign currency debt to residents of the former USSR,

. Claims for foreign currency government and commercial loans granted to Russian Federation regions,
former republics of the USSR, and other foreign countries representing both government external and
internal foreign currency assets;

. Clearing, barter, and mutual settlements, including corresponding settlements with clients, executed on
the basis of intergovernmental agreements and not used in current activities;

. Participation claims and liabilities related to the reorganization of former UsSR-owned foreign banks,
which are subject to trilateral settlement by the Bank of Russia, the Russian Ministry of Finance, and
Vnesheconombank, and equity participations financed by borrowings, the responsibility for which was
assumed by the Russian Minlstry of Finance;

. Claims against Russian commercial banks and other commercial entities for guarantees in favor of the
Russian Ministry of Finance under centralized operations, as well as other claims and liabilities that
resulted from, or arise as a result of, operations conducted at the expense of the Russian Government.

Reclassification of comparatives

In the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, amounts on the correspondent
account with the Bank of Russia and amounts on correspondent accounts with foreign banks intended for a
designated purpose are included in amounts due from banks and special purpose accounts, respectively. In
addition, the Group has changed the presentation of other assets following the reclassification of precious
metals and amounts due from the Russian Government due to their insignificance. The following
reclassifications have been made to 2015 and 2014 balances to ensure their comparability with the 2016 data:

Consclidated statement of financial position as at As previously  Reclassification

51 December 2015 reported amount As reclassified
Cash and cash equivalents 4.5 (78.4) 1221
Precious metals 03 (0.3) e
Special purpose accounts = &3 E3.5
Amounts due from banks and treasury 534 149 BE.S
Amaunits dise from the Russian Government 05 (0.5) -
Cithier assets 1757 08 1785
Consolidated statement of financial position as at As previously  Reclassification

31 December 20714 reported amaunt Asg reglassified
Cash and cash equivalents 3260 [21.5) 304.5
Precious metals 0.3 {0.3) -
Special purpose accounts - 199 199
Arounts due from banks and treasury 129.3 [8.4) 1209
Amounts due from the Russian Government e (0.4} -
Cther assets 127.3 Q.7 1280
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Reclassification of comparatives (continued)

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended Az previously  Reclassification
31 December 2015 reported amount As reclassified
Arnounts due from banks and treasury (6.2) (26,00 (31.2)
Special purpose accounts = (15.3) {19.3)
Met cash from/{used in) operating activities 41.1 [45.3) (3.1)
Effect of changes in foreign exchangs rates against the Russian

ruble on cash and cash equivalents 405 [11.7) irs
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents 78.7 {37.00 .7
Cagh and cash equivalents, beginning 336.0 (21.5) 045
Cash and cash equivalents, ending 400.5 (78.4) 3221

The effect of the changes is also disclosed in Notes 9, 11, 14, 25 36, 37 and 40,

The Group changed the presentation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2015 in these consolidated financial statements due to significant results from insurance operations.

Consolidated statement of profit o Loss for the year ended As previously  Reclassification

31 December 2015 reported amount As reclassified
Other operating incames 28.0 (2.4 156
Inswrance premiums - 14 14
Major subsidiaries

The Group's subsidiaries owned directly by Vnesheconombank included in the consolidated financial statements
are presented in the table below:

Crenership
31 December 51 Decembar Couritry of
Subsidiaries i01s 1015 incorporation Type of activity
Bank BelVES QUSC H752% or.51% Republic of Belarus Banking
J5C "VEB-Leasing” 90.79% 9.11% Rustia Leasing
J5C SME Bank - 100% Russia Banking
Sviaz-Bank 9o.77% 99.65% Russsia Banking
P5C Prominvestbank G9.72% 99.39% Ukraine Banking
Braduction and procédsing of
15C “Kraslesinvest” 100 100% Russla materials
I5C "GLOBEXBANK® 99,99% 99.99% Russia Banking
VER Capital LLC 100r 100% Russia Financial intermediary
WEB Engineering LLC 100 100 Russia Investment project
implementation services
FCPF 100% 100% Russia Fimancial intermediary
IS "Month Caucasws Development Advisory services, investment
Corposation” 100% 100% Russia project support
ROIF Management Comparny LLC = 100% Rusaia Management company
J5C “The Far East and Baikal Region
Develogement Fund® 100% 100% Russia Investiment projéct support
WEB Asia Limited 100% 100% People’s Republic
af China Financial intermediary
Infrastructire Molzhaninoyo LLC
(Fformer Resad LLL) 00.00% B5% Rusiia Electric energy
Resort Zolotoe Koltso LLC 100% 100% Russia Real estate and constrection
Russian Export Center I5C 100% 100% Russia Support of export aperations
Caspian Flat Glass 15C 100 - Russia Manwfacturing
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Major subsidiaries (continued)

Significant subsidiaries, controlled by Vnesheconombank through mentioned above entities, are present in the
table below:

Owmership
31 December 31 December Country of
Subsidiaries 2016 1015 incorparatian Type of activity
Rose Group Limited Real estate development
ipanes BGL. International Limited) T1.4% TI4% Guernsey business
United Group 5.4 1005% 100% Luxembaurg Holding company

As at 31 December 2015, the Group's subsidiaries also included Mutual Fund RDIF with 100% awnership.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group owned 100% of the woting shares of
J5C "VEB-Leasing’.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group's subsidiaries include EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA and
EXIAR through the subsidiary Russian Export Center J5C (REC JSC). The Group's interest in the authorized capital
of the subsidiaries remains unchanged at 100%.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group owns 100% shares in AMURMETAL HOLDING
LIMITED, a company halding shares of the entity, which is the owner of a group of metallurgical enterprises,
The manufacturing activities of the parent company of the AMURMETAL HOLDING LIMITED group is wunder
control of a bankruptcy manager, thus financial statements of AMURMETAL HOLDING LIMITED had not been
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

United Group 5.A. is a beneficiary owner of a metallurgical enterprise in the Czech Republic.

In February 2016, Vnesheconombank made an additional contribution to the authorized capital of Resad LLC im
the amount of RUB 7.0 billion. The Bank's share in the authorized capital of the company is 99.99997%.
In March 2016, Resad LLC was renamed Infrastructure Molzhaningvo LLC

In February 2016, the Bank transferred funds in the amount of USD 500 million (RUB 37.2 billion at the date of
transfer) and EUR 0.2 billion {(RUB 19.0 billion at the date of transfer) in payment for 1,999 984,200 shares
additionally issued by PSC Prominvestbank. In May 2016, the report on the results of PSC Prominvestbank’s
placement of additionally issued shares was registered by the National Securities and Stock Market Commission
of Ukraine,

In March 2016, as a result of repurchase of 16.11% of own shares by Rose Group Limited, the Group’s ownership
reduced to 68.28%. In the third quarter of 2016, as a result of a reverse exchange of shares, the Group's
ownership in Rose Group Limited increased to 73.4%.

In April 2016, pursuant to Decree No. 287 of the President of the Russian Federation dated 5 June 2015 and
Federal Law Mo. 156-FZ, On Amendments to Certain Legisiative Acts of the Russian Federation Regarding Measures
for Further Development of Small and Medium Enterprises in the Russion Federation, dated 29 June 2015,
Vnesheconombank paid for an additional issue of shares in JSC'Russian Small and Medium Business
Corporation” (hereinafter, JSC RSME Corporation’) with 19,240 shares of JSCSME Bank (100% as at
11 December 2015), thus losing control over the bank (Notes 11, 30, 40).

As on 1June 2016 Federal Law MNo.154-FZ, On the Russian Direct Investment Fund, became effective,
Vnesheconombank lost control over RDIF Management Company LLC. Therefore, the Bank deconsolidated the
assets and Liabilities of Mutual Fund RDIF and classified 100% of units in Mutual Fund RDIF owned by the Bank
as investment financial assets available for sale (Notes 19, 30, 40). As at 31 December 2015, the Bank was
helding 100% of shares in the authorized capital of RDIF Management Company LLC.
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Major subsidiaries (continued)

InJune 2016, Vnesheconombank exercised its preemptive right to purchase additional shares in
PSC Prominvestbank and paid for 160,682,620 shares additionally issued by PSC Prominvestbank in the amount
of USD &4.6 million and EUR 0.04 millian (total equivalent of RUB 4.2 billion at the date of purchase). The Bank's
share in the authorized capital of the company changed to %9.72%. In October 2016, the National Securities and
Stock Market Commission of Ukraine registered the report on the results of PSC Prominvestbank’s placement of
additionally issued shares.

In August 2016, Vnesheconombank made an additional contribution to the autherized capital of Infrastructure
Molzhaninova LLC in the amount of RUB 1.2 billion, The Bank’s share in the authorized capital of the company
is 99.99598%.

In October 2016, funds of subsidy from the federal budget (RUB 8.1 billien) that Vnesheconombank recerved
in September 2016 were transferred to EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA as intended. The report on the results of the
additional issue of shares by EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA was registered in November 2016.

In November 2016, the Bank acquired title to 100% votes conferred by ordinary shares of Caspian Flat Glass I5C.
The shares were transferred to the Bank under the agreement on out-of-court sale of the shares, due to the
Bank's financing of the respective project of RUB 3.0 billion.

In December 2016, the Bank purchased 30,902,348 shares additionally issued by JSC VEB-Leasing for the total
amount of RUB 75.0 billion. The Group's ownership in the share capital of JSC VEB-Leasing increased to 99.79%.

In December 2016, the Bank purchased 7,988,262,200,000 shares additionally issued by Sviaz-Bank for the total
amount of RUB 16.0 billion. The Bank’s ownership in the share capital of Sviaz-Bank increased to 99.77%.

The Bank has no subsidiaries with material non-controdling interests.

Summary of accounting policies
Changes in accounting policies
New odopied standands

The Group has adopted the following amended IFRS, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016,

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments
clarify:

. The materiality requirements in 145 1

. That specific line items in the statements of profit or loss, statement of other comprehensive income and
statement of financial position may be disaggregated

. That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements

. That the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items
that will or will mot be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Eurthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in
the statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income. These
amendments are effective for annual pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2016. These amendments do not
have any impact on the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: [nvestment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFR5 10
Consolidated Financial Stotements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting
consolidated financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, when
the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an
investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity is consolidated. ALl other
subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. The amendments to IAS 18 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value
measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture 1o its interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments must be applied retrospectively and are effective for annual periods beginning on of after
1 January 2016. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the
consolidation exception.

Annugl improvements 2012- 2014 cycle
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, They include:
IFRS 5 MNon-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to owners. The
amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a
mew plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the
application of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment must be applied prospectively.

{FRS 7 Fingncial fstruments: DNsclosures

The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing invelvement in
a financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for
continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of
which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement must be done retrospectively, However, the
required disclosures would not need to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which
the entity first applies the amendments.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Baziz of consolidation

Subsidiaries, ie. the companies whose activities are controlled by the Group, are consolidated. Control is
exercised when the Group has exposure, of rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investees or
has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor's returns. Specifically, the
Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

. Power over the investee (ie. rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);

# Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;

. Ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

As a rule, the majority of votes provide control. To support this presumption and when the Group has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

. The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;
» Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

» The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer
consolidated from the date that control ceases. All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated in full; unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, Where necessary, accounting policies
for subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a change of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. Losses of a subsidiary are attributed to non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit
balance.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and Liabilities of the
subsidiary, the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests, the cumulative translation differences, recorded
in equity; recognizes the fair value of the consideration received, the fair value of any investment retained and
any surplus or deficit in profit or loss and reclassifies the parent's share of companents previously recognized in
other comprehensive income to profit or [o3s.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests that entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation, either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of non-cantralling interest are
measured at their acquisition date fair value. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree,
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Businets combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or Loss,

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquires is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability
will be recognized in accordance with LAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is finally settled
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the consideration transferred over the Group's net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss as gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
sach of the Group's cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained

Acquisition of subsidiaries from parties under commen control

Acquisitions of subsidiaries from parties under commen control are accounted for using the pooling of interests
method.

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary transferred under common control are recorded in consolidated
financial statements at the carrying amounts of the transferring entity (the predecessor) at the date of the
transfer. Related goodwill inherent in the predecessor's original acquisition is alse recorded in consolidated
financial statements. Any difference between the total book value of net assets, including the predecessors
goodwill, and the consideration paid is accounted for in consolidated financial statements as an equity
adjustment. On disposal of a subsidiary during a transaction under common control the difference between the
carrying value of disposable assets and liabilities is recognized in profit or loss. The financial data in the
consolidated financial statements for the periods preceding the combination of entities under common control
are not restated.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities

Associates are entities in which the Group generally owns between 20% and 50% of the voting rights or
participation shares (stakes in equity), or is otherwise able to exercise significant influence, but which it does
not contrel or jointly control. Investments in assotiates are accounted for under the equity method and are
initially recognized at acquisition cost, including goodwill Subsequent changes in the carrying amount reflect
the post-acquisition changes in the Group's share in net assets of the associate, The Group's share of its
associates’ profits or losses is recognized in profit or loss, and its share of changes in reserves is recognized in
other comprehensive income. However, when the Group's share of losses in an associate equals of exceeds the
value of its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless the Group is obliged to
make further payments to, or on behalf of, the associate.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Investments in associates and jeintly controlled entities (continued)

Jointly controlled entities are entities In which the Group has rights to net assets and joint control over their
economic activities according to contractual arrangements. Where a jointly controlled entity is established
through loss of control over a subsidiary, its initial carrying amount is recorded at fair value. Subsequently, these
entities are carried using the equity method and are subject to the same accounting policies that apply to
investments in associates. Any share in the results of jointly controlled entities is recognized in the consolidated
financial statements from the beginning of joint control until the date this control ceases.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and jointly controlled entities are
sliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associates and jointly controlled entities; unrealized losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment in the asset transferred.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments, such as trading and available-for-sale securities, derivativis and non-
financial assets such as investment property, at fair value at each reporting date. Fair values of financial
instruments measured at amortized cost are disclosed in Note 37.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a Liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transactien to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

. In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
¥ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or Liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation technigues that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, deseribed as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

" Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilitees;

. Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

. Level 3 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reparting period.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets

fnitial recognition

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial recognition, and subsequently can
reclassify financial assets in certain cases as described below.

Date af recognition

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date i.e. the date that the
Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Financial assees ot fair value through profit or [oss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired principally for the purpose
of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealers margin. Derivatives are also classified as
held for trading, Gains and lesses resulting from operations with financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recognized in profit or loss within gains less losses from financial instruments at fair value through
profit or Loss.

Held-to-maturity investments

Nan-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-
to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. Investments intended
to be held for an undefined period are not included in this category. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the investments
are impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that areé not
guoted in an active market, They are not entéred into with the intention of immediate or short-term sale and
are not classified as trading securities or designated as investment securities available for sale. Such assets are
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss
when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

Available-for-sole finonciol assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories, After initial recognition available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value with gains and lesses from changes in fair value being recognized in
other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized or until the investment is determined to be
impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or Loss in gains less losses from investment financial assets
available for sale. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognized in profit or loss.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Non-marketable securities that do not have fixed maturities and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured
are measured at cost Lless allawance for impairment.

Reclassification of Francial assets

If 2 non-derivative financial asset classified as held for trading is no longer held for the purpose of selling in the
near term, it may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category in one of the following
cases:

. a financial asset that would have met the definition of loans and receivables above may be reclassified
to loans and receivables category if the Group has the intention and ability to hold it for the foreseeable
future or until maturity;

. other financial assets may be reclassified to available for sale or held to maturity categories only in rare
circumstances.

A financial asset classified as available for sale that would have met the definition of loans and receivables may
be reclassified to loans and receivables category of the Group has the intentien and ability to hold it for the
foreseeable future or until matwrity,

Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already
recoqgnized in profit or loss is not reversed. The fair value of the consolidated financial asset at the date of
reclassification becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable.

Measurement of financial instruments at initial recognition

When financial instruments are recognized initially, they are measured at fair value, adjusted, in the case of
instruments not at fair value through profit or Loss, for directly attributable fees and costs.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction
price. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, then:

. if the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability {ie.a
Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the Group
recognizes the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price as a gain
or loss;

. in all other cases, the initial measurement of the financial instrument is adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. After initial recognition, the Group
recognizes that deferred difference as a gain or loss enly when the inputs became observable, or when
the instrument is derecognized,

Offsetting of financial assets

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to realize the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly. The right to set-off must not be contingent
on a future event and must be Legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances.

. the normal course of business;
. the event of default:
. the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity or any of its counterparties.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Offsetting of financial assets (continued)

These conditions are not generally met in master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Amortized cost of financial instruments

The amartized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial
liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amgrtization
wsing the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and
minus any reduction (directly of through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability {or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected Life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Group shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument
{for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees and points paid or recelved between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that the
cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably. Howewver,
in those rare cases when it is not possible to estimate reliably the cash flows or the expected life of a financial
instrument (or group of financial instruments), the Group shall use the contractual cash flows over the full
cantractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instrumentsy.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, amounts due from the Bank of Russia (excluding obligatory
reserves of subsidiary banks), balances on correspondent and current accounts of the Group and amounts due
from banks that mature within ninety days of the date of origination and are free from contractual encuminances.

Precious metals

Gold and other precious metals are recorded at Bank of Russia bid prices, bid prices of National Bank of Belarus
{ME RB) and National Bank of Ukraine (NBL), which approximate fair values and are quoted at a discount o
London Bullion Market rates. Changes in the above mentioned bid prices are recorded as translation differences
from precious metals in other income.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and securities lending

Sale and repurchase agreements (“repo”) are treated as secured financing transactions in consolidated financial
statement. Securities sold under repurchase agreements are retained in the consolidated statement of financial
position and, in case the transferee has the right by contract of custom to sell or repledge them, reclassified as
securities pledged under repurchase agreements. The corresponding lability is presented within amounts due
to banks or customers. Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repo’) are recorded as cash and
cash equivalents, amounts due from banks or loans to customers as appropriate. The difference between sale
and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of repo agreements using the effective
interest rate method,
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and securities lending (continued)

Securities lent to counterparties are retained In the consolidated statement of financial position. Securities
porrowed are not recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, unless these are sold to third
parties, in which case the purchase and sale are recorded within gains less losses from financial instruments at
fair value through profit o loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The obligation to return them is
recorded at fair value as a trading liability.

Derivative financial instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various derivative financial instruments including futures,
farwards, swaps and options in the foreign exchange and securities markets. Such financial instruments are held
for trading and are initially recorded at fair value. The fair values are #stimated based on quoted market prices
or pricing models that take into account the current market and contractual prices of the underlying instruments
and other factors. Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as Liabilities when it is
negative. Gains and losses resulting from these instruments are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as gains less losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or gains less losses
from fareign currencies dealing (trade transactions), depending on the nature of the financial instrument.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the
host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. The embedded
derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value in the trading portfolio with changes in fair value
being recognized in profit or loss.

Promissory notes

Promissory notes purchased are included in trading or imvestment securities, of in cash and cash equivalents, in
amounts due from banks or in leans to customers, depending on the aim and terms of their purchase, and are
recorded in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the accounting policies for these categaries
of assets.

Borrowings

lssued financial instruments or their components are classified as Liabilities, where the substance of the
contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial
asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of own equity instruments. Such instruments include amounts due to banks,
amounts due to the Russian Government and the Bank of Russia, amounts due to customers, debt securities
issued and subordinated deposits. After initial recognition, barrowings are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and Losses are recognized in profit or loss when the borrowings
are derecognized, as well as through the amaortization process.

If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the statement of consolidated financial position and the
difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group recognizes amounts attracted from

banks and their repayment for a period of up to one year in "Cash flows from operating activities' category, for a
period exceeding one year - in 'Cash flows from financing activities’ category.
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Government grants and government assistance

Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
related conditions will be complied with, Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income
in the same periods as the respective expenses it is intended to compensate on a systematic basis. Where the
grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as deferred income and released o income in equal amounts over the
expected useful life of the related asset.

Government loans provided at below market interest rates are recognized in accordance with IAS 39. The benefit
of the government loan is measured at the Inception of the loan as the difference between the cash received
and the amount at which the Loan is initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position. This
benafit is accounted for in accordance with [AS 20.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpase of giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs shall be recognized in
profit or loss of the period in which it becomes receivable.

Leases
Finance leases = Group as lessee

The Group recognizes finance leases as assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the date of commencement of the lease term at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if
Lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. In caleulating the present value of the minimum
lease payments the discount factor used is the interest rate implicit in the lease, when it is practicable to
determine: otherwise, the Group's incremental borrowing rate is used. Initial direct costs incurred are included
as part of the asset. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding Liability. The finance charge is allocated to periods during the lease term 5o as Lo produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the Liability for each period. The costs identified as directly
attributable to activities performed by the lessee for a finance lease, are included as par af the amount
recognized as an asset under the lease.

Finance leases - Group as lessor

The Group recognizes lease receivables at value equal to the net investments in the lease, starting from the date
of commencement of the lease term. Finance income is based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment cutstanding. Initial direct costs are included in the initial measurement of the lease
receivables.

Operating leases - Group as lessee

Leases of assets under which the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Lease payments under operating leases are recognized a5 expenses on a straight-
line basis over the lease-term and included into expenses for occupancy and equipment.

Operating leases - Group as (essor

The Group presents assets subject to operating leases in the consolidated statement of financial position
according to the nature of the asset. Lease income from operating leases is recagnized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate cost of incentives provided to lessees is recognized as a
reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-ling basis. Initial direct costs incurred specifically
to earn revenues from an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired If,
and anly if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
astimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the bomower or a group of borrowers IS experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic cenditions that
correlate with defaults.

Provisions for impairment of financial assets in these consolidated financial statements have been determined
on the basis of existing economic and political conditions. The Group ks not in a position to predict what changes
in conditions will take place in the Russian Federation, Ukraine and in the Republic of Belarus and what effect
such changes might have on the adequacy of the provisions for impairment of financial assets.

Amounis due from banks and [0ans [0 CUSTOMErs

For amounts due from banks and loans to customers carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impalrment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are net individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risks characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment

If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss.
Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based an the original effective interest
rate of the asset. Loans together with the associated allowance for impairment are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the Group. If,
in subsequent years, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased of
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
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summary of accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on
the basis of historical loss experience for assets with eredit risk characteristics similar to these in the group.
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions that did not affect the years on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects
of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently, Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect,
and are directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from year to year (such as changes in
unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of
incurred losses in the group or their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Hetd-to-maturity financial investments

For held-to-maturity investments, the Group assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the &8s s
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the Loss is recognized in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring
after the impairment was recognized, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss,

Available-for-sate financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cest. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in profit or loss - is reclassified from other
comprehensive income to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity investments
are not reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss; increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognized in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortized cost. Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a
debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment Loss is reversed through the consclidated statement of
prafit or loss.

Renegotiation of loans

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may
invalve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The accounting treatment of such restructuring is as follows:

. If the currency of the loan has been changed, the old loan is derecognized and the new laan is recognized
in the statement of financial position;

- If the Loan restructuring is not caused by the financial difficulties of the borrower, the Group uses the
same approach as for financial liabilities described below;

. If the loan restructuring is due to the financial difficulties of the borrower and the loan Is impaired after
restructuring, the Group recognizes the difference between the present value of the future cash flows
discounted using the original effective interest rate and the carrying amount before restructuring in the
provision charges for the period. In case the loan in not impaired after restructuring, the Group
derecognizes the initial asset and a new asset is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position,

Oince the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due, Management continuously
reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The
laans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan's
original effective interest rate.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial agsets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognized in the consolidated statement of financial position where:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

- the Group either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
over the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither tra nsferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control over the asset, the asset i5
recognized to the extent of the Group's continuing invelvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required 1o repay.

Where continuing invelvement takes the form of a written and/for purchased option (including an option cash-
settled on net basis or a similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a
written put option (including an option cash-settled on net basis or a similar provision) on an asset measured at
fair value, the extent of the Group's continuing imvolvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the
transferred asset and the option exercise price.

33



VEB Group Motes 1o 2016 consolidated
financial saiements

{in billions of Russion rubles, unless othenwise stated)

Summary of accounting policies [continued)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the cbligation under the Liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability Is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or medification Is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Fimancial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the consolidated financial
statements at fair value, in the ‘Other liabilities', being the fee received. Subsequent to initial recog nition, the
Group's liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amortized premium and the best estimate
of expenditure required settling any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is taken [0 profit or loss. The fee received is
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss ona straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Taxation

Current income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the regulations currently in force in the respective
countries in which the Group operates. Income tax expense of the Group comprises current and deferred income
tax. Current income tax is calculated by applying income tax rate effective at the consolidated reporting date to
the taxable base.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the assets w Liability
method. Deferred income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for consolidated financial reporting purposes, except where the
deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that
i€ not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
prafit or Loss,

Deferred tax assets are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on
tax legislation that has been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is
probable that the temparary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The income and expenses of Vnesheconombank are not taxable for income tax purposes.

Various operating taxes, which are assessed on the Group's activities, are included in "Taxes other tham income
tax” in the consolidated statement of profit or Loss,
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated Impairment. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of equipment when
that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation of assets under construction and those
not placed in service commences from the date the assets are placed into service. Depreciation is calculated on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. Assets’ useful lives are determined on the basis of their
estirnated benefit for the Bank's activities using experienced judgments.

Years
Buildings 15-80
Equipment 2-10
Maotor vehicles 2-30

Land has an indefinite useful life and is not depreciated.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lease term of property and equipment.

The asset's residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted as appropriate, at
each financial year-end,

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in other operating expenses,
unless they gualify for capitalization.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Mon-financial assets, other than deferred taxes and investrent property, are assessed at each reporting date far
any indications of impairment. If such indicators exist, the Bank determines the recoverable amount of the
respective assets. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amaunt,
The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Costs to sell are the costs associated with disposal of an asset tested for impairment, less finance costs.
Value in use of an asset reviewed for impairment is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be
derived from the use of an asset and its subsequent disposal.

All impairment losses in respect of non-financial assets are recognized in profit or Loss and reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Any impairment loss is only
reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment Loss had been recognized.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group's net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, Goodwill on an acquisition
of a subsidiary is included in other assets. Goodwill on an acquisition of an associate is inclueded in the
investments in associates. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
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Goodwill [continued)

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree
are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of

units to which the goadwill is so allocated:

. represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is menitored for internal management
purposes,
. is not larger than the operating segment as definad in IFRS 8 Operating Segments before aggregation.

Impairment of goodwill is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) Is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Intangible assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets other than goodwill include computer software and licenses.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of imangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amartization and any accumulated impairment Losses,
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are amartized on a straight-line basis over the useful economic lives of 1 to 10 years and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Amortization periods and
methods for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.

Assets classified as held for sale

The Group classifies a non-current asset (or a disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
nan-current asset (or disposal group) must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) and its sale must be highly
probable,

The sale qualifies as highly probable if the Group’s management is committed to a plan to sell the non-current
asset (or disposal group) and an active program to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated.
Further, the non-current asset (or disposal group) must have been actively marketed for a sale at price that Is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value and in addition the sale should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification of the non-current asset (of
disposal group) as held for sale.

The Group measures an asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. The Group recognizes an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-off
of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell if events or changes in circumstance indicate that
their carrying amaount may be impaired,
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Irvestment property

Investment property Is land or building or a part of building held to earn rental income of for capital appreciation
and which is not used by the Group or held for the sale in the ordinary course of business. Property that is being
constructed or developed or redeveloped for future use as investment property is also classified as investment

property.

Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently remeasured at
fair value reflecting market conditions at the end of the reporting period. Fair value of the Group's investment
property is determined on the base of various sources including reports of independent appraisers, who hold a
recognized and relevant professional qualification and who have recent experience in valuation of property of
similar location and categaory.

Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property of for which the market
has become less active continues to be measured at fair value. Earned rental income is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss within other income, Gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of
investment property are recorded in the statement of profit or loss and presented within gther income or other

aperating expenses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with it
will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. ALl other repairs and mainténance costs are
expensed when incurred. If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified to property and
equipment, and its carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost Lo be subseguently
depreciated.

Investment property under construction

Investment property under construction represents rights on assets which are being constructed under
construction investment agreements. Such assets are not registered as “real estate assets” with the registration
chamber and are under construection. Investment property under construction is measured at fair value, if it can
be reliably measured. Otherwise, investment property under construction is stated at cost, which represents the
amount of cash or other consideration paid, as the fair value of investment property under construction cannot
be reliably measured. The Group expects that a reliable estimate will become possible upon completion of
construction.

Inventory (real estate properties and land for sale)

The Groups classifies as inventory any projects involving the construction of real estate intended for sale
{including residential premises) which are implemented by its subsidiaries engaged in development activities in
the ordinary course of business.

in addition to these assets, the Group classifies as inventory thase assets that are repossessed by the Group
following legal proceedings for recovery of past due amounts payable under loans and held for sale in the near
term in the ordinary course of business to cover losses arising from lending activities.

In accordance with 1AS 2, the Group measures these assets at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

Inventories are included in other assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. Net realizable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs to sell
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embadying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.

Retirement and other benefit obligations

Current pension contributions of the Group are calculated as a percentage af current gross salary payments to
employees; such expense is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period the related salaries are
earned and included into payroll and other staff costs.

In addition, Yneshecanombank operates a defined contribution pension scheme, where the Bank's obligation for
each period is determined by the amounts to be contributed for that period. Contributions made by the Bank are
recognized as expenses in the respective period.

The Group has no other post-retirement benefits or other significant employee benefits requiring accrual.
Authorized capital

Asset contributions of the Russian Federation made for the formation of the Bank’s authorized capital are
recorded in equity. Vnesheconombank's authorized capital is not divided into stocks (shares).

Dividends

Vnesheconombank neither acorues nor pays dividends,

Dividends of subsidiaries are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they
are declared before or on the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the
reporting date or propesed or declared after the reporting date but before the consolidated financial statements
are authorized for issue,

Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not reported in the consolidated financial statements, as they are not the
assets of the Group,

Segment reporting
The Group's segment reporting is based on the six operating segments disclosed in Note 8.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset s not recognized in the
consolidated staterment of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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Income and expense recognition

Inceme is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and they
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before income and
ExXpense arg recognized:

Interest and simitar income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amartized cost and interest bearing securities classified as trading or
available-for-sale, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset ar financial
liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument
and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments of receipts. The
adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the eriginal effective interest rate and the change in carrying
amoaunt is regorded as interest income or expense.

Once the recorded in consolidated financial statement value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial
aesets has been reduced due to an impairment Loss, interest income continues to be recognized using the original
effective interest rate applied to the new carrying amount.

Fee and commission income

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee
income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee and commission income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
commission income and fees for asset management, custody and other management and advisory services. Loan
commitment fees for Loans that are Likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together
with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.

Fee and commission income from providing transaction services

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party - such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses - are
recognized on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain
performance are recognized after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

Dividend income
Revenue Is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established,

(Gains and losses from transactions between entities under common cantrol

If IFRSs require transaction to be initially recognized at fair value, the transaction is recorded at fair value
regardless of the consideration received. In such cases, the difference between the fair value and
the consideration received Is recorded as an equity transaction, i.e. as a contribution to equity or payment from

Eguity.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Income and expense recognition (continued)

In all other cases, when the fair value does not equal the amount of consideration, the transaction is recorded
at the amount of consideration received, as stated in the agreement related to the transaction.

This appreach is not used to recognize a business combination or business transfer between parent company
and its subsidiary.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Russian rubles, which is the Bank's functional currency
and Growp's presentation currency. Each organization in the Group determines its own functional currency and
iterms included in the financial statements of each organization are measured using that functional curréncy.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency, converted at the rate of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the functional exchange rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Gains and losses
resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognized in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as ‘Gains less losses from foreign currencies = translation differences’. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of histarical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the Bank of Russia
exchange rate on the date of the transaction are included in 'Gains less losses from foreign currencies’. The
official exchange rates of the Bank of Russia as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 were RUB 60.6569
and RUB 72.8827 to 1 USD, respectively,

As at the reporting date, the assets and Liabilities of the Group’s erganizations whose fumctional currency is
different from the presentation currency of the Group and is not a currency of a hyperinflationary economy are
translated into Russian rubles at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, and their statements of profit
or loss are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Exchange differences arising from recognition of financial results and position of every consolidated arganization
are recognized in other comprehensive income and are presented as a separate component of equity.

On disposal of a subsidiary or an associate whose functional currency is different from the presentation currency
of the Group, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that
particular organization is recognized in profit or loss. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Disclosed below are standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group's consolidated
financial statements. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS @ Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the International Accounting Standard Board (ASE) issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial
instrurnents, which reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 Financial
instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.
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Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

Erom a classification and measurément perspective, the new standard will require all financial assets, except
equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination of the entity’s business model for
managing the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics. The 1AS 39 measurement
categories will be replaced by: fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI), and amortized cost categories. IFRS 9 will also allow entities to continue to irevocably
designate instruments that qualify for amortized cost or FYOCI instruments as FYPL, if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency. Equity instruments that are not held for
trading may be irrevocably designated as FVOCI, with no subsequent reclassification of gains or losses to the
statement of profit or loss. The accounting for financial liabilities will largely be the same as the requirements
of 1AS 39,

IFRS 9 will alse fundamentally change the approach to loan impairment. The standard will replace 1AS 9%
incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. The Group will be required
to record an allowance for expected losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not carried at FWPL, as
well as for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The allowance is based on the expected credit
lasses associated with the probability of default in the next twelve months unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, in which case the allowance would be based on the probability of default
over the life of the asset

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted.
Retrospective application is required, but restatement of comparative information is not required; the effect on
the transition date - 1 January 2018 - would be recorded in retained earnings. The adoption of IFRS 9 is
expected to have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group's financial assets, but no impact
on the classification and measurement of the Group's financial liabilities. The Group expects a significant impact
on its equity due to adoption of IFRS 9 impairment requirements, but it will need to perform a more detailed
analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking elements to
determine the extent of the impact.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the 1ASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, effective for periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. IFRS 15 defines principles for recognizing revenue and
will be applicable to all contracts with customers. However, interest and fee income integral to financial
instruments and leases will continue to fall outside the scope of IFRS 15 and will be regulated by the other
applicable standards (e.g., IFRS 9, and IFRS 16 Leases).

Revenue under IFRS 15 will need to be recognized as goods and services are transferred, to the extent that the
transferor anticipates entitlement to goods and services. The standard will also specify a comprehensive set of
disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent and timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue and
corresponding cash flows with customers.

The Group does not anticipate early adopting IFRS 15 and is currently evaluating its impact.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases

The IASB issued the new standard for accounting for leases - IFRS 16 Leases in January 2016. The new standard
does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require lessees to recognize
most leases on their balance sheets as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use assets. Lessees must
apply a single model for all recognized leases, but will have the option not to recognize ‘short-term’ leases and
leases of low-value” assets. Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognized leases will be similar
to today's finance lease accounting, with interest and depreciation expense recognized separately in the
staternent of profit or loss.

IERS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted
provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date.

The Group does not anticipate early adopting IFRS 16 and is currently evaluating its impact.
Amendments to 1A% 1.7 Income Taxes

In January 2018, through issuing amendments to IAS 12, the I1ASB clarified the accounting treatment of deferred
tax assets of debt instruments measured at fair value for accounting, but measured at cost for tax purposes. The
Group does not anticipate that adopting the amendments would have a material impact on its fimancial
statements.

Amendments to [AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

In January 2016, the |ASB issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows with the intention to improve
disclosures of financing activities and help users to better understand the reporting entities’ iquidity positions,
Under the new requirements, entities will need to disclose changes in their financial liabilities as a result of
financing activities such as changes from cash flows and non-cash items (e.g., gains and losses due to foreign
cusrency movements). The amendment is effective from 1 January 2017. The Group is currently evaluating the

impact.

Sales of Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments to IFRS 10 and
145 28

Amendments ta IFRS 10 and |AS 28 were issued in September 2014 (with latest changes on 15 December 2015);
effective date is not set. The amendments address the acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements
in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is contributed to an associate or a
joint venture. The amendments clarify that an investor recognizes a full gain or loss on the sale or contribution
of ascets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The gain or Loss resulting from the remeasurement at fair value of an investment retained in a former subsidiary
is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in that former subsidiary. The Group Is currently
evaluating the amendments’ impact.
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Summary of accounting policies [continued)
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to IFRS 15 Revenue from Controcts with Customers

Amendments to IFRS 15 were issued on 12 April 2016 and become effective for annual periads beginning an or
after 1 January 2018. The amendments do not change the underlying principles of the Standard but clarify how
those principles should be applied. The amendments clarify how to identify a performance obligation (the
promise to transfer a good or a service 1o a customer) in a contract; how to determine whether a company is a
principal {the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for arranging for the good or service to be
provided); and how to determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be recognized at a point
in time or over time. |n addition to the clarifications, the amendments include two additional reliefs to reduce
cost and complexity for a company when it first applies the new Standard. The Greup is currently evaluating the
amendments impact.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

The IASE Issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment in relation to the classification and measurement
of share-based payment transactions. The amendments are intended to eliminate diversity in practice, but are
narrow in scope and address specific areas of classification and measurement. The amendments address three

main areas:
. The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.

. The classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withhelding tax
obligations.

. The accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled,

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. On adoption, entities are
required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if
elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met, Early application is permitted, The amendments are
not expected to have any impact on the Group.

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Controcts - Amendments to IFRS 4

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments Standard, IFRS 3,
before implementing the new insurance contracts standard that the Board is developing to replace IFRS 4. The
amendments introduce two options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from
applying IFRS 9 and an overlay approach, The opticnal temporary exemptien from IFRS 9 is available to entities
whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance. The temporary exemption permits such entities
to continue to apply 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement while they defer the application
of IFRS % until 1 January 2021 at the latest. The overlay approach requires an entity to remove from profit or
loss additional volatility that may arise if IFRS 9 is applied with IFRS 4.

The temporary exemption is first applied for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, An entity

may elect the overlay appreach when it first applies IFRS 9 and apply that approach retraspectively to financial
assets designated on transition to IFRS 9. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group.
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Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

Annypl Improvements to IFRSs J014-2016 cycle

These improvements become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 for amendments
to IFRS 12, and on or after 1 January 2018 for amendments to IFRS 1 and 1AS 28. The improvements impact
three standards. The Group is currently evaluating the improvements’ impact.

The amendments clarify the scope of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 by specifying that the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12, other than those relating to summarised financial information for subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates, apply to an entity's interests in other entities that are classified as held for sale or
discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5. IFRS 1 was amended and some of the short-term exemptions
from IFRSs in respect of disclosures about financial instruments, employee benefits and investment entities were
removed, after those short-term exemptions have served their intended purpose. The amendments to 1AS 28
clarify that an entity has an investment-by-investment choice for measuring investees at fair value in accordance
with |AS 28 by a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust or similar entities including investment
linked insurance funds. Additionally, an entity that is not an investment entity may have an associate or joint
venture that is an investment entity. 1AS 28 permits such an entity to retain the fair value measurements used
by that investment entity associate or joint venture when applying the equity method. The amendments clarify
that this choice is also available on an investment-by-investment basis.

IFRIC 22 - Forelgn Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation was issued on 8 December 2016 and becomes effective for annual pericds beginning on or
after 1 January 2018. The interpretation addresses how to determine the date of the transaction for the purpose
of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part
thereof) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from an advance
consideration in a foreign currency. Under 1AS 21, the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expente or income (or part thereof) is the date
on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-maneiary Liability arising from the advance
cansideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine the date of
the transaction for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. IFRIC 22 only applies in circumstances in
which an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from an advance
consideration. IFRIC 22 does not provide application guidance on the definition of monetary and nonmonetary
items. An advance payment or receipt of consideration generally gives rise to the recognition of a nonmonetary
asset or non-monetary liability, however, it may also give rise to a monetary asset or liability. An entity may
need to apply judgment in determining whether an item is monetary of non-monetary. The Group Is currently
evaluating the interpretation's impact.

Amendments to 1AS 40 - Tronsfers of investment Property

Amendments were issued on 8 December 2016 and become effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. The amendments clarify the requirements on transfers into, or out of, investment property in
respect of properties under construction. Prior to the amendments, there was no specific guidance on transfers
into, or out of, investment properties under construction in IAS 40, The amendment clarifies that there was no
intention to prohibit transfers of a property under construction or development, previously classified as
inventory, to investment property when there is an evident change in use. IAS 40 was amended to reinforce the
principle of transfers into, or out of, investment property in IAS 40 to specify that a transfer into, or out of
investment property should only be made when there has been a change in use of the property; and such a
change in use would involve an assessment of whether the property qualifies as an investment property. Such a
change in use should be supported by evidence. The Group is currently evaluating the amendments’ impact.
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Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management 1o make judgments and estimates
related to the reported amounts, These judgments and estimates are based on information available as at the
date of the consolidated financial statements. The actual results may differ from these estimates and it is
passible that these differences may have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

The most significant use of judgments and estimates is as follows:
Fair values of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of mathematical models. The input to these madels is taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. More details are
provided in Note 37.

Fair value of investment property

The Group recagnizes land and buildings within investment property at fair value and perfarms revaluation on
a reqular basis. For this purpose, the Group engages an independent qualified appraiser. Fair values of
investment property are measured by comparing them to the market value of similar properties, as well as by
using other methods.

Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess the impairment. The Group uses its experienced
judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases where a borrower is in financial difficulties
and there are few available sources of historical data relating to similar borrowers. Similarly, the Group estimates
changes in future cash flows based on the observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in
the payment status of borrowers in a group, or natisnal er local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the group of loans and receivables.
The Group uses its experienced judgment to adjust observable data for a group of loans or receivables to reflect
current circumstances. The provision for loan impairment recognized in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2016 is RUB 806.2 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 769.8 billion). More details are
provided in Motes 14, 17 and 18,

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the geodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating wnit and to
alss choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at
11 December 2016, there was no goodwill (as at 31 December 2015: the carrying amount of goodwill is
insignificant).
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Business combinations
Acquisitions in 2016
Acguisition of LLC “VEB-fnvest”

On 30 March 2016, the Group increased its share in its associate LLC "VEB-Invest” from 19% to 100%. The cost
of acquisition paid for in cash was insignificant. The fair value and the carrying amount of the previously recorded
19% share in the capital of LLC "VEB-Invest” amount ta RUB 0.

LLC "VEB-Invest” is the parent company of a group of companies primarily engaged in the implementation of
investment projects invelving the development and construction of real estate properties of various classes in
Moscow and Bussian reglons,

The Group increased its share in the authorized capital of LLC "VEB-Invest” in 2015, as the Bank participates in
the financing of investment projects implemented by the LLC "VEB-Invest” Group,

The fair values of the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities of LLC "VEB-Invest’, as determined by an
independent appraiser, were as follows:

Fair value
refognized on
control acquisition
Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities 0.4
Property and equipment il
Other assets 174
8.4
Income tax liabilities 35
Orther Liabilitees 0.8
4.3
Tetal dentifiable net assets _H}-—
Less pon-controlling interest (2.1}
Goodwill arising on acquisition 4.3
165

Consideration transferred on acquisition

The Group decided to measure the non-controlling Interests in LLC "VEB-Invest™ at the proportionate share of
non-controlling participants in its identifiable net assets.

As a result of impairment testing, goodwill of RUB 4.3 billion was expensed and recorded within other operating
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 35).

Transactions representing previous relations between the participants of the Group within cash and amounts
due to banks with a fair value of RUB 2.0 billion and RUB 28.3 billion, respectively, at the acquisition date were
excluded in the process of accounting for the business combination. Funds provided to and received from the
Group were excluded from the identifiable assets and liabilities of the LLC "VEB-Invest’ Group, and the
consideration transferred upon acquisition was adjusted by the fair value of the funds.

The contribution of the LLC “VEB-Invest” Group to the Group's financial result was insignificant. If the business
combination had occurred at the beginning of the year, the Group's net loss would not have changed
significantly.
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Business combinations (continued)
Aoquisitions in 2016 (continued)

Acgquisition of Caspian Flat Glass I5C

On 23 November 2016, the Bank acquired a 100% interest in Caspian Flat Glass JSC engaged in production of
flat glass.

The Bank's participation in the company's authorized capital is connected with the Bank's financing of the
respective project.

The fair values of the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities of Caspian Flat Glass J5C as determined by an
independent appraiser were as follows:

Property and squipmant 49
Other assets (11

Other Liabalities 4.3

Total identifiable net assets 1.2

Goodwill arising on acguisition 1.1
Consideration transferred on acquisition 2.3

As a result of impairment testing, goodwill of RUB 1.1 billion was expensed and recorded within other operating
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or Loss (Note 35).

Transactions representing previous relations between the participants of the Group within cash and amounts
due to banks with a fair value of RUB 0.7 billion and RUB 3.0 billion, respectively, at the acquisition date were
excluded in the process of accounting for the business combination. Funds provided to and received from the
Group were excluded from the identifiable assets and liabilities of Caspian Flat Glass JSC, and the consideration
transferred upon acquisition was adjusted by the fair value of the funds.

The contribution of Caspian Flat Glass JSC to the Group's financial result was imsignificant, If the business
combination had occurred at the beginning of the year, the Group’s net loss would not have changed
significantly.

Changes in ownership interests in 2016

During 2016, as a result of additional issues of shares of PSC Prominvestbank, the carrying amount of the net
assets of PSC Prominvestbank increased, and the contribution of non-controlling shareholders was insignificant.
in addition, PSC Prominvestbank repurchased 4,303,568 shares (less than 1% of total shares) from non-
controlling shareholders and sold 4,080,103 treasury shares (less than 1% of total shares) to third parties. As a
result of the reallocation of interests between the Bank and other shareholders, the non-controlling interest
increased by RUB 0.3 billion, and the Group's uncovered Loss increased by RUB 0.3 billion.

In February 2016, Vnesheconombank made an additional contribution to the authorized capital of Infrastructure
Molzhaninove LLC in the amount of RUB 7.0 billion. As a result of the reallocation of interests between the
participants, the nan-controlling interest increased by RUB 0.5 billion, and the Group’s uncovered loss increased
by RUB 0.5 billion.
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Business combinations (continued)
Acquisitions in 2015

On 2 July 2015, Pilsen Toll s.r.0., a subsidiary of VEB Capital LLL, acquired £5% of voting shares in the holding
company United Group S.A. registered in Luxembourg. United Group S.A |5 a beneficiary owner of a metallurgical
enterprise in the Czech Republic. The Group’s participation in its authorized capital is explained by the Bank’s
financing of the respective investment project.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, as determined by an independent appraiser, were
a5 follows:

Fair walwe
recognized on
eontrol acquisition

Property and equipment 1.0
Income tax assets 0.1
Oaher assets 0.7
7.8

Income tax liabilities 0.9
Provisians (Mote 21) 0.2
Crther liabilities 0.3
14

Total identifiable net assets 6.4
Less non-cantrolling interest 0E
7.2

Consideration transferred on acquisition

Transactions representing previous relations between the acquired subsidiary and participants of the Group
accounted for within loans and other assets of the Group with a fair value of RUB 6.5 billion and RUB 0.7 billion,
respectively, at the acquisition date were excluded in the process of accounting for the business combination.
Fumds received from the Group were excluded from the identifiable liabilities of United Group S.A, and the
consideration transferred Upon acquisition was adjusted by the respective fair value of the above liabilities,

The Group decided to measure the nen-controlling interests in United Group S.A. at the proportionate share of
non-controlling shareholders in its identifiable net assets.

From the acquisition date, the contribution of United Group A to the Group’s non-interest income is
RUB 2.0 billion. Its contribution to the financial result of the Group is a loss of RUB 5.9 billion. If the combination
had taken place at the beginning of the year, the Group's net profit for 2015 would have been RUB 13.8 billion.

Changes in ownership interests in 2015

In the first quarter of 2015, following the results of the additional issue of shares of PSC Prominvestbank which
started in December 2014, the carrying amount of net assets of PSC Prominvestbank increased by
RUB 17.0 billion, and the contribution of non-controlling shareholders was insignificant. In addition,
during 2015, PSC Prominvestbank repurchased 2,164,558 shares from non-controlling shareholders and sold
2,671,090 treasury shares to third parties. In the third quarter of 2015, following the results of the next
additional issue of shares of PSC Prominvestbank which started in May 2015, the carrying amount of net assets
of PSC Prominvestbank increased by RUB 15.9 billion, and the contribution of nen-controlling sharehaolders was
insignificant. As a result of the reallocation of interests between the Bank and other shareholders, the non-
controlling interest increased by RUB 0.2 billien, and the Group's uncovered Loss increased by RUB 0.2 billion.
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Business combinations [continued)
Changes in ownership interests in 2015 (continued)

In 2015, RDIF long-term direct investment mutual fund sold and repurchased non-controlling interests in some
of its subsidiaries. The reallocation of interests resulted in an increase of the non-controlling interests by
RUB 0.9 billion.

in December 2015, Pilsen Toll s.r.0., a subsidiary of VEB Capital LLC , repurchased 150 shares of the B class from
the owners of non-controlling interests. After this acquisition, the Group's share in the authorized capital of
United Group s.a. amounts to 100%. As a result of the reallocation of interests, non-cantrolling interests
increased by RUB 1.8 billion, and the Group's retained earnings and foreign currency translation reserve
decreased by RUB 1.4 billion and RUB 0.4 billion, respectively.

Segment information

For management purposes, the Group has six operating industry segments:
Segment 1 Vnesheconombank

Seqgment 2 Sviaz-Bank, 15C "GLOBEXBANK"

Segment 3 PSC Prominvestbank (Ukraing)

Segment 4 Bank BelVEE QISC (Republic of Belarus)

Segment 5 ISC "VEB-Leasing”

Segment & VER Capital LLC, VEB Engineering LLC, FCPF, JSC "North Caucasus Development Corporation”,
ISC “The Far East and Baikal Region Development Fund®, VEB Asia Limited, Infrastructure
Molzhaninovo LLC, Resort Zolotoe Koltso LLC, Russian Export Center JSC, Caspian Flat Glass J5C,
R.G.L and other subsidiaries

Segment 1 comprises the core bank of the Group. Segment 2 comprises banks that were purchased in 2008
and 2009 to recover their financial stability in line with anti-crisis measures developed by the Russian
Government, and their subsidiaries. Segments 3 and 4 reflect the Group's banking operations in Ukraine and the
Republic of Belarus, respectively. Segment 5 reflects leasing operations of the Group. Segment & comprises
ather subsidiaries in which the Group holds a controlling ownership intenest.

Up to 31 December 2016 Rose Group Limited was included in Segment 2 as a subsidiary of 15C "GLOBEXBANK",

The aperating segments were not combined for the purpose of creating the above reporting operating business
segments.

Management of the Group monitors the operating results of each segment separately to make decisions on
allocation of resources and to assess operating performance. Segments results are defined in a different way
from that used for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, as shown in the table below. Income
taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Transfer prices between operating segments are set on an arm's length basis in a manner similar to transactions
with third parties.

In 2016 and 2015, the Group received no income from transactions with one external client or counterparty that
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's total income, except for income fram transactions with the Russian
Government and entities under the control of the Russian Federation. Such income was mainly received from
transactions within Segments 1, 2 and 5.
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8. Segment information (continued)

Information on the Income and profit of the Group's operating segments is presented below:

Total before
adjustments Adjuitresseis
aned and
1006 Segment 1 Segment 1 Segment & Segment 4 _Segment 5 Segment & eliminations eliminations  Totsl
dncome
External customers.
Inbrest ncome 1913 430 110 141 455 By 3168 = F16.8
Fee il COMPRIESION inoome: 5.4 15 [} ] T - [} 116 = 12.6
Mt gainalersses) from financeal

instruments at fair value thisugh

prafit o Lo i.8 a1 = - o7 ar 43 - 43
Mt gairsfiosses) arising from

ivvestment securitied ivaslaibla Tor

wale 155 0.3} 0.3 - - 1.4} 124 - 124
Het gainsflosses) froen forsign

CuITenches {1E.0 0.8 LT 10 ir.% (9.7 [37.6) - (37.6)
Shuee in niet profitloss) of associstes

and joieily controlled entities (L3 15 - o m L [4.5) [4.5)
Other incame 1954 BS .0 07 49 169 4486 448.6
Total extemal income #02.1 559 173 185 389 161 7618 - 762.5
Intersegment Inccme
IntEnEst ncome 156 T = - (LI 11% 41.0 [#1.0) =
Other intersegment nome s,

EEpEnsEs 9.1) 1) 01 (L1} 10 5T 116} 1.6 ot
Tedal inbersegment income 16.% 16 0.1 (0.2} 12 192 19.4 (39.4) =
Tetal Incoeme 618.6 615 17.4 183 401 453 80212 (39.4) 7618
Inderest expense 1615 [35.2) (3.5 (3.8 {20.5) (1 T P F il . (227.79)
Fee and commissicn expens [N k1] (1.2) 0.1 0.5 - i0.2) (5.4) - [5.4)
Provision for loan impaiment [424.1) [20.7) (7.6 38 28} (164  (510.4) - (510.4)
Payredl and other staff costs #5 (6.4 (1.3 {21 (L8} (6.5 (26.1) - (26.1)
Depreciation of property and

fiEpement 0.4) LLER) 05} B {105 (2.4 (5.6} - {5.6)
vy prerisions and provisions for

imnpainrert of ol Fssets 0.3} 0.5 02 = (4.8 [24.0) [19.5) - [29.8)
Oither expendss (3.5 {14.1) .4 (2.2} (18.0) (125} (646} - [fi4.6)
Total extemal expense [&605,8) [79.2) [25.1) (12.7] (755} (70.9) (BAT6) - [BGT.5)
Interiegmient EXpEndes
IRERARST Experse (9.5 (5.9) (3.3 5.1 {147} (5.2} [41.7) 41.7 -
thier ingersegEnent (expenses) (73.8) B - 0.1} (0.4 = (74.5) T4.3 =
Total intersegmenl eXpenses (3.3} £5.51 5.5) (3.2} (15.1) (5.2) (1160 1160 =
Total expenses {689.1) (85.1) {28.4) [15.9) {89.0) (764}  (9858) 1160 (8878}
Segmren rewilt [70.5) (22.6) (1109 14 [48.5) (soE  [151.4) 7.6 {104.8)
Ireorree Eax expeeTiee 7.1} = 7.1
Profit{loss] for the year [158.5) 766 (11L9)
Other segent infarmation
Capital expanditunes 44 o - 09 = iR 95
Fvetments in dstociated Snd jointy

controlled entities 345 LB L 0.1 - i3 9.7
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8.  Segment information {continued)

In 2015, the Group recognized a RUB 27.4 billion loss from impairment of available-for-sale financial assets of
Segments 1, 2 and & in gains less losses from Investment financial assets available for sale.

Total before
and and

018 Segment1 Segment? Segment Segment4 Segmant$ Segment§ eliminations eliminations Totsl
incovme
Exteamal customen
Irterest Incoma 1857 635 16,8 136 445 14 3255 - 315.3
Fee and commisshon income 45 ¥ p ) 14 - a1 11.9 - 119
et gainsflosses) from firgmgial

irstrumants at fadr value theough

prolit of loss 30 03 = - 1.8 14 78 = 19
et gainsflotses) aivng from

imvestmeend. securibies available ol

ale (27.8) nm - - - ot [28.4) - (28.4)
Het gaind(lossed) from forsgn

oaTerins (177 (18] 0.5 83 7.7 91 5.1 - 5.2
Share im met profiyToss) of associses

and jointly controlled entities 05 (L5} - - [5.5) (k] (6.5) = {&.5)
Other intome 1165 11 12 13 56 79 3546 - 3546
Total external income 4831 65,4 19.2 5.8 518 .7 &70.0 - §70.0
letersegment income
Fvlenest ingome 110 30 = - 1.0 158 418 [#1.B) =
Ortheer intersegreent income less

AR 432 0 0.5) {5.5) 07 {2.1) 3. L1 1] =
Tistal eviersegment income 16,1 % ) 10.5) (5.5) Ly 157 38.8 (38.5) =
Total income 5095 H8.6 18.7 103 55.5 164 TOR.B (38.5) &70U0
Intevest engerse (178.6) {46 4) i5.8) ] {216) [ (583 - (158.3)
Fee and commission exprg {1.08 k] {02y k)] . - (2.8} = (1.8)
Prervision for loan impadrment [154.7 (31.3) (605 (5.9 385 (m (2928 - (192,89
Payroll and otter stafl costs 7.5 (4.5) 1.6 3 (Ed ] 4.8 [24.8) - (24.5)
Depreciation of propery and

equipment on (0.8} 0.5 (0.5 (L} {0.8) 3.8 = (5.5}
Onher provisions. and provisions for

irrpairrmeent of other assety (L7 0.5 [2.4) i1y ] 2.2 (21.5) - (213}
Other expenses (174} {8.5) (1.4} i2.3) {7.6) {13.00 151.2) = (51.1}
Total extemal expense (361.5) 962} (B0.4] (16.4) {774} [22.8) (654.8) s (E654.8)
Intersegmient expeniei
IrDEr T S (1063 (105} (5.7} 2.8 {1L3) e [42.6) 43 & =
CFer interisgenent (xperses) (121.6) .13 e [k [I:IL - (1220 1210 =
Trtal intersegment pxpenses (1323 [10.5) (5.7} {28 [11.5) (17)  (1648) 164.6 =
Total expenses [(495.8)  (107.1) (86.1) {19.2) {88.7) (245)  (B19.4) 1646  [(654.5)
Segmaent reulis 15.5 (38.5) [67.4) i1 (33.2) 11.9 {1106y 1258 152
Irucimee bae expende 9.5} = {05}
W“hm 1_1.1!!9] :I.I!L! 1*—9
(eher segemanl imformation
Caginal expenditunes 05 0. ar 1.2 02 0 L] = 36
Irvestments in astociates and jointly

conbrolled entities 5.1 0& - 02 - 4.1 0.0 - 10.0
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Segment information {continued)

Reconciliation of the total segment assets to total assets of the Group according to IFRS is presented below:

2016 1015

Segment assets

Segment 1 14863 L0564
Segment 2 414.2 623.1
Segment 3 75.1 1174
Segment 4 1217 1288
Segment 5 439.9 5514
Segment 6 1215 354.2
Total before deducting intersegmant assets 3,B58.7 48413
Intersegment JSSe1s [395.7) (583.5)
Adjustments 110.4 1246
Tkl st 3,573.4 4,382.4

Reconciliation of the total segment liabilities to total liabilities of the Group according to IFRS is presented
below:

2016 2015

Segment Liabilities

Segrment 1 2.515.5 25013
Segment 2 380.2 &05.5
Segment 3 6.1 165.4
Segment 4 108.0 114.1
Segment 5 4047 5471
Segment & 1656 149.9
Total before deducting intersegment labilities 14359 44855
Ingersegment Liabilities [395.7) (583.5)
Adjustments [26.5) 18
Total liabilithes 3077 39016

The adjustments of intersegment income and expenses, as well as the Group's assets, are related to the
accounting differences due to the following reasons:

. as & result of transactions made with foreign subsidiaries in currencies other than the reporting currency
of the Group;

® due to the repurchase of debt securities issued by the Group entities or other deals with financial
instruments between the Group entities;

» due to a reversal of allowances for the impairment of intersegment assets, created by Group entities.

52



VEB Group Motes wo 2016 consolidated
financial statements

{in bitlions of Russian rubles, unless atherwise stated)

Segment information (continued)
Geographical information

Allocation of the Group's interest income from transactions with external clients in Russia, Ukraine, and other
countries, and non-current assets based on the Location of these clients as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 and
for the years then ended is presented in the table below:

2016 2015
Other Other
Russia Ukraine __ countries Total Russia Ukraine  countries Total

Irterest income from
extemal clients 1917 11.0 14.1 5168 294 8 168 156 325.3
Hon-cument Jasets 514 6.5 5.2 1031 546 9.5 5.8 719

Mon-current assets include property and equipment and intangible assets.

Operations with the Russian Government, its authorized institutions and the Bank of Russia

Amounts due to the Russian Government, its authorized institutions and the Bank of Russia consisted of the
following:

2016 2015
Interest-bearing loans and depasits from the Federal Treasury 2810 1811
Interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Bank of Russia 1939 5743
Settlements related to redemption of Russian Government loans Te7 &3.0
Deposits of non-budgetary funds - 254
Repurchase agreements with the Bank of Russia - 641
Dther funds 0.2 03
Amounts due to the Russian Government, its institutions and the Bank of Russia 553.8 706.4

During the first quarter of 2016, as a part of the government support measures the Bank raised long-term and
short-term financing on conditions that allowed the Bank to record a gain on initial recognition in the amount
of RUB 134.9 billion within “Government grants™ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. During the third
quarter, at maturity, the short-term financing was extended on the same conditions, thus allowing the Bank to
record an additional gain of RUB 2.5 billion within *Government grants” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. In the fourth quarter, the financing was extended, which allowed the Bank to record an additional gain
of RUB 5674 billion within "Government grants™ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. A5 at
31 December 2016, the carrying amount of liabilities related to the funds raised amounts to RURB 95.9 billion
and RUB 62.1 billion, respectively.

As at 31 December 2016, interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Bank of Russia also include loans in the
amount of RUB 30.7 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 294.3 billion) secured by the pledge of the rights of claims
under loans to customers in the amount of RUB 387 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 434.9 billion) (Note 17}
In 2016, the Group repaid short-term and long-term loans of the Bank of Russia secured by bank guarantees
(carrying amount as at 31 December 2015: RUB 77.3 billion). In 2016, the total amount of the redeemed Loans
from Bank of Russia was RUB 90.1 billion.

As at 31 December 2016, interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Bank of Russia also include loans in the

amount of RUB 1.8 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 1.1 billior) secured by the pledge of the rights of claims
under amounts due from banks in the amount of RUB 4.5 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 1.6 billion) (Note 14).
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Operations with the Russian Government, its authorized institutions and the Bank of Russia (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Federal Treasury include federal budget
funds of RUB 45.7 billisn and RUB 553 billion maturing injuly and September, respectively, placed in
accordance with Decree Mo, 1495 of the Russian Government, On the Rules for Depositing Federal Budget Funds
with State Corporation “Bank for Development and Forelgn Economic Affairs (Vnesheconombank)’, dated
10 December 2015, at the key rate of the Bank of Russia in order to support liquidity.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, interest-bearing loans and depasits from the Federal Treasury
represent ruble-denominated funds of the Mational Welfare Fund of the Russian Federation ["MWF") placed as
deposits with Vnesheconombank in accordance with Federal Law No. 173-FZ in the amount of RUB 57.7 billion
(31 December 2015: RUB 728 billion) at annual interest rates of 625% and 7.25% maturing from
Movember 2017 to December 2020 (31 December 2015: at annual interest rates of 6.25% and 7.25% maturing
from Mowvember 2017 to December 2020). In 20186, two deposits from the Federal Treasury in the nominal
amount of RUB 16.0 billion were early repaid,

As at 31 December 2016, Interest-bearing loans and depesits from the Federal Treasury also include ruble-
denominated funds of the NWF in the amount of RUB 37.4 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 36.5 billion) placed
as deposits with Vnesheconombank in accordance with Federal Law No. 173-FZ at an annual interest rate of
6.25% maturing in May 2020 for providing loans to JSC “The Agency for Housing Mortgage Lending”
{JSC "AHML") (Note 17).

As at 31 December 2016, interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Federal Treasury also include ruble-
denominated funds of the NWE in the amount of RUB 17.8 billion placed as deposits with Vnesheconombank in
accordance with Decree Mo, 18 of the Russian Government dated 19 January 2008, One of these deposits was
placed at the rate below the market level. During the reporting year ended 31 December 2016, a gain of
RUB 1.0 billian on initial recognition was recognized within "Government grants™ in the consolidated statement
of profit or Loss.

As at 31 Decernber 2016, interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Federal Treasury include a deposit for
acquisition of a ruble-denominated financial asset (Mote 19) maturing Inlune 2020 in the amount of
RUB 45.4 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 49.9 billion). In September 2016, upon expiration, the agreement was
extended at a below-market rate, The Bank derecognized the initial liability and recognized a new one. There
was no movement in cash flows, During the reporting year ended 31 December 2016, a gain of RUB 5.1 billion
on initial recognition was recognized within “Government grants” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, interest-bearing loans and deposits from the Federal Treasury
include a ruble-denominated deposit intended to finance banks and legal entities within the state program
supporting small and medium enterprises, through JSC SME Bank, a subsidiary. As at 31 December 2018, such
deposit amounted to RUB 16.3 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 16.3 billion).

During the reporting year ended 31 December 2015, a change in contractual terms resulted in a gain from
government grants of RUB 13.1 billion which was recognized within “Government grants” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

In September 2014, an agreement for depositing foreign currency funds of the NWF with Vnesheconombank in
the total amount of USD 288 million (equivalent to RUB 11.0 billion as at the agreement date) was signed. As at
11 December 2016, the deposit placed until 26 September 2034 amounted to RUB 4.5 billion (31 December 2015:
RUE 5.0 billion). These funds are placed subject to Resolution Mo. 18 of the Russlan Government dated
19 January 2008.
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Operations with the Russian Government, its authorized institutions and the Bank of Russia (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not enter into any transactions under repurchase agreements with the
Bank of Russia. As at 31 December 2015, under the repurchase agreements with the Bank of Russia, the Group
sold debt securities with a fair value of RUB 57.8 billion, subject to repurchase. Pledged securities are classified
as trading financial assets with a fair value of RUB 4.4 billion (Note 12), investment financial assets available for
sale with a fair value of RUB 58.2 billion, investment financial assets held to maturity with a fair value of
RUB 5.2 billion (Note 13).

Settlements related to the redemption of Russian Government loans represent funds received from borrowers
as repayment for loans granted by the Russian Government. These funds and the processing of payments are
managed and conducted by the Bank in accordance with the Agency Agreement. As at 31 December 2016 and
11 December 2015, these amounts are classified as due to the Russian Government.

Im 2016, the Group repaid ruble-denominated deposits of non-budgetary funds placed with subsidiary banks
(carrying amount as at 31 December 2015: RUB 23.6 billion).

Subordinated deposits

In accordance with Resolution Mo, 2750-r of the Russian Government dated 30 December 1015, the terms of
depositing the funds of the NWF with Vnesheconombank, which were previously provided in accordance with
Resolution Mo, 174%9-r of the Russian Government dated & September 2014 for the total nominal amount of
USD 5,966 million, were amended as follows: prolongation of the deposit period until 26 September 2034,
reduction of the interest rate to 0.25% p.a. and intreduction of a three-year grace period for interest payments.
As at 51 December 2016, such deposits amounted to RUB 92.5 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 102.1 billion).

In September 2015, pursuant to Resolution No. 2756-r of the Russian Government dated 29 December 2014, a
subsidiary bank entered into agreements with the State Corporation Deposit Insurance Agency under the state
program for the additional capitalization of Russian banks, According to the terms of the agreements, the Bank
received five subordinated loans in the total amount of RUB 11.9 billion carrying interest ranging from
12.8% p.a. to 12.9% p.a. and maturing from lanuary 2025 through December 2034 in the form of Russian State
Bonds (OFZ) of five issues which should be returned upon the maturity of subordinated loans. In accordance
with IAS 39, securities received under an agreement stipulating for their return to the transferor, as well as a
related Liability to return, aré not subject to recognition in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in terms of the placement of funds of the National Welfare Fund in 2015

In 2015, due to significant changes in terms of placement of NWF funds earlier deposited with
Vnesheconombank subject to Resolution No, 1749-r of the Russian Government dated & September 2014 and
Resolution Mo. 18 of the Russian Government dated 19 January 2008, in the total nominal amount of
USD 6.3 billien, the Bank derecognized liabilities in the total carrying amount of RUB 41B.9 billion and
recognized a new liability. Gain on a new instrument provided by the state at the rate below market level was
recorded as a government grant as provided to compensate expenses recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for 2015 and prior reporting periods. The government grantis recognized in full amount of
RUB 312.3 billion within "Government grants” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. There were no
cash flows involved.

55



11.

12.

VEB Group Motes to 2016 consolidated
fimancial statements

(in billfens of Russion rubles, unless otherwise staled)

Agency operations

Ag at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, other assets and liabilities maintained by Vnesheconombank
under the applicable Agency Agreement represent predominantly claims against fareign governmental and
corporate debtors, former USSR companies, Russian state companies, and non-club debt to foreign creditors.

Vnesheconombank is not a legal obligor or creditor under the above categories of state external debt or
government external assets and, therefore, the corresponding amounts were not included in the Group's
consolidated statement of fimancial position.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
1015
1016 [Restated)

Cash on hand 156 24.0
Current accounts with the Bank of Russia 20.8 41.0
Correspandent nostro accounts with banks and current acoounts with other nan-

banking organizations:

= Russian Federation 16.5 M.l

- other countries E36 914
Interest-bearing loans and deposits with banks maturing within 90 days 1875 627
Reverse repurchase agreements with banks for up to 90 days 46,3 210
Other cash equivalents " 08
Cash and cash equivalents 550.1 522.1

At 31 December 2016, reverse repurchase agreements include loans of RUB 37.1 billion (31 December 2015:
RUE 11.5 billion) provided to banks and secured by corporate bonds with a fair value of RUB 40.5 billion
(31 December 2015: RUB 13.5 billion). At 31 December 2016, reverse repurchase agreements include loans of
RUB 9.2 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 9.5 billion) provided to banks and secured by corporate shares with a
fair value of RUB 12.3 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 11.3 billion).

In February 2012, under a financing agreement with the Russian Bank Capitalization Fund (the RBCF),
Vneshecanombank transferred USD 250 million (RUB 7.5 billion at the date of transfer) to the International
Finance Corporation (IFC) At 31 December 2016, a part of these funds in the amount of RUB 0.2 billion
{31 December 2015: RUB 0.5 billion) was tempaorarily invested in money market instruments maturing in l25s
than 90 days. For the reporting year ended 31 December 2016, a portion of unused funds in the amount of
USD 3.2 millign (RUE 0.2 billion at the date of transfer) was returned. At 31 December 2015, USD 192.0 million
(RUB 124 billion) was returned (Note 13).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

1016 2015
Trading financlal assets 0.5 a8
Diertvative financial assets Mote 15) 4.7 2.7
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss 140 41.1
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19.2 51.6
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss include investments in associates in the amount
of RUB 2.2 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 17.0 billion). As at 31 December 2015, this category alse included
investments in jointly controlled entities in the amount of RUB 13.4 billicn that meet the criteria to be
designated as at fair value through profit or loss since the Group management measures the performance of
these investments in terms of changes in their fair value based on quoted prices in an open market, valuation
models, using both observable and non-observable market data. The change in the amount of investments in
associates and jointly contralled entities that meet the criteria to be designated as at fair value through profit
ar loss was due to the deconsolidation of Mutual Fund RDIF as at 30 June 2016 (Mote 4).

Trading financial assets held by the Group comprise:

1016 2015

Equity securities 0.2 6.8
Debt securitios
Eurcbonds issued by the Russian Federation 0.2 0.4
Eurcbonds of Fussian and foreign issuers 01 0.5
Russian State bonds (OFZ) = 0.6

03 1.5
Ortther diebt financial assets = 0.5

0.3 .0
Trading financial assets 0.5 8.8

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as
collateral under repurchase agreements. As at 31 December 2015, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements comprised Russian State Bonds (OFZ) in the amount of
RUB 4.0 billion and corporate bonds in the amount of RUB 0.4 billion (Note 13).

In mid-December 2014, the Group changed its intentions to hold securities classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or Loss for the purpose of selling in the near term. The decision was due to the uncertainty
i the market and a number of negative factors that were considered “rare circumstances” and included, ameng
ather things, a considerable increase in the CBR's key rate and, as a consequence, a liquidity deficit. On
31 December 2014, the Group reclassified a portion of securities out of financial assets at fair value through
profit or Loss to the following categories.

Reclassified assets as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are presented in the table below:

Trading financial assets were
reclassified ta

Available-for-sale  Held-to-maturity

_ financial assets  financial assets

Carrying amount of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2016 ir 0.5
Fair value of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2016 17 03
Fair value gain that would have been recognized on the reclassified assets for

the year ended 31 December J016 if the reclassification had not been made (0.1} =

Gainlosses) recognized in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2016, including:

- interest income 0.2 01
- gain on disposal 0.8 ;
Carrying amount of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2015 6.9 16
Fair value of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2015 6.9 1.6
Fair value loss that would have been recognized on the reclassified assets for the

year ended 51 December 2015 if the reclagsification had not been made 0.8 {0.1)

Gaing/lotses) recognized in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2015, including:
- interest income 15 01
- gadm on dispasal 0B =
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Trading financial assets were classified as investment financial assets held to maturity, as the Group has the
intention to hold such assets until their maturity.

Financial assets lent and pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements

Financial assets lent and pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements comprise:

2014 2015
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged as collateral under
repurchase agreements (Mote 17} - 4.4
Irvestment financial assets lent and pledged as collateral under repurchase
agresments (Hote 19) 13 619
Investment financial assets held to maturity pledged as collateral under
repurchase agreements (Mote 19) 1.1 45
Amounts due from banks pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements
(Hate 14) = 0.3
Loans to customers pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements (Note 17) 14 0.5
Total financial assets lent and pledged as collateral under repurchade
agreements 47 780
Amounts due from banks and treasury
Amounts due from banks and treasury comprise;
2015
2016 (Restated)
Obligatory reserve with central banks 3.2 5.5
Mon-intergst-bearing depasits 40.9 413
Interbank Lloans and term interest-bearing deposits with banks 55.6 15.2
Export financing 7.7 19
Mortgage bonds 6.4 15
Amaunts due from treasury 1.1 -
959 TLS
Less allowance for impairment (3.5) {3.2)
Amounts due from banks and treasury 2.3 68,3
Amaounts due from banks pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements
(Mote 13) - 0.3
Amourts due from banks and treasury, including those pledged as collateral under
repurchase agreements 923 BE.&

As at 31 December 2016, non-interest-bearing deposits include amounts placed on the correspondent account
with the Bank of Russia for a designated purpose in the total amount of RUB 37.8 billion (31 December 2015:
RUEB 40.6 billion) (Note 40).

As at 31 December 2016, non-interest-bearing deposits with banks with a carrying amount of RUB 1.7 billion
are pledged as collateral under loans raised from the national bank of a foreign state (Note 16). As at
31 December 20186, Interbank loans and term interest-bearing deposits with banks with a carrying amount of
RUB 4.5 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 1.6 billion) are pledged as collateral under loans received from the
Bank of Russia [Mote 9).

As at 31 December 2016, interbank loans and term interest-bearing deposits with banks include loans of
RUB 22.4 billion issued to a former subsidiary bank, which became an associate bank in the second quarter
of 2016 (Mote 40).
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Amounts due from banks and treasury (continued)

Obligatory reserve with central banks includes cash non-interest-bearing deposits (obligatory reserves)
maintained by the Group's subsidiary banks with the Bank of Russia and the National Bank of the Republic of
Belarus. The amount of these reserves depends on the level of funds attracted by the bank. The banks ability to
withdraw such deposits is significantly restricted by statutory legislation. Pursuant to law, Ynesheconombank
creates no abligatory reserve to be maintained with the Bank of Russia.

Movements in the allowance for impairment of amounts due from Banks and treasury were as follows:

Disposal group
1016 016 2015

At 1 Jamuary 51 55 15
Charge 04 0.2 b6
Reclassification of the provision for the dispasal group = = (5.9
Dispesal of a subsidiary Mote 16) - (6.1) -
At 31 December 3.6 = 3.2
Subordinated loans to banks

As at 31 December 2016, subordinated loans issued to banks include loans in the amount of RUB 52.3 billion
{31 December 2015: RUB 50.4 billion), issued to eleven Russian banks in accordance with Federal Law
Mo.173-FZ carrying interest at 65%pa. and 7.5%pa. and maturing from November 2017 through
December 2020,

As at 31 December 2016, subordinated loans to Russian banks include a loan of RUB 5.1 billion issued to a
former subsidiary bank, which became an associate bank in the second quarter of 2016 (Note 40).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters inte derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The table below shows the fair
values of derivative financial instruments, recorded in consolidated financial statements as assets or Liabilities,
together with their notienal amgunts. The notional ameunt, recorded gross, &S the amount of a derivative's
underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are
measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are not
indicative of the credit risk.

2016 2015
MHetional Fair valisg Motional Fair value
principal Asset Liability principal Azzet Liability
Forgign exchange contracts
Forwards and swaps - foreign 50 0z = 48,7 01 -
Forward contracts for equity
financial insEruments 1.3 0 - 11 0.3 -
Interest rate swaps
Foreign contracts 6.0 - 0.2 10.1 - 0.5
Option contracts with foreign
CuTENLY 51 25 - 49 23 =
Cross curmency interest rate swaps 0.3 - 0.3 182 - 13
Total derivative assets/iabilities 4.7 0.5 L e

In the table above, foreign contracts are understood as contracts concluded with non-residents of the Russian
Federation, while domestic contracts are contracts concluded with residents of the Russian Federation,

Derivative financial assets are included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 12).
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)
As at 31 December 2016, the Group has positions in the following types of derivatives:
Forwards

Forwards are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a specific price and date
in the future, Forwards are customized contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market.

Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange movements in interest and foreign
exchange rates and equity indices, and (in the case of credit default swaps) to make payments with respect to
defined credit events based on specified notional amounts.

Dptions

Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser to buy ar sell
a specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a
specified period.

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes

Most of the Group's derivative trading activities relate to deals with banks. The Group may take pasitions in
derivative financial instruments with the expectation of profiting from favorable movements in prices, rates or
indices. Positions in derivative financial instruments may be closed by taking an offsetting position. This item
also includes derivatives that do not qualify for hedging in accordance with IAS 39,

MWon-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

Mon-curnent assets held for sale comprise:

2016 2015
Mon-curment ataets held for sale:
Azsets of disposal groups held for sale = 1228
Asiets held for sale 1530 144
150 1372

Total non-current assets held for sale

As at 31 December 2016, disposal groups’ non-current assets and liabilities held for sale decreased following
the transfer in April 2016 of 100% shares in JSC SME Bank classified as a disposal group as at 31 December 2015.
Pursuant to Decree No. 287 of the President of the Russian Federation dated 5 June 2015 and Federal Law
No. 156-FZ dated 29 June 2015, On Amendments to Certain Legisiative Acts of the Russian Federation Regarding
Measures for Further Development of Small and Medium Enterprises in the Russian Federation, Wnesheconombank
paid for an additional issue of shares of JSC RSMB Corporation with the shares of ISC SME Bank that it owns
(Motes 4, 21 and 30).

Loss of RUB 0.5 billien on initial recognition of leans issued under the program of extending loans to small amd
medium enterprises through JSC SME Bank was recorded in the line "Net gains/{losses) on initial recognition of
financial instruments, restructuring and early repayment” of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for 2016,

Gain of RUB 1.0 billion on initial recognition of loans granted by the Bank of Russia for the purposes of further
issue to banks through JSC SME Bank under the program of extending loans to small and medium enterprises
was also recorded in the line “Government grants” of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2016.
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Mon-current assets held for sale and disposal groups (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, assets held for sale comprise assets of a subsidiary leasing company in the amount of
RUB 13.0 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 13.3 billion) since management intends to sell them within one year
fram the date of initial classification.

Loans to customers
1016 1015
Loans 1o customers 26909 334354
Less allpwance for impadrment (TEL4) 763.1)
Loans to customers 1,904.5 21,5803
Loans to customens pledged as collateral under repurchase agresments 14 0.9
Total loans to customers pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements 14 0.9
Total loans to customers including those pledged as collateral under repurchase
. 1,905.9 1,581.2
Loans to customers Emﬁiﬁ:
2016 1015
Project financing 1,519.4 1,655
Commercial loans, including loans to individuals T46.5 11069
Financing of operations with securities 2004 3271
Export and pre-export financing f4.1 1004
Reverse repurchase agreements 416 46.0
Back-to-back financing 571 565
Clairms wnder letters of oredit 177 19.4
Mongage bands 56 71
Promissory notes L 3.6
Other 225 434
1.690.9 3.3434
Less allowance for imgairment [(786.4) (TE31)
Loans to custamers 1,504.5 2,580.3
Loans to customers pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements (Mote 13)
Other 14 (1R
Total loans to customers pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements 14 04
Loans to customers, including those pledged as collateral under repurchase
agreements 1,905.9 2,581.2

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Bank entered into an agreement for providing project financing at
the below-market interest rate. Loss of RUB 2.9 billion was recorded upon initial recognition of the respective
commitment in the line “Net gains/{losses) on initial recognition of financial instruments, restructuring and early
repayment” of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the
loan was RUB 2.9 billion, the carrying amount of the commitment to provide the loan at the below-market
interest rate recognized in “Other Liabilities” was RUB 2.5 billion.

As at 31 December 2016, martgage bonds represent debt securities in the amount of RUB 5.6 billion maturing
in 2044-2047 (31 Decemnber 2015: RUB 7.1 billion maturing in 2044-2047), with an interest rate below market
level, purchased by Ynesheconombank under Vnesheconombank's 2010-2013 Investment Program to Support
affordable housing construction and mortgage projects.

As at 31 December 2015, loans in the amount of RUB 38.7 billion related primarily to project financing and
commercial lending are provided as collateral for funds raised from the Bank of Russia (31 December 2015
RUB 434.9 billion) (Mote 9).
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Loans to customers (continued)
Individually impaired loans
Coliateral and other credit enfancements

The amount and type of collateral required by the Group depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the
counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation
parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

" for export and pre-export financing - pledges of claims for revenues under export contracts, pledge of
supplied property, guarantées and warranties;

. for financing operations with securities and reverse repurchase transattions - cash or securities;

" for project financing and commercial lending - charges over real estate properties, inventory, and trade
receivables, securities and other claims to third parties,

" for leans to individuals - mortgages over residential properties and other subject matter of lending.

The Group also obtains guarantees from the Russian Government, parent companies for loans to their
subsidiaries, and other guarantees from third parties as collateral for loans issued.

As at 31 December 2016, reverse repurchase agreements with a carrying amount of RUB 1.2.0 billion were signid
primarily in respect of marketable corporate bonds with a fair value of RUB 1.1 billion and marketable shares
with a fair value of RUB 8.2 billion. As at 31 December 2015, reverse repurchase agreements with a carrying
amount of RUB 13.7 billion were signed primarily in respect of marketable corporate bonds with a fair value of
RUB 0.1 billlen and marketable shares with a fair value of RUE 9.9 billion.

Reverse repurchase agreements also include loans to state-related entities with a carrying amount of
RUB 11.2 billion as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: RUB 11.9 billion), and a loan to an entity not
related to the Bank with a carrying amount of RUB 18.4 billien as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015:
RUE 20.4 billion). Previously, the Bank provided RUB 263 billion to state-related entities through the
acquisition of non-marketable shares in other state-related entities.

Concentration of loans to customers

As at 31 December 2016, the total outstanding amount of loans to three major borrowers/groups of related
harrowers was RUB 613.9 billion, equivalent to 22.8% of the Group's gross lean portfolio (31 December 2015:
RUE 579.8 billion or 17.3%). As at 31 December 2016, an impairment allowance of RUB 35.8 billion was made
against these loans (31 December 2015: RUB 201.0 billion). As at 31 December 2015, these loans included loans
issued to an associate of the Group involved in the real estate business, which accounted for 6.7% of the Group’s
grass loan portfolio,

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, in addition to the Group's three major borrowers mentioned
above, loans were issued to ten major borrowers/groups of related borrawers in the amount of RUB 488.7 billion
and RUB 722.7 billion, or 18.2% and 21.6% of the Group's gross loan portfolio, respectively. As at
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, an impairment allowance was created for these loans in the total
amount of RUE 144.3 billion and RUB 1589 billion, respectively.
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Leans to customers [continwed)
Concentration of loans to customers (continued)

Loans have been granted to the following types of customers:

2016 2015

Private enterprises 1.836.1 17197
State-contralled entities (Russian Federation) 650.9 4054
Individuals D86 Br.1
Companies under foreign state control a7.0 758
Farelgn states 386 45.7
Individual entreprensurs 10 1.3
Regional authorities 0.1 0.8
16923 5.544.5

Loans are made principally in the following industry sectors:

2016 3 2015 *
Manufacturing, incliding heas machinery

and production of military-related goods 7817 9 9115 i8
Finance companies 7420 18 B19.5 25
Real estate and construsction 350.% 13 14 18
Mgriculiure 1745 & 1965 &
Individuals 8.6 4 Br.2 L
Electric ensrgy 948 4 1130 5
Transport B5.4 3 1155 5
Mining 75.7 5 837 ]
Trade 134 L 920 3
Dil and gas B4 F) 858 ]
Mital lurgy 55.7 2 &5.0 ]
Foreign states 3B.6 i 45.7 1
Telecommunications 178 1 18.7 1
Lawgistics 18 0 B85 a
Science and education 11 0 18.5 i
Qther 323 1 51.5 1
26925 100 5.544.3 100

As at 31 December 2016, loans and similar debt included a total of RUB 2,128.2 billion granted to companies
and individuals operating in Russia, which is a significant concentration of 79.0% (31 December 2015
RUB 2,401.4 billion, which is a significant concentration of 72.0%).
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Met Investments in leates

Met investments in leases comprise:

2016 2015
Gross investments in leases 5857 4537
Less unearmed finance lease ingome (5.8} (107.1)
199.9 1466
Less allowance for impairment [156.3) (3.5)
Met investments in Leases 185.6 343.1

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, certain leased-out assets were pledged as collateral under
loans received. As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the amount of net investments in leases related
to assets pledged as collateral under loan agreements was RUB 39.1 billion and RUB 59.1 billion, respectively,

As at 31 December 2016, the share of the largest Russian lessee was RUB 76.5 billion, or 25.5% of total net
investments in leases befare allowance for impairment. The second largest amount of net investments in leases
issued to the group of related lessees was RUB 35.5 billion or 11.8% of total net investments in leases before
allowance for impairment. As at 31 December 2015, the amount of allowance with respect to the assets
attributable to the first lessee is RUB 0.4 billion, and the amount of allowance with respect to the assets
attributable to the second group of related lessees is RUB 0.1 billion. The mentioned lessee and the group of
related lessees operate in the transport sector.

A5 at 31 December 2015, the share of the largest Russian lessee was RUB 101.4 billion, or 29% of total net
investments in leases before allowance for impairment. The second largest amount of net investments in leases
issued to the group of related lessees was RUB 36.7 billion or 11% of total net investments in leases before
allowance for impairment. As at 31 December 2015, the amount of allowance with respect to the assets
attributable to the first lessee is RUB 0.3 billion, and the amount of allowance with respect to the assets
attributable to the secend lessee is RUB 0.3 billion. The mentioned lessee and the group of related lessees
operate in the transport sector.

Below is the maturity profile of gross and net investments in leases as at 31 December 2016:

Mot later than Later than
1 year 1o 5 years 5 years Total
Gross investments in leases 981 086 E4.0 1857
Less ungarned finance lease income (.8} 47.0) (32,00 (85.8)
Met investrments in leases before
allowance 91.3 1564 52.0 199.9

Below is the maturity profile of gross and net investments in leases as at 31 December 2015:

Mot Later than Later than
1 year 1to 5 years 5 years Taotal
Gross investments in leaies 910 21455 1172 4557
Less unearned finance lease income (6.4] (58.3) (42.4) (107.1)
Met Imvestments in leases before
allovwance B4.6 187.2 T4.8 146.6

&b
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Met investments in leases (continued)

Movements in the allowance for impairment of net investments in leases are as follows:

2016 2015
At 1 January 55 41
Charge 0.7 303
Write-affs (7.8) (30.9)
Translation differences {0.2) =
At 31 December = 16.2 1.5
Individual impairment 142 05
Collective impairment 20 26
i6.2 35
Total net investments in Leases, individually assessed as impaired, before
allowance for impairment L 1.0
Investment financial assets
Investment financial assets available for sale
Ireestment financial assets available for sale comprise:
2016 2015
Equity securities
Linits 171.8 5.0
Shares and participation interests 62,1 15946
1559 1026
Dbt securities
Corporate bonds 90.7 517
Flussian State bonds (0FZ) 199 350
Deba instruments issued by foreign government bodies 260 215
Municipal and sub-federal bonds 19 48
158.5 115.0
Eurcbonds of Russtan and foreign issuers 555 5.6
Eurobonds issued by the Russian Federation 6.9 8.8
2009 156.4
Orther financial assets available for sale 355 319
Less allowance for impairment (Note 24) = 01
Investment financial assets available for sale 470.3 5908

An increase in equity securities as at 31 December 2016 as compared to 31 December 2015 was due to the Bank
classifying 100% units in Mutual Fund RDIF in the amount of RUE 170.0 billion as investment financial assets
available for sale as a result of the deconsolidation of the fund (Note 4). As at the reclassification date, these
units amounted to RUB 158.9 billion. Also, the amount of shares and participation interests decreased due to
the Group’s disposal in the third gquarter of 2016 of securities amounting to RUB 111.1 billion as at
31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group pledged securities with a fair value of RUB 0.5 billion (31 December 2015:

RUB 1.1 billion) as collateral against interbank loans in the amount of RUB 2.0 billion (31 December 2015:
RUB 0.8 billion) (Note 2&).

&7
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Investment financial assets (continued)
Investment financial assets available for sale (continued)

Investment financial assets lent and pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements comprise:

2016 2015

Eurgbonds istwed by the Russian Federation 0.1 11
Eurabonds of Russian and foreign issuers - 1.9
0.1 30
Corporate bonds a4 55.4
Russian State bonds (OFZ) - 4.5
21 9.9

Totad investrmeent financial assets avallable for sale lent and pledged as collateral
under repurchase agreements (Note 13) 1.1 62.9

At a result of the sale of investment financial assets available for sale for 2016, the Group realized part of the
accumulated revaluation previously recorded in equity and transferred it to “Net gains/(losses) from investment
financial assets available for sale” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The realized revaluation gain
amounted to RUB 14.3 billion (for 2015, the realized revaluation loss amounted to RUB 2.3 billion) (Note 34).

As at 31 December 2016, equity securities include the Bank's investments with a fair value of RUB 1.3 billion
(31 Decemnber 2015: RUB 1.1 billion) in the Russian Bank Capitalization Fund (the RECF) (Mote 11).

The Group recognized an impairment loss of RUB 3.1 billion on available-for-sale financial assets for the
reporting year ended 31 December 2016 (for the year ended 31 December 2015: RUB 27.4 billion} in "Net
gains/(losses) from investment financial assets available for sale” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
(Mote 34).

In June 2012, as a result of the early repayment of subordinated loans by a Russian bank Vnesheconombank
recelved a financial asset with a fair value of RUB 47.7 billion and classified it as available for sale. This financial
asset represents rights for bank’s shares and the Bank's Liability to sell the shares of the mentioned bank pursuant
to @ written American call option exercisable in a period of eight years. Pursuant to the option agreement,
Vnesheconombank receives a fixed premium on a semiannual basis, which is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in interest income from other investment financial assets available for sale.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Group reclassified certain financial assets that meet the definition of
loans and receivables and financial assets held to maturity from the available-for-sale category, as the Group
has the intention and ability to hold such assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity. The assets were
reclassified as at 1 October 2014 and 31 December 2014 at fair value as at these dates. The impact of
reclassification is as follows:
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Investment financial assets (continued)

Investment financial assets available for sale (continued)

Carrying amount of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2016
Fair value of reclassified assets as at 51 December 2016
Fair value gain that would have been recognized on the reclassified assets for the
year ended 51 December 2016 if the reclassification had not been made
Gains/(losses) recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2016, including:
- Interest income
- provision fos impairment of interest-garning assets
- amprtization of revaluation casts

Carrying amount of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2015
Fair value of reclassified assets as at 31 December 2015
Fair value gain that would have been recognized on the reclassified assets for the
year ended 31 December 2015 if the reclassification had nat been made
Gains/{Losses) recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 Decemnber 2015, including:
- inferest income
- provision for impairment of interest-garning asets
- amortization of revaluation costs

[nvestment financial assets held to maturity

Investment financial assets held to maturity comprise:

Carporate bonds

Municipal and sub-federal bonds
Rugsian State bonds (OFZ)

Eurobonds of Russian and foreign issuers

Total imvestment financial assets held to maturity

Investment financial assets avallable

for sale were reclassified to
Investment
Loans and financial assets
receivables held ta maturity
ik% 122
119 1.7
14 10
1.6 19
0.1 -
0.7 0.5
4.3 191
136 9.1
1.2 4.6
3.2 4.0
(0.1) =
10.7) 0.7
2016 2015
11.4 19.3
1.1 0.4
03 0.3
i3.8 100
5.2 15
1E.0 2T.5

Investment financial assets held to maturity pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements Comprise:

Ewrobands of Russian and foréign IS5uers

Corporate bonds

Municipal and sub-federal bonds
Taotal Investment financial xsets held to matwrity pledged as collateral under

repurchaieé sgreermerts

2016 2015
1.1 23
- 6.4
= 0.8
11 9.5

&%
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Special purpose accounts

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, special purpose accounts primarily representing corespondent
accounts with forelgn banks were opened by Vnesheconombank as authorized agency of the Russian
Government based on intergovernmental agreements on the settlement of debt of foreign states to the Russian
Federation in order to record repayments of previously issued government Loans (Note ).

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities

The Group's major associates accounted for under the equity method in the financial statements are presented
in the table below:

Associates and jointly controlled Ownership Carrying amount Country of
entities 2016 2015 2016 2015 incorporation  Type of activity
15C “R5MB Corporation” IT.5% = 115 - Russia Finance
LLE "WEB-Irmest” - 1590075 - - Russia InsesEment
Share af assets:
Orther associates 111 9.5
Orther jointly controlled entities 19 11
40.5 1.6

Provision for impainment of investments in associates

{Note 24) (0.8) i0.7)
Total carrying amount of investments in associates and jointly

controlled entities, net of provision — 9.9

On 30 March 2016, the Group increased its share in its associate LLC "VEB-Invest” from 19% to 100%. The fair
value and the carrying amount of the previously recorded 19% share in the capital of LLC WEB-Imvest” amount
to RUB 0.

In April 2016, pursuant to Decree Mo, 287 of the President of the Russian Federation dated 5 June 2015 and
Federal Law Mo. 156-FZ, On Amendments to Certain Legislative Acts of the Russian Federation Regarding Measures
for Further Development of Small and Medium Enterprises in the Russion Federation, dated 29 June 2015,
Vnesheconombank purchased an additional issue of shares in JSC "RSMB Corporation” with a fair value of
RUB 3000 billisn (Note 18).

In August 2016, the Bank made an additional contribution to the authorized capital of Asia Cement LLC by means
of converting part of the debt under an earlier provided loan into capital on the basis of an offset of mutual
homageneous claims of the Bank and the company. The Bank's share in the authorized capital of the company
it 49%. Pursuant to the current version of the company's Charter, its participants jointly control Asia Cement LLC.

On 31 December 2016, carrying amount of investment in Asia Cement LLC was RUE 1.0 billion.

o
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Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (continued)
The following table illustrates financial information on a significant associate:
15C "RSMB Corparation” 1016
Cash and cash equivalents 513
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss iz
Financial assets pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements 56
amounts due from banks 891
Loans to customers 15.1
Inwestment financial assets;
- available for sale 9.2
= held to maturify 113
Income tax asseis 140
Property and equipmant 0.1
Intangible assets 0.2
Other assets —4'6
Total assets 1758
Amounts due to banks 356
hmounts due to the Bank of Russla 389
Amounts due to Customers 5.7
Debt tecurities issued 21
Subordinated deposits a0
Prowisions 41
Ouher liabilities 1.8
Total liabilities |
Met assets 78.6

For the year ended
I5C "RSMB Conporation” 31 December 2016
Imterest income 154
Interest expense (7.0
Prawision for impairment of interest-bearing assets [6.7)
Moaon-knterest Income 09
Hon-interest expense (8-3)
Profit/(loss) before income tax (6.3)
Income tax expense __:I.ﬂn
Profit/[loss) for the year (5.3)
The Group’s share in profit/loss) for the year (2.0}
Total comprehensive income,(loss) for the year —
Total Group's share [n comprehensive income/loss) (2.0
Dividends received from the associate for the year _IPL

In 2016, the Group's share in the loss of individually insignificant associates amounted to RUB 2.6 billion (2015:
share in loss was RUB &.2 billion).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group's unrecognized share in the loss of its associates for the year was
intignificant (31 December 2015: RUB 7.1 billion). As at 31 December 2016, the Group's total unrecognized
share in the accumulated loss of its associates amounted to RUB 22.9 billion (31 December 2015:
RUB 22.9 billion),

In 2016, the Group's share in the loss of individually insignificant jointly controlled entities amounted to
RUB 0.3 billion (2010 5; share in Loss was RUB 0.5 billion).
7l
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VEB Group Motes o 2016 consalidated
financial statements

{in billions of Russian rubles, uniess otherwise stabéd)

Property and equipment (continued)

In 2016, @ subsidiary leasing company transferred a number of finance lease properties to property and
equipment and leased them out under operating leases of RUB 39.0 billion (accumulated depreciation amounted
to RUB 0.6 billionk

Taxation
Income tax comprises:
2016 2015
Current tax charge ) i1
Deferred tax expensefbenefit) = origination and reversal of temporary
differencas in the statement of profit or loss 4.4 [1.9)
Income tax expense 7.1 0.3

Deferred tax recorded in other comprehensive income relates primarily to unrealized gains/ (losses) from
transactions with investment securities available for sale.

Russian legal entities must file individual tax declarations. The tax rate for profits other than on state securities
was 20% for 2016 and 2015. The tax rate for interest income on state securities was 15% for federal taxes.

The aggregate income tax rate effective in the Republic of Belarus was 15% for 2016 and 2015, The aggregate
income tax rate effective in Ukraine was 18% for 2016 and 2015.

In accordance with federal legislation, effective from the reorganization date income and expenses received and
paid by Vnesheconombank are not accounted for when determining the taxable base for income tax purposes.
Therefore, the income and expenses of the Bank for 2016 and 2015 are not included in the taxable base for
income tax purposes, which had a significant impact on the Group's effective income tax rate for 2016 and 2015.

At 31 December, the Groups income tax assets and liabilities comprise:

2016 2015
Current income fax asset 0.8 20
Deferred income tax asset 5.7 9.3
income tax assets 6.5 11.3
Current Income tax liability 0.5 0.3
Deferred income tax labslity 137 10.2
Income tax liabilities 14.2 10.5
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Taxation (continued)

The effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rates. A recenciliation of the income tax
expense based on the statutory rate with the actual income tax expense is as follows:

Profit/|loss) before income tax
Statutory tax rate
Theoretical income tax expense/[benefit) at the statutory rate

Tax ¢ffect from the fallowing income ond expenses;

Hon-taxable income on state securities or taxed at different rates

Income taxed at different rafes

Hon-taxable income and non-deductible expenses

Translation differences

VYnesheconombank's income and expenses not included in the tax base for
INCOmMe (K pUnposes

Change in income tax resulting from a change in the tax rate and other changes
in tax legistation

Change in defered tax assets unrecognized in the statement of financial position

Other

Income tax expense

2016 2015
{104.8) 15.2
20% 20%
{21.0) 3.0
(0u6) 04
14 0.4
4.4 15
i0.4) 11
(2.5} [14.5)
0.8) 0.1
74.8 19.3
19 {11.8)
7.1 0.3
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VEB Group Hotes l:;:::{ﬁiainsnsnm:‘e:

{in billlons of Russion rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Other impairment and provisions

The movements in other impairment allowances and provisions were as follows:

Asgpis and
Iveztment liabilities of Guaranties
fimancial  Imvestments ditsposal Ingurance and
aisets  in assoclates Other assels  group Claims activity commitments  Total
31 Decermber 2014
{Restated) 01 - 11.2 - 03 14 3T irF
Change a1 .7 5.4 - 04 1.5 a1 113
Write-offs - - 1.0 = LA ] = 21 (3.8
Reclassificatisn of provision
Tor disporsad groups 01 . {1y 5] - = o) =
Effect of busingss
; '||'II'!'|I:I:H5!] - - = - 0.2 3 " 0.2
11 December 1015 a1 T 189 (] 03 40 10,0 554
31 December 2015 01 or 189 04 0 4.0 10,0 554
Chasge(reversal) 1) ol b6 a3 (R 353 0.7} 9.8
Write-offs - - (0.2} - (DB = {1.5) (2.3
Translation differences - - i1.5) - - = (2.2) LA ]
Diapaial of subsidiarses
{Mates 4 and 14) - w 10-2) iL.2) = = - (1.4)

Provision for impairment of assets is deducted from the carrying amount of the related assets. Provisions for
claims, insurance activity, guarantees and commitments are recorded in liabilities.

For 2016, a subsidiary accrued a provision for unearned insurance premium of RUB 21.8 billion under an
agreement for the insurance of a loan to finance export-oriented production (Note 24

Other assets and liabilities
Other assets Comprise:
2015

1016 (Riestated)
Sentlements with suppliers and other debiors 461 448.2
Investment property 300 8.4
Advances issued (o leasing equipment suppliers 122 447
inventories of non-banking subsidiaries 19.2 257
Investment property under construction 116 1.2
Repassessed collateral 73 B.5
Equipment purchased for leasing purposes LY 411
Fees and commissions and ather claims under loan transactions 15 51
Intangible assets 7 4.4
Settlements on outstanding operations with securities 24 0.2
Prepaid expenses 1.3 30
Other Lax assets 1.2 15
Amounts due from the Russian Governmient 0.4 0.5
Precipus metals 0.3 0.3
Spat transactions 01 0.1
Prepald securities = 14
Dther 4.5 0.9

157.4 197 4

Less allowance for impairment of other assets (Note 24) (23.6) (18.9)
Other assets 1538 178.5
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VEB Group Motes to 2016 consolidated
fimancial statements

{in billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Other assets and liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2016, amounts due from the Russian Government include claims to the Russian Ministry of
Finance of RUB 0.4 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 0.5 billion) related to prior year settlements.

The decrease in other assets of the Group during 2016 was primarily due to the decrease in advances issued 1o
leasing equipment suppliers of RUB 22.5 billion, and the decrease in the value of equipment purchased for
leating purposes of RUB 37.3 billion, following the transfer to lessees of equipment purchased by a subsidiary
leasing entity under lease agreements.

Investment property

investment property of the Group comprises real estate properties and land plots held by the Group for capital
appreciation, as well as rented office space. Information on investment property is presented below:

1016 2015

At 1 January 84 8.3
Additions 07 06
Repossessed collateral ol 0.6
Acquisitions thraugh business combinations 1L} -
Revaluation 05 {0.4)
Disposals {0.1) 0.2)
Reclassification to property and equipment = 0.4)
Reclassification to assets held for sale {1.4) =
Transfer from ather assets 01 0.3
Other (0.6 (0.4)
At 31 December 50.0 84
Ampants recarded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss;

- rental Income 23 0.2

- pperating expenses affecting rental income (0.4} =

- pperating expenses not affecting rental incame {0.4) -

There are no restrictions regarding the sale of investment property of the receipt of profit and proceeds from its
disposal

Intangible assets

Included in other assets are intangible assets in the amount of RUB 5.4 billion (31 December 2015:
RUB 6.7 billion), less accumulated amortization of RUB 2.7 billion (31 December 2015:RUB 2.3 billion). In 2015,
the Group disposed of intangible assets in the amount of RUB 0.6 billion (2015: RUB 0.6 billizny, less
accumulated amortization of RUE 0.4 billion (2015: RUB 0.6 billion). The respective amortization charges
for 2016 are RUB 0.8 billion (2015: RUB 0.9 billion), which are included in other operating expenses.
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VEB Group Motes to 2016 consolidated
financial statements

{in billions of Russion rubles, unless otherwise statéd)

Other assets and liabilities (continued)

Other labilities
Orther liabilities comprise:
016 2015

Deferred income related to government assistance 10.0 115
Other seftlements with clients 91 4.7
Advante procesds from sale of property 5.6 .Y
Future period income 4.6 71
Advances received from lessees 5y 6.1
Liabilities on loans bearing a below-markeq interest rate 54 =
Other tax liahilities 31 =
Settlements with employees 29 16
Oher settlements with banks .0 30
Settlements on operations with securities a1 0.2
Received and unused subsidies = 16
Spot transactions - 0.1
Othir 1.7 4.9
Other liabilities 62 48.5

As at 31 December 2016, other liabilities include deferred income related to government assistance, which
represents asset contributions of RUB 7.5 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 8.5 billion) provided by the Russian
Ministry of Industry and Trade to Vnesheconombank as compensation for part of the costs related to supparting
the manufacturers of high-tech products, as well as a subsidy of RUB 2.5 billion (31 December 2015:
RUB 3.0 billion) received by a subsidiary bank inJune 2015 as an asset contribution provided by the Russian
Ministry of Industry and Trade as compensation of a shortfall in income on loans granted to support the
manufacturers of high-tech products.

Amounts due to banks

Amounts due to banks comprise:

1016 2015
Comrespondent loro accounts of Russian banks 10.5 1152
Comrespondent loro acoounts of other banks % | 7
Loans and other placements from OECD-based banks 211.3 4185
Loans and other placements Trom Russian banks 770 2570
Loans and other placements from other banks 1383 1194
Repurchase agreements 4.2 E6
Collaveral on securities lent 0.1 =
Armounts due to banks ; G44.5 1,019.4
Held as security against letters of credit 0.3 0.2

As at 31 December 2016, loans and other placements from OECD-based banks include loans primarily
denominated in RUB, USD and EUR with annual interest rates ranging from 8.5% to three-month MosPrime plus
2.4% for RUB-denominated loans (31 December 2015: from 8.5% to three-month MosPrime plus 2.4%), from
three-manth LIBOR plus 0.2% to 5.7% for USD-denominated loans (31 December 2015: from three-month LIBOR
plus 0.2% to 7.6%), from 0.6% to 6.3% for EUR-denominated loans (31 December 2015: from six-month EURIBOR
plus 03% to 6.6%). As at 31 December 2016, there were no GBP-denominated loans (31 December 2015:
GBP-denominated loans raised at 5.7%). As at 31 December 2016, this item does not include deposits held as
security against letters of credit (31 December 2015: included such deposits).
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VEB Group Hotes to 2016 consolidated
financial statements

(i billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise statéd)

Amounts due to banks [continued)

As at 31 December 2016, loans and other placements from Russian banks include leans denominated in RUB,
USD and EUR with interest rates ranging from 6.2% to 17.5% for RUB-denominated loans (31 December 2013:
from 4.0% to 18.5%), from 0.5% to 8.2% for USD-denominated loans (31 December 2015: fram 0.5% to B.8%),
from 0.5% to 8.5% for EUR-denominated loans (31 December 2015: from three-month EURIBOR plus 5.1% to
5.0%). As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, this item also includes deposits held as security against
letters of credit.

As at 31 December 2016, loans and other placements from non-OECD-based banks include loans denominated
in RUB, USD, EUR, BYM and LUAH with interest rates of 10.3% for RUB-denominated loans (31 December 2015:
10.1%), from six-month LIBOR plus 3.2% to six-month LIBOR plus 4.9% for USD-denominated loans
(31 December 2015: from 1.9% to 7.0%), from 0.5% to 1.9% for EUR-denominated loans (31 December 2015:
from 3.0% to six-month EURIBOR plus 4.0%). As at 31 December 2015, loans and other placements fram non-
OFECD-based banks also include loans denominated in BYM with interest rates ranging from 4.4% o 18.0%
(31 December 2015: 29.1%) and loans denominated in UAH with interest rates of 16.0% (31 December 2015:
22.1%). As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, this item also includes deposits held as security against
letters of credit.

As at 31 December 2016, loans and other placements from ather banks include loans from foreign banks in the
amount of RUB 2.0 billlon collateralized by debt instruments issued by foreign government bodies with a
collateral value of RUB 0.5 billion and leans from national banks of foreign states with a collateral value of
RUE 1.7 billion. As at 31 December 2015, loans and other placements from other banks include loans frem
fareign banks in the amount of RUB 0.3 billion collateralized by debt instruments issued by foreign government
bodies with a collateral value of RUB 1.1 billion.

As at 31 December 2016, repurchase agreements with banks include loans of RUB 1.9 billion received from
Russian banks and collateralized by debt securities available for sale with a fair value of RUB 2.1 billion, loans
of RUB 1.0 billien received from Russian banks and collateralized by debt securities held to maturity with a fair
value of RUB 1.1 billion. As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, repurchase agreements with banks
under loans received from Russian banks and collateralized by equity securities available for sale were
insignificant {(Mote 13).

As at 31 December 2016, repurchase agreements with banks include loans of RUB 1.3 billion received from
Russian banks, collateralized by debt securities and included in loans to customers with a fair value of
RUB 1.4 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 0.6 billion and RUB 0.9 billion, respectively), and loans of
RUB 0.1 billion received fram Russian banks, collateralized by debt securities and included in amounts due from
banks with a fair value of RUB 0.1 billion (31 December 2015: RUE 0.2 billion and RUB 0.3 billion, respectively).

In 2016, the Group raised long-term financing frem OECD-based banks totaling RUE 0.8 billion (2015:
RUE 7.2 billion) and repaid long-term financing of RUB 109.5 billion (2015: RUB 104.8 billien) in accordance
with the contractual terms. In 2016, the Group also raised long-term financing from non-QECD-based barnks
totaling RUB 25.0 billion (2015: RUB 3.0 billion) and repaid long-term financing of RUB 20.7 billion (2013:
RUE 23.4 billign) in accordance with the contractual terms,

In addition, in 2016, a leasing company of the Group raised long-term financing from Russian and foreign banks
totaling RUB 45.0 billion (2015: RUB 12.0 billion) and repaid long-term financing of RUB £9.7 billion (2015:
RUE &3.5 billizn) In accordance with the contractual terms,



7.

VEB Group Haotes to lﬂ-llE: consolidated
financial statemeants

{in billions of Russion rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Amounts due to customers

Amounts due to custtomers comprise:

2016 2015
Cwrrent accounts 983 2050
Term depasits 4358 4372
Repurchase agreements = 0.1
Amounts due 10 customers 332.1 642.3
Held as security sgainst guarantees 0.3 L6
Held as security against letters of credit 1.8 30

Reduction of current accounts balances as at 31 December 2016 as compared to 31 December 2015 was due to
reduced balances on current accounts of a state-related customer.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, amounts due to the Bank's four largest customers amounted
to RUB 121.E billion and RUB 149.9 billion, respectively, representing 22.9% and 23.3%, respectively, of the
aggregate amounts due 1o customers,

Amounts due to the ten largest customers include accounts with customers operating in the following industry
Sectors:

1016 2015
Finance servioes BES T4
Manufacturing, including heavy machinery and production of military-redated goods 545 TS
Agriculiure 14.1 14,1
Mining 118 =
Telecommunications 110 387
188.3 157.7

Term deposits include deposits of individwals in the amount of RUB 1388 billion (31 December 2015:
RUB 140.2 billion). In accordance with the Russian Civil Code, the Bank and its Russian subsidiaries are obliged
to repay such term deposits upon the demand of the depositor. In accordance with the Banking Code of the
Republic of Belarus, the Belarusian subsidiary bank is obliged to repay the term deposits of individuals within
five days of the demand of the depositor, If 3 term deposit is repaid upen the demand of the depositor prior to
maturity, interest on it is paid based on the interest rate for demand deposits, unless a different interest rate is
specified in the agreement. In accordance with the Civil Code of Ukraine, the return of a fixed-term deposit and
the accrued interest on demand of the depositor before expiration of their term or before occurrence of other
circumstances specified in the agreement is only possible if it is explicitly provided in the deposit agreement.

Amounts due to customers include accounts of the following types of customers:

2016 1015
Private companies 2230 165.8
State and state-controlled entities 145.6 i06.2
Employees and ather individuals 1564 161.7
Companées under foreign state control 7.1 8.6
Amounts due to customers 5311 6423

As at 31 December 2016, there are no repurchase agreements with customers. As at 31 December 2015,
repurchase agreements with customers include funds of RUB 0.1 billion received from a Russian entity and
collateralized by debt securities available for sale with a fair value of RUE 0.1 billion (Mote 13).

81



28,

VEB Group Motes to 2016 consolidated
financial statements.

{Tn billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise stated)

Debt securities issued
Debt securities Issued comprise:
2016 2013

Eurgbonds issued 5167 7039
Doenestic bonds 4711 4576
Promissory notes 56.7 184
Saving and deposit certificates 0l 10
Debt securities issued 1,024.6 1,179.9
Pramissory notes held as collateral against guarantees 10 0.9

As at 31 December 2016, debt securities issued include Eurobonds placed at the market rate denominated in
USD maturing from February 2017 to November 2025 (31 December 2015: from May 2016 to Movember 2023),
in EUR maturing from February 2018 to February 2023 (31 December 2015: from February 2018 to
February 2023). Debt securities issued included no Eurobonds denominated in CHF (31 December 2015:
maturing in February 2016).

As at 31 December 2016, included in debt securities issued are bonds placed at the market rate denominated in
RUB maturing from lanuary 2017 to September 2032 (31 December 2015: from April 2016 to September 2031),
denominated in USD maturing from May 2017 to July 2025 (31 December 2015: from May 2017 to July 2025),
as well as bonds denominated in BYR maturing in September 2017 (31 December 2015: from September 2016
to December 2016)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group's debt securities issued include interest-bearing promissory notes
denominated in RUB, maturing before December 2049 (31 December 2015: maturing before December 2049),
denominated in USD, maturing before August 2019 (31 December 2015: before August 2019) and denominated
in EUR, maturing before December 2017 (31 Decermber 2015: before March 2016). As at 31 December 2016,
interest rates range from 0.1% to 13.5% on RUB-denominated promissory notes (31 December 2015: from B.5%
to 13.5%), from 0.3% to 1.6% on USD-denominated promissory notes (31 December 2015: from 0.3% to 1.6%)
and on a collateralized EUR-denominated promissory note issued by a subsidiary bank at the rate of 0%
(31 December 201 5: 0%).

As at 31 December 2016, debt securities issued include RUB-denominated saving certificates issued by a
subsidiary bank at interest rates from 0.1% to 0.5% maturing from October 2019 to February 2022 and
USD-denominated deposit certificates issued by a subsidiary bank at interest rates from 7% to 9.8%, maturing
from January 2017 to September 2017, EUR-denominated deposit certificates at interest rates from 6.5% to
8.5%, maturing from April 2016 to February 2017, no UAH-denominated deposit certificates (31 December 2015:
saving certificates issued at Interest rates from 0.1% to 0.5%, maturing from July 2019 to February 2021;
USD-denominated deposit certificates issued at interest rates from 9% to 12.1%, maturing from December 2015
to December 2016: EUR-denominated deposit certificates issued at interest rates from 3.3% to 11.5%, maturing
fram January to December 2016; UAH-denominated deposit certificates issued at interest rates from 23% to
24%, maturing from February to December 2016).
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Finance lease liabilities

Liabilities under finance lease agreements at 31 December 2016 are analyzed as follows:

Later than 1 year
Mot later than  but not Later than
1 year 3 years Later than § years Total
Minimiem lease payrments 97 7.3 4.3 813
Prepaid financial expenses (0.1) {1.8) {3.5) (5.4)
Het liabilities under finance lease
agreements 9.6 155 0.8 s 759

Liabilities under finance lease agreements at 31 December 2015 are analyzed as follows:

Hat Lster than
1 year 1to 5 years Later than 5 years Taotal
Minifmsm Lease payments 118 454 544 1116
Prepaid financial expenses = {15 .3 {5.7)
Met liabilitles under finance lease
agreements 11.8 439 50.2 105.%

The decrease in finance lease liabilities, primarily representing the Group's liabilities under finance leases of
aviation equipment, from RUB 105.9 billion as at 31 December 2015 to RUE 75.9 billion as at 31 December 2016
was due to the currency revaluation under foreign currendy agreements concluded by a subsidiary LEasing company
and planned repayment of Liabilities.

Equity
Authorized capital

In accordance with Article 18 of the Federal Law, the Bank's authorized capital is formed, in particular, from
asset contributions of the Russian Federation made according to resolutions of the Russian Government.

In March, June and September 2016, Vnesheconombank received subsidies from the federal budget in the form
of asset contributions of the Russian Federation of RUB 73.8 billion, RUB 35.7 billion and RUB 40.5 billion,
respectively, to compensate for part of costs related to the fulfillment of obligations in 2016 arising from foreign
borrowings in the capital markets. The subsidies for these purposes totally amounted to RUB 150.0 billion.

Additional paid-in capital

The Bank's additional paid-in capital is formed, inter alia, from federal budget subsidies in the form of asset
contributions of the Russian Federation for the purposes set by Federal Laws of the Russian Federation.
Vnesheconombank used all the funds to acquire units in Mutual Fund RDIF,

InJune 2016, in order to implement Federal Law, On the Federal Budget for 2015 and for the 2016 and 2017
Planned Period, the Bank used RUB 1.6 billion to purchase shares additionally issued by JSC "The Far East and
Baikal Region Development Fund®. As a result, these subsidy funds received by the Bank in December 2015 as
an asset contribution of the Russian Federation for the implementation of priority investment projects in the
Baikal region under the state program “Secial and Economic Development of the Far East and the Baikal Region”
were recorded within additional paid-in capital.
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Equity [continued)

Additional paid-in capital (continued)

in October 2016, the subsidy of RUB 3.1 billion received by Vesheconombank in September 2016 from the
federal budget in the form of an asset contribution of the Russian Federation for the purchase of shares in
JSC REC in order to increase charter capital of EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA under the subprogram “Estabiishing the
National System to Support the Development of the Foreign Economic Activity” of the state program of the Russian
Federation "Development of the Foreign Economic Activity” was transferred to EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA as intended.

In December 2016, the Bank received a subsidy of RUB 2.1 billion from the federal budget as an asset
contribution of the Russian Federation in order to increase share capital of J5C "Morth Caucasus Development
Corporation” for the purposes of creating a medical cluster on the Caucasian Mineral Waters territory and
implementing investment projects. Vnesheconombank used all the funds to acquire additionally issued shares
in JSC “Morth Caucasus Development Corporation” (Mote 42).

Iin December 2016, the Bank received a subsidy of RUB 1.3 billion from the federal budget as an asset
contribution of the Russian Federation in order to make a contribution to the share capital of 15C "The Far East
and Baikal Region Development Fund® for the implementation of priority investment projects in the Far Eastern
Federal District.

In December 2016, the Bank received a subsidy of RUB Q.7 billion from the federal budget as an asset
contribution of the Russian Federation in order to further contribute to the share capital of J5C REC to ensure
establishment of the national export support system.

Retalned earnings/funcovered loss)

This reserve is formed on a cumulative basis from the date of establishment of the Bank, and mainly intludes
uncovered loss for 2015 and a loss attributable to the Russian Government for the reporting year of 2016,

In 2016, included within this line was a loss of RUB 4.1 billion related to the Bank's free-of-charge transfer to
the state treasury of the Russian Federation of assets reécelved as a loan compensation. The federal budget
for 2017 provides for subsidies to be granted to Vnesheconombank in 2017 in order to compensate for the loss.

Changes in equity

Pursuant to Decree Mo, 287 of the President of the Russian Federation dated 5 June 2015 and Federal Law
Mo, 156-FZ, On Amendments to Certain Legislative Acts of the Russion Federation Regarding Measures for Further
Development of Small and Medium Enterprises in the Russian Federotion, dated 29 June 2015, in April 2016
Vnesheconombank paid for an additional issue of shares of 15C * RSMB Corporation”™ with the shares of J5C SME
Bank that it owns. In accordance with the agreement, Vnesheconombank transferred 19,240 shares [100%) of
J5C SME Bank in payment for 3 million shares additionally issued by I5C "R5MEB Corporation” with a total value
of RUB 30 billion (Mote 4). The Bank's interest in the share capital of JSC "RSMB Corporation” is 37.5%. As a
result of the transaction, the Group's share capital and uncovered loss increased by RUB 1.0 billion (Note 40).

As on 2lune 2016 Federal Law No. 154-FZ, On the Russian Direct Investment Fund, became effective,
Vnesheconombank distributed 100% of shares in RDIF Management Company LLC to the Russian Government,
deconsolidated Mutual Fund RDIF (Mote 4) and reclassified 100% of units in the fund as investment financial
assets available for sale, at their fair value at the date of reclassification. As a result of the above transactions,
uncovered loss, unrealized revaluation of financial assets available for sale, foreign currency translation reserve
and non-controlling interests decreased by RUB 7.4 billion, RUB 6.9 billion, RUB 0.2 billion and RUB 1.4 billion,

respectively (Mote 40),
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Equity (continued)

Mature and purpose of other reserves

Linrealized gains/{iosses) on investment financlal assets available for sale
This reserve records fair value changes on available-for-sale investments.

The movements in unrealized gains/(losses) on investment financlal assets available for sale are as follows:

2016 2015

Unrealized gains on investment financial assets available for sale 7.9 5.6
Realized lossesfgains) on investment financial assets available for sale,

reclassified to the statement of profit or loss (Mote 34) (14.5) FR
Impairment loss on investment financial assets available for sale, reclassified to

the staterment of profit or loss 33 116
Change in unrealized gains/{losses) on operations with investment financial

assets available for sale %9 0.5
Foreign currency transiation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Commitments and contingencies

Operating environment

The Russian, Belarusian and Ukrainian economies are vulnerable to the market downturns and BLonomic
slowdowns elsewhere in the world,

Russia continues economic reforms and the development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required
by a market economy. The future stability of the Russian economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and
developments and the effectiveness of the economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the
Russian Government.

The Russian econamy is still affected by sanctions imposed on Russia by a number of countries.

InJuly 2015, in addition to Vnesheconombank, the US sectoral sanctions were imposed on the Group’s
subsidiaries.

The exchange rate of the Russian ruble fluctuated in Line with changes in oil prices. Following the drop in the
exchange rate in early 2014 (to RUB 83.5913 to the US dollar) and increasing oil prices, the Russian ruble
strengthened, with the exchange rate of RUB 60.6569 to the US dollar by the year-end.

In January 2015, Fitch Ratings downgraded Russia's credit rating to BBB-, the credit rating assigned by Moady's
was Baa3, while Standard & Poor's cut it to BB+ for the first time in a ten-year period. In February 20135, Moody's
downgraded Russia’s rating from Baa3l to Bal.

In combination, these factors resulted in reduced access to capital, a higher cost of capital, higher inflation and
uncertainty about economic growth, which could adversely affect the Group's financial position, results of
aperations and business prospects.
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Commitments and contingencies (continued)
DOperating environment (continued)

In January 2015, international rating agencies downgraded Vnesheconombank ratings. The long-term foreign
currency issuer default rating assigned by Fitch was BEB-, the long-term foreign currency issuer credit rating
assigned by Moody's was Baa3, the long-term credit rating for foreign currency obligations assigned by Standard
& Poor was BB+. In February 2015, Moody's downgraded the long-term foreign currency credit rating of
Vnesheconombank to Bal.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank ratings have not been changed.

In February 2017, Moody's changed its outlook on the long-term foreign and local currency credit rating of
Vnesheconombank from Megative to Stable. Standard &Poor’s also changed its outlook on long-term credit
ratings of Vnesheconombank from Negative to Developing in March 2017,

The Group's management takes into consideration the factors above and believes that it takes appropriate
measures to suppert the sustainability of the Group’s business in the current circumstances.

As an emerging market, the Republic of Belarus does not possess a well-developed business and regulatory
infrastructure that would generally exist in more mature market economies. Since 1 January 2015, the Belarusian
economy has ceased to be treated as hyperinflationary. The future stability of the Belarusian economy depends
to a large extent on the reforms and developments and the effectiveness of the economic, financial and
monetary measures taken by the Belarusian Government.

In 2016, the Government of the Republic of Belarus continued to apply stabilization measures aimed at the
support of the economy In order to overcome the Consequences of the world financial crisis. The world financial
crisis led to an uncertainty in respect of further economic growth, availability of financing and cost of capital,
which could adversely affect the Group's financial position, results of operations and business prospects.

In 2015-2016, the economic and political situation in Ukraine deteriorated significantly. This resulted in a
decreased gross demestic preduct, significant negative foreign trade balance and a drastic reduction in foreign
currency reserves. Moreover, during the peried from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2016, the Ukrainian hryvnia
depreciated against major currencies by approximately 69%, and the Mational Bank of Ukraine imposed certain
restrictions on transactions in foreign currencies, as well as on certain international settlements, including
dividend payrments. International rating agencies downgraded Ukraine’s sovereign debt rating. In March 2015,
Ukraine completed its negotiations on the program for extending loans with the International Monetary Fund,
which may require taking certain austerity measures. The combination of these events resulted in the
deterioration of liquidity and tighter credit conditions when lending is available.

In March 2017, Ukraine imposed one-year sanctions on banks with Russian participation, including
PSC Prominvestbank, that forbid withdrawal of capital outside Ukraine to its related parties.

Infarmation about the risk the Group is exposed to in Ukraine as at 31 December 2016 is provided in Note 8
“Segment information”. As disclosed earlier, Segment 3 includes P5C Promimvestbank: its income/expenses,
profit/loss, assets and liabilities, and represents the Group's banking activity in Ukraine. As at 31 December 2016,
assets of the Group exposed to the risks of consequences arising from the situation in Ukraine comprise loans
issued by the Group's subsidiary with a carrying amount of RUB 24.7 billion net of allowance (allowance for
impairment of these loans amounted to RUB 22.4 billion as at 31 December 2016), and other assets in the
amount of RUB 4.8 billion (allowance for impairment amounted to RUB 4.8 billion). As at 31 December 2015,
leans to customers of the Group's subsidiary amounted to RUB 27.0 billion (allowance for impairment amounted
to RUB 20.1 billion), and other assets in the amount of RUB 5.3 billion (allowance for impairment amou nted to
RUB 4.8 billion).
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Commitments and contingencies (continued)
Operating environment (continued)

The Groups management also believes that as at 31 December 1016 the risks of consequences caused by the
situation in Ukraine could also affect Vnesheconombank's loans issued to third parties for the acquisition of
securities and financing of steel companies of Ukraine with a carrying amount of RUB 7.3 billion before
allowance (31 December 2015: RUB 618.2 billion). Allowance for impairment of these loans as at
%1 December 2016 amounted to RUB 67.3 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 183.0 billien). Decrease in carrying
amount and allowance for impairment caused by transfer of the loans (Note 40).

The Group continues to monitos the situation in Ukraine and take corresponding measures to minimize the effect
of these risks. Further potential deterioration of the current situation in Ukraine may have a negative impact on
the Group's financial position, which at present is hardly determinable.

Legal issues

The Group is involved in a number of legal actiens related to the Group's ordinary activities. Management
believes that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse
affect on the financial condition or the results of future operations of the Group. Movement in pravisions for
legal claims is disclosed in Note 24.

Taxation

A major part of the Group's business activity is carrled out in the Russian Federation. Some provisions of the
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation as currently in effect are vaguely drafted, are often unclear,
contradictory, and subject to varying interpretations (which may have the retrospective effect), In addition, the
provisions of the Russian tax law applicable to financial instruments (including derivative and securities
transactions) are subject to significant uncertainty and lack interpretive guidance. Management's interpretation
of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant
regional or federal authorities.

From 1 January 2015 new rules for taxation of controlled foreign companies as well as conceptions of beneficial
owner and tax resident of legal entities took place. The adoption of this law generally leads to increase in the
administrative and in several cases tax burden for the Russian entities that have subsidiary structures
incorporated cutside the Russian Federation and/or carry out transactions with foreign companies.

Interpretation of the said provisions of the Russian tax legislation along with recent trends in law enforcement
practice points to possible increases in both the amount of tax paid and tax penalties, among other things, due
to the fact that the tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation and application
of various provisions of this legislation and performing tax reviews. It is therefore possible that at any time in
the future the tax authorities may challenge transactions and operations of the Group that have not been
challenged in the past. As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed by the
relevant authorities. At the same time, determination of size and possibility of adverse results of such tax claims
could not be measured. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three
calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group's management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is
appropriate and that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained.
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Commitments and contingencies (continued)
Commitments and contingencies

As at 31 December, the Group’s commitments and contingencies comprised:

2016 2015
Undrawn loan commitments 4169 LI5.4
Guarantess 6534 428.7
Lemers of credit 109 191
1,061.2 983.2
Operating lease commitments

Mot later than 1 year 5.0 11
Later than 1 year but not Later than 5 years 4.8 6.2
Later than 5 years 48 4.7
1.6 14.0
Co-investment commitments ) L7
Capital expenditure commitments 47.6 82.8
11261 1,085.7
Less provisions [Mote 24) [5.3) (1009
Commitments and contingencies [before deducting collateral) 1,120.8 1,075.7

Less cash and promissory notes held as security against guarantees and Letters of
credit [3.4) 4.7}
Commitments and contingencies 11174 1,071.0

As at 31 December 2016, the Group advised export letters of credit of RUB 38.6 billion (31 December 2015:
RUBE 117.4 billion). The Group bears no credit risks under export letters of credit.

As at 31 December 2016, credit-related financial commitments include Liabilities in favor of one counterparty, a
state company, in the amount of RUB 15%.4 billion, which accounts for 153% (31 December 2015:
RUB 198.6 billion, 20%) of all credit-related financial commitments.

In 2016, as part of its expert Suppert activities, the Bank issued a USD-denominated guarantee for a Russian
company in the amount of RUB 182.0 billion as at 31 December 2016.

In 2016, the Bank issued significant RUB-, USD- and EUR-denominated guarantees for its customers totaling
RUB 114.9 billign,

Insurance
As at 31 December 2016, the Group's premises are insured for RUB 27.3 billion (31 December 2013:

RUB 35.8 billion). At present, liability insurance is not widely spread in Russia, the Republic of Belarus and
Ukraine,
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Interest income and expense

1016 2015
Interest intome
Loans to oustomers 124.7 1194
Amounts due from banks and cash equivalents 26.1 150
Investment securities 118 164

1736 2812
Finance leases 3T 355
Other investment financial asse1s available for sale 13 33
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0.3 0.4
Government subsidy used 19 0.4
3168 3355

Interest expenie
Amouwnts due 1o banks and the Bank of Russia (78.2) 102.m
Amoents due to customers and the Russian Government (70.9) (B0.5)
Debt securities issusd (77.3) {74.8)

{226.4) {257.3)
Fimance lease liabilities {1.3) 1.0

(227.7) (258.3)
Met fee and commission income
Met fee and commission income comprises:

1016 1015
Cash and settlement operations 48 50
Guarantess and letters of cridit 5.9 49
Trust management of pension funds [Note 1) 0.6 0.5
Agency lees 0% 0.5
Dperations with seourities 0.z 0.2
Other 0.6 i E]
Fee and commission income 12.6 11.9
Fee and commission expense (5.4) i1.8)
Met fee and commission income 9.2 9.1

Met gains/(losses) from investment financial assets available for sale

Met gains/{losses) from investment financial assets available for sale recognized in the statement of profit or
loss comprise:

1016 1015
et gains/flosses) on sale of investment financial assets available for sale,
previowsly recagnized in other comprehensive income [Mote 30} 14.3 (2.5
Losses on impairment of investment financial assets available for sale (Note 19),
Less reversal of impairment of debt securities [5.1) (27.4)
Otther gains fram sale and redemption of investment financial assets 11.2 13
Total net gains/(losses) on investment financial assets available for sale 224 (18.4)
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Insurance premiums, other operating income and expenses

In May 2016, a subsidiary entity provided an insurance coverage of a loan to finance export-oriented production
for a term of 15 years in the amount of EUR 3.6 billion with two Russian state-related banks. The insurance
premium under the agreement amounts to RUB 24.4 billien (MNote 40). Simultaneously, a provision of
RUE 21.8 billion for unearned premiums was accrued under the agreement (Note 24).

Other operating income comprises:

2015

2016 [Restated)
Gain from disposal of loans (Note 40) 184.0 -
Sales revenue 13.3 60
Rental income from property and eguipment 546 10
Penalties recened 11 348
Gains from revaluation of invetment propey 14 0.1
Gains from disposal of property and equipment 0.5 0.4
Incame fram financing activities 0.2 40
Gains from disposal of leated assets 0.1 0.4
Effect af business combination - 51
Other ) 4.8
Total 2125 156
DOther operating exXpenses comprise:

2014 2015
Loss on write-off of impaired assets 115 1.0
Cost of sales 10,7 4.6
Loss on impainment of goodwill including asising on acquisition (Note 7) 6.9 49
Loss on impalirment of property and equipment 63 19
Inswrance 28 13
Auadit and consulting 2.2 1.4
Adminkstrative expenses 15 1.8
Marketing and research 1.2 1.0
Legal services 11 5
Depasits’ insurance 1.0 0.8
Advertising expenses 0.8 r 1]
Armortization of intangibles 0.8 0.9
Loss on revaluation of investment property 0.9 0.5
Chasity 0.2 4.4
Sponsarship 0.1 0.3
Other 5.8 1.0
Tatal 53.8 375

Loss of RUB 7.1 billion being a part of the loss on write-off of impaired assets is related to recognition of the
assets for sale at net realizable value at the reparting date.

Risk management
Imtroduction

The Group's operations expose it to financial risks, which it divides into credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk,
the latter being subdivided into interest rate risk, currency risk and equity risk. Group members manage financial
risks through a process of ongoing risk identification, measurement and monitoring, as well as by taking steps
towards reducing the level of risk. The Group is also exposed to operational risk and strategic risk.

30



36.

VEB Group Motes to 2016 consolidated
financial statements

(it billions of Russian rubles, unless otherwise statéd)

Ritk management [continued)
Intreduction (continued)

The Group-level guidelines for risk management are included in the Vnesheconombank Group Risk Management
Policy (the "Policy’). The Policy determines key goals and objectives, principles and procedures for cansolidated
risk management within the state corporation “Bank for Development and Foreign Economic Affairs
{(Vnesheconombank)® (hereinafter, “Vnesheconombank) and its subsidiaries, as well as powers and
responsibilities of management bodies, subdivisions and executives engaged in management of risks. The Policy
does not apply te Vnesheconombank's subsidiaries which are not exposed to significant fi nancial risks.

The risk management process is critical to ensure that risks accepted by the Group would not affect its financial
stability. Each business division within the Group involved in operations exposed to risk is accountable for
controlling the level of risks inherent in its activities to the extent provided in the internal regulations.

Management bodies and business units of Group members

Risks of Group members are managed pursuant to the Policy and based on decisions of the Group’s management
bodies, subject to limits and restrictions set by Vnesheconombank's management bodies and Risk Management
Committee. The supervisory body (Board of Directors, Supervisory Beard) of each Group member oversees the
overall level of risks and efficiency of the risk management system of the Group member, considers Group
member risk reports, approves the system of Limits, and, on the Group level, sets risk limits and decides on major
transactions,

Executive management bodies (Management Board and its chairpersen) of each Group member are responsible
for meeting the level of risks assumed, ensure the appropriate risk management system, allocate limits by
business lines, investigate breaches of limits, approve major transactions within their established authority,
approve internal regulations on risk management of the Group member,

Collegial management bodies (Banking Risk Management Committee, Financial Committee, Assets and
Liabilities Committee, Credit Committee, Technology Committee) prepare management decisions within their
established authority, over a particular type of activity or type of risk.

The division responsible for risk management within each Group member is responsible for identification and
quantification of risks, timely communication of the Level of assumed risks to management bodies, development
of risk mitigation measures, aversight of the risk levels and compliance with the set limits, regular performance
analysis in order to detect new risks, assessment of the significance of previously analyzed risks, processing data
from operating units in order to assess the level of risks, design and implementation of risk management
procedures, regulations and risk management technigues.

The Risk Director of the Group member is responsible for the risk management system, timely identification and
assessment of risks, implementation of risk mitigation measures, communication of the risks assumed by the
Group member to the Group Risk Director, control over the risk levels and key risk indicators of the Group
miernber.

Business divislons engaging in/supporting operations exposed to risks perform initial risk identification and
assessment, control compliance with established limits and generate risk reports subject to the requirements of
the adopted/approved regulatory framework.

The Internal Control Service controls compliance with requirements of internal regulations and evaluates the

effectiveness of the risk management system. Following the completion of respective audits, the Internal Control
Service reports its findings and recommendations to Group member management.
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Risk management (continued)
Vnesheconombank's risk management structure

The Supervisory Board is the supreme management body of the Bank. Within the scope of powers delegated to
that body by the Memorandum on Financial Policies and Federal Law No. B2-FZ, the Supervisory Board is
responsible for establishing specific parameters of the Bank's investing and financing activities, including those
related to risk management. Along with the Supervisery Board, the Bank's risk management structure comprises
ather management and collegial bodies and business divisions that are responsible for controlling and managing
risks,

Supervisory Beond

Pursuant to the Regulation on the Supervisory Board, powers of the Bank's Supervisory Board in the area of risk
management include: approval of the procedures governing the activities of internal control service, credit policy
regulations, procedures for providing guarantees, sureties and loans to banks and other legal entities,
methadologies and procedures for measuring credit risk parameters and limits, methodology for calculating the
Bank's equity (capital) amount and capital adequacy ratie, impairment and other Losses provisioning procedures,
requlations on the Bank's management bodies.

The Supervisory Board decides on approving transactions invelving acquisition, disposal or potential disposal of
assets whose carrying amount accounts for at least 10% of the Bank's equity and establishes the maximum
amount of funds allocated to manage the Bank's temporarily available cash (liquidity).

Within the scope of powers delegated to it by the Memorandum on Financial Policies and the Federal Law, the
Supervisory Board establishes parameters of the Bank's investing and financing activities.

Management Board

The risk management-related authorities of the Management Board include: making decisions to approve
transactions or a number of interrelated transactions associated with acquisition, disposal or potential disposal
of assets whose carrying amount accounts for 2% to 10% of the Bank's equity.

The Management Board drafts proposals regarding Vnesheconombank's major lines of business and parameters
of its investing and financing activities (including those related to risk management) and submits such propesals
for approval by the Supervisory Board,

Chairman af Vinesheconombank

With regard to risk management-related aspects of the Bank's operations, the Chairman of Vneshecenombank
issues orders and resolutions, approves policies and technical procedures governing banking transactions.

The Chairman of Vnesheconombank is entitled to make decisions to approve transactions or a number of
imterrelated transactions associated with acquisition, disposal or potential disposal of assets whose carrying
amount accounts for up to 2% of the Bank's equity.

The Chairman of Vnesheconombank decides on other matters related to risk management except for those
falling within the competence of the Supervisory Board and the Management Board.
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Risk management (continued)
Vnesheconombank's risk management structure (continued)
Group Risk Director

The key functions of the Group Risk Director include development and ensuring the efficiency of the risk
management system of Vnesheconombank and the Group as a whole, submission of consolidated reports on the
risks posed to Vnesheconombank and the Group as a whole to the Management Board of Vnesheconombank,
and approval of the candidates responsible for resolving risk management issues for the members of the Group.

Management Committes

The Management Committee is a standing collegial working body of Vnesheconombank. It was established to
enhance efficiency of Vnesheconombank's corporate governance system, coordinate activities of independent
business units and executives of Vnesheconombank, ensure taking efficient management decisions on strategic
and day-to-day development and business planning, design key policies and procedures, perform operating
management of Vnesheconombank, as well as to assist Vnesheconombank's management bodies in making
decisions within their authority. Within the risk management framework, the Management Committee is mainly
engaged in analyzing and making decisions, as well as designing recommendations for management bodies on
the risk management system within the Vnesheconombank Group, which includes assessing the quality of the
existing system of governance and overseeing compliance of the level of risks with the established risk appetite.

Vnesheconombank’s Risk Management Commutied

The Risk Management Committee is a standing collegial body of Vnesheconombank, Its purpose is to design and
develop an efficient rick management system within the Group, to ensure risk level control and to notify the
Management Board of Vnesheconombank of the Group’s risk level.

The Risk Management Committee develops proposals on the risk appetite level for Vnesheconombank and the
members of the Group; reviews reports on the usage of economic capital and on the compliance of assumed
risks with the risk appetite established by the Group; reviews and submits for approval to Vnesheconombank's
management bodies group-wide and general risk limits for Vnesheconombank and the members of the Group;
recommends Risk Management Standards (hereinafter, the “Standards”) for approval; organizes and controls the
implementation of the Standards; approves development plans for the Group risk management system; reviews
and provides recommendations on cértain transactions of the members of the Group; reviews the improvement
plan for the Group's risk management system and monitors its implementation; and approves stress-testing
SCEnarios.

Credit Committee

The Credit Committee of Vnesheconombank is a standing collegial working body. It was established to consider
proposals submitted by Vnesheconombank's independent business units, make decisions en financing
investment, export and other projects (transactions) on a repayable basis and [or) through participation in the
capital of other entities, managing Vnesheconombank's Loan portfolio and credit risk, determining the level of
interest rates and collateral requirements, ensuring more efficient use of Vnesheconombank's resources, and on
other matters within its authority pursuant to this Policy, other than on matters related to management of
distressed assets which fall within the competence of Vnesheconombank's Distressed Assets Committee.
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Risk management [continued)
Vnesheconombank's risk management structure (continued)
Distressed Assets Commitiee

The Distressed Assets Committee is a standing collegial working body which was established by decision of the
Management Board of Vneshecanombank. The Committee is primarily responsible for organizing regular and
efficient procedures within Vnesheconombank related to bad debts and distressed assets, increasing the speed
and quality of decision making on bad debt settlements and management of distressed assets, preparing
recommendations for Vnesheconombank's collegial management bodies, as well as deciding on operations
{transactions) aimed to settle bad debts or manage distressed assets.

Assets gnd Linbilities Commities

The Assets and Liabilities Committee is the Bank's standing collegial body whose primary objective is to develop
conclusions and recommendations on assets and liabilities management, including issues related to managing
the Bank's market and structural risks and ensuring that the Bank's operations are break-even.

Internol Control Service

The Internal Control Service is responsible for monitoring, on a continuous basis, the functioning of the banking
risk management system as provided in the internal regulations. Fallowing the completion of the respective
audits, the Internal Control Service reports its findings and recemmendations to the Bank’s management.

Risk Directoraie

The Risk Directorate is an independent business division designed to maintain the efficient functioning of the
risk management system in compliance with the requirements of supervisory and regulatory bodies,
international standards governing banking risk management practices in order to ensure the requisite reliability
and financial stability of the Bank.

The Risk Directorate is responsible for developing methods and procedures for the assessment of various types
of risks, drafting proposals to Limit the risk level, performing follow-up monitanng of compliance with the
establiched risk Limits and relevant risk decisions, and preparing reports by types of risks and the Bank's business
lines.

The Risk Directorate is responsible for monitoring compliance with risk policies and principles, and for assessing
risks of new products and structured transactions. The Risk Directorate is composed of units that are responsible
for control over the level of exposures by each type of risk and each line of the Bank's business, as well as for
owersight of risks of subsidiaries, such as the risk due diligence department, bank book risk department,
integrated risk management department and department for operational risk analysis and business continuity
management.

Treosury Directorate

As part of the operational control over the liguidity level, the Treasury Department oversees compliance with
the established minimum levels of liquid assets and liquidity gaps in assets and liabilities. The Directorate
prepares regular forecasts of the Bank's estimated leverage by source of funding, performs daily monitaring of
open position limits by class of financial instruments and operations performed by the Directorate on cash,
equity and currency markets as well as counterparty limits.
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Risk management (continued)
Vnesheconombank's risk management structure (continued)

The Directorate monitors the market value and Lliquidity of collateral provided by the Bank’s counterparties in
the course of operations in financial markets. A team of analysts working independently from other operational
subdivisions assesses the conditions on money, equity and foreign exchange markets.

Tronsaction Support Divectorate

The Directorate ensures on a daily basis that the Bank meets the established open position limits on financial
instruments and operations effected by the Treasury Directorate as well as the limits set on counterparties to
transactions.

Economic Planning Department

The Economic Planning Department is involved in the development of methadoloagical documents for managing
the Bank’s risks. The Department monitors the Bank's financial stability parameters, including capital adequacy
ratio. The Department coordinates the activities across the Bank relating to the establishment of allowances for
losses.

Risk managamant
Risk measurement and reporting systems

The Bank's risks are measured using the methodologies approved by the Bank's authorized bodies which allow
assessing both the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and unexpected Losses, which are an
estimate of the ultimate possible loss at a given level of probability and horizen. Losses are measured on the
basis of the analysis and processing of historical data relating to risk factors underlying such losses and the
established patterns (models) used to determine the relationship between changes in risk factors and loss
events. Statistical patterns derived from the analysis of historical data are adjusted, as appropriate, to account
for the current operating environment of the Bank and situation on the markets.

The Bank also applies stress testing practices to run worst case scenarios that would arise in case extreme events
which are unlikely to ocour do, in fact, occur,

Risks are monitored and limited primarily based on the limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the
level of risk which is acceptable for the Bank and set strategic priorities for each line of the Bank's business.

To assess and monitor the aggregate significant credit, market and operational risk exposure, the Bank computes
capital adequacy ratio in accordance with the methodology approved by the Bank's Supervisory Board and based
on approaches set out in regulations issued by the Bank of Russia. The minimum capital adequacy ratio of 10%
has been set.

Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyze, control and early
identify risks. The above information and analytical comments thereon are communicated regularly Lo the Bank's
management badies, heads of business divisiens and the Internal Control Function. The reporting frequency is
established by the Bank's management bedy. The reports include the level of risk and risk profile changes by
each type of risks and main business line, respective estimated values, updates en compliance with the existing
risk limits, assessment of the amount of unexpected losses based on the value at risk methodology (VaR), results
of sensitivity analysis for market risks, and the Bank's liquidity ratios.
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Risk management [continued)
Risk management [continued)

To ensure timely response to changes in internal and external operating environment, heads of business
divisions are obliged to notify the Bank's management of any factors contributing to banking risks. Information
is to be communicated in accordance with the procedure set forth in the corresponding internal documents
goeverning the activities of the business divisions.

Risk mitigation

As part of its risk management function, the Bank uses devivatives and other instruments to MaNage exXposures
arising from changes in interest rates, currency rates, equity prices, credit risk factors, and from changes in
positions caused by the changed level of the current or forecast risk.

The Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risks (see above for more detail).
Excessive risk concentration

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in
the same geographic region, or have similar economic features, or when their ability to meet contractual
abligations is similarly affected by possible changes in ecenomic, political or other conditions. Concentrations
indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank's performance to developments affecting a particular industry or
geagraphical location, as well as to changes in markets parameters, such as in prices for financial instruments.

In order to control the level of risk concentrations, the Bank's policies and procedures include guidelines and
restrictions designed to maintain a diversified portfolio.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties failed to
discharge their contractual obligations in full when they fall due. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by
placing limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept in relation to one countérparty, groups of
counterparties and to industry segments and regions, and by monitoring exposures in relation to the existing
Limits.

For credit risk mitigation purposes, the Bank has to comply with the following limits established in
Vnesheconombank's Memorandum on Financial Policies:

. the maximum Limit of exposure per individual borrower or a group of related borrowers shall not exceed
25% of the Bank’s equity (capital);

L] the aggregate volume of major exposures shall not exceed B00% of the Bank's equity [capital).

Vnesheconombanks Supervisory Board is entitled to set additional limits, including those related o the
structure of the Vnesheconombank's loan portfiolio.

Credit risk is managed throughout all the stages of the lending process: loan application review, execution of a
lending/documentary transaction (establishment of a coeresponding credit limit), loan administration
(maintaining loan files, etc), monitoring the loan (credit limit) drawdown status, manitoring the borrower's
financial position and repayment performance until full settlement has been made {credit/documentary Limit
has been closed), monitoring the status of the current investment project. Since transactions that are bearing
credit risk may not only involve credit risk as such, but give rise to other risks (e.g. market risk, project risk,
collateral risk), the Bank performs a comprehensive assessment of risks attributable to such transactions.
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Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The principle of methodological integrity provides for the use of a consistent methodology for identifying and
measuring credit risk which is in line with the nature and scale of operations conducted by the Bank. The
assessment methodology for the credit risk of the Group members ks being amended to harmonize approaches
to credit risk assessment used within the Group and in order to comply with the Bank's standards.

The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of pessible changes in
the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established
by the use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a credit rating. Credit ratings
are subject to reqular revision, The credit quality review process allows the Bank to assess the potential loss as
a result of the risks to which it Is exposed and take corrective action

Credit-relgted commitrments risks

The Bank makes available to its customers documentary operations which may require that the Bank make
payments on their behalf. Such payments are collected from customers based on the terms of the
guarantee/letter of credit given. They also expose the Bank to credit risks which are mitigated by the same
control processes and policies (see above).

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the compenents of the consolidated statement of financial position is
best represented by their carrying amounts.

For more details on the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, references shall
be made to the specific notes. The effect of collateral and other risk mitigation technigues is shown in Note 17.
The maximum amount of credit-related contingencies is presented in Note 31.

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, the carrying amount represents the current credit sk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

Credit quality per class of financiol assets

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The rating system is
supported by a variety of financial analytics, combined with processed market information to provide the inputs
for measuring the counterparty risk. Mot past due and not impaired assets are subdivided into assets with high,
standard and sub-standard grade. Grades are assigned based on the requirements of the national standards for
assets quality assessment and international ratings of securities issuers. High grade assets comprise demands
to counterparties with good financial position, absence of overdue payments, or secured by the guarantees of
the Russian Government, and securities with high international credit ratings. Probability of the breach of
contractual terms with regard to such assets can be evaluated as low. Standard grade assets comprise demands
to counterparties with average financial position or assets with no overdue payments, which were not included
in high grade assets. Probability of the breach of contractual terms with regard to such assets can be evaluated
as average. Other financial assets, not past due and not impaired, are assigned a substandard grade. Since not
all individually impaired assets are considered past due, not past due individually impaired assets and past due
assets are separated. Credit risk assessment methodology has been approved by the Bank's Supervisory Board.
Group-wide guidelines for assessing the credit quality of assets have been developed for the purpose of
preparing Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Risk management [continued)
Credit risk [continued)

The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for credit risk-related assets of the consolidated
statement of financial position, based on the Group’s credit rating system. The information is based on carrying
amounts before allowance for impairment. Assets within cash and cash equivalents and special purpose accounts
are categorized as high grade because the Group believes they do not carry credit risk.

Hat past due
Hot impaired
Standard  Sub-standard Individually
51 December 2015 Motes High grade grade grade impaired Past due Total
Cath wrvel caesh equivalents except cash on
hard 11 554.5 - - = i 534.5
Amounts on special purpose accounts 9.5 - - - - 79.9
Financial assets lent and pledged as
collateral under repurchase agreements. 13
Loans Bo customers pledged unider
repurchase agnesments 14 - = - - 1.4
Imvestrment securities plecged urder
nepurchase Sgnesments
- Awailable for sale LI K| 1 - = = 1.1
- Held i Pnatusity 03 0.8 - - - i1
is PR - - = 4.7
Ameounts due from banks and treasury 14
Interbank (oans under small and mediem-
sized busingss support program - 164 = - - 164
Arncirds due from treasury 21 = = - - i1
Export financimg 5.4 = 23 - - 7.7
Momgege bomds 64 = = - - &4
Othir ameunts due from banks 186 411 - - 36 653
318 57.5% 1.5 = 16 55.9
Loans o customers 17
Project financing B7.2 1101 5328 1482 1911 1,519.4
Commaercial koars, including loans to
individuals 713 1544 48.1 1045 1682 T46.9
Firancing of operations with securities - = = 0.0 04 2004
Export and pre-exgport financing 43.9 178 151 = T4 4.2
Reverse repurchase agreements 187 50 - 184 L %] 43.6
Back-to-back finanting i Y = = = - 372
Chaime under letters of Credit 13 T4 - &0 0 177
Mortgage bonds - 41 14 - - 5.6
Promissory notes: 16 - = = 08 14
Othess 7 50 - 15 4.5 125
1719 £11.9 7474 580.0 478.7 2,690.9
Met investments in Lexses 2128 83 4.5 58,5 36,0 299.9
Debt irmvestment securities
Awadlable for sale 18 1405 576 24 - 04 009
Held to maturity 1% 146 51 03 - = 15.0
155.1 &0.7 27 - 0.4 2189
Subordinated Loans to banks 14 9.5 48.1 - - = 57.4
Total 1,098.8 789.4 756.7 618.5 5187 37821
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Risk management (continued)
Credit risk [continued)
Mot past due
Mot impaired
Standard  Sub-standard Individually
51 Dpcember 2015 Motes High grade grade grace impaired Past due Tatal
Cash and cash equivalents except cash an
hand 11 1981 - = - = Fy
Amounts on gpecial PUrPOTE BLOENLS 63.5 e = £ £ 3.5
Financial assets lent and pledged as
collateral under repurchase agreements 13
Arnciunds due from banks pledged under
repurchase agreaments 0.3 = = - = 0.3
Legens to customens pledged unider
repurchase agreements - 09 - - = 0.3
Irvestment securities pledged under
repurchase agreements
- fvailable for sale 58.2 47 - - - 29
- Held to maturity 6.7 1.8 - - - 9.5
65,2 B4 = - - 736
Amounts due from banks and Ereadury 14
Interbank laans under small and medium-
siped] barsiness support program
Expaort firancing 15 = - = = .5
Mamgage bonds 16 = = = = 7.5
Otheer amounts due from bardks. 4.1 %) - 5.0 - 4.0
T4.2 6.9 - 1.0 = g4.1
Loans (o customens 17
Project financing 107.5 478.8 1968 4105 4583 16505
Comemercial loans, incliding Loans to
indhviduals 1075 LBT.6 810 LY i 1271 1.108.9
Financing of operaticns with securities 250.3 - = Te8 = 5271
Export and pre-expat finkncing 530 0.5 123 - 51 1009
Riaveise repurchass agreements 397 1.9 - - 4.4 44,0
Back-1o-back financing 36.5 - - - - 56,5
Claéms under Letters af credit 20 1.0 - 13 93 19.6
Horigage bands - 71 - - - 71
Promissory notes 27 - - o1 08 L
Dchar 307 1] 3.0 20 17 454
629.9 §98.9 194.1 g1 R T06.7 53454
Heet irvestrments in leases 18 315.7 a7 5.6 - 16.6 T45.E
Debt imvestrment sequrities 19
Available for wale 1341 311 = 01 - 156.3
Held 1o maturnity 19.5 1.7 0.5 - = 7.5
1456 39.8 0.3 o1 - 185.8
Subsrdinated loans to banks 14 40.2 6.3 19 - - 50.4
Financial sssets of disposal group 8.1 15.7 54 1E 4,2 125.0
Total 1.708.5 1,004.7 3075 B10.5 TI7.5 4.568.5
———— | ET—— ——— —
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Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans [0 CUSTOMErs and net investment in leases per class of financial
assers

The table below shows the carrying amounts of past due but not impaired Loans to Customers and net imvestment
in leases by number of days past due:

Less than Maore than
1014 7 days 7 to 50 days 30 v 90 days 90 days Toral
Loans to customens
Praject financing - 0.6 - 03 0.9
Commercial loans 0.2 0.3 11 220 2116
Export and pre-export
financing 5.5 - - - 5.3
Met investments in leases 11 4.5 73 16 16.6
4.6 5.5 8.4 159 44 .4
Less than More than
2015 7 days 7 o 30 days 30 to 90 days o0 days Total
Loans to customers
Praject financing = 12.0 12 111 26.5
Comrmaercial Loans 132 08 0e oF 35
1.1 12.8 4.0 10.8 29.8
Met investrments in leases 5 il ] 2.0 156
5.7 14.9 6.0 0.8 45.4

See Mote 17 for more details on allowance for impairment of loans (o customers.

Impairment assessment

The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or
interest are overdue by more than 90 days, bankruptcy proceedings have been initiated or the borrower is in the
process of liquidation, or there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating
dewngrades, or serious infringement of the original terms of the contract. Impairment assessment is performed
in two areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances.

Individually assesséd allowances

The allowances appropriate for each individually significant loan are determined on an individual basis. [tems
considered when determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan,
its ability to improve performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected receipts and the expected
dividend payout should bankruptcy ensue, the availability of financial support, the realizable value of collateral,
and the timing of the expected cash flows. The impairment losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless
unforeseen circumstances require morne careful attention,

Collectively assessed allowances

Allowances are assessed collectively for impairment of loans to customers that are not individually significant
and for individually significant loans where there is not yet objective evidence of individual impairment.
Allowances are assessed on each reporting date with each portfolio receiving a separate review.
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Risk management (continued)
Credit risk {continued)

The collective assessment takes account of impalrment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even though
there is not yet objective evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment losses are
estimated by taking into consideration the following information: historical losses on the portfolia, current
economic conditions, the appropriate delay between the time a loss is likely to have been incurred and the time
it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected receipts and
recoveries once impaired.

The Bank sets aggregate exposure limits for each portfolio by class of securities in order to limit risk. Within a
partfolio “risk borrowing” Is permitted, i.e. changing the volume of open positions under individual financial
instruments subject to compliance with the set limit of the aggregate market risk for the portfolio and with
credit risk limits by issuer,

The limits are approved by Decision of the Chairman of Vnesheconombank at the suggestion of the Risk
Directorate as agreed with Bank's business units. The set limits are revised on a regular basis.

Liquidity risk and funding management
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial obligations when they fall due.

The Group manages its Liquidity risk at the following levels:

* Each member of the Group manages its liquidity on a standalone basis so that it can meet its obligations
in full and comply with requirements of the national regulator; for this purpose relevant policies and
procedures have been developed that detail the liquidity risk assessment and control process;

® Liquidity-related issues are considered on the Group's Level at the meetings of the Assets and Liabilities
Committee of Vresheconomiank,

Group members assess liquidity risk using analysis of the maturity structure of assets and liabilities, and a liguid
asset cushion under various scenarios. To limit liquidity risk, Group members control liquidity gaps and the level
of the liquid asset cushion. Subsidiary banks within the Group also forecast and control compliance with
mandatory liquidity ratios established by national regulators.

As part of the liquidity risk management process, the Group members perform the following actions limiting the
liquidity risk:

. Regularly monitor the liquidity position, supervise the compliance with the established limits and review
them;

" Maintain a well-balanced maturity and currency structure of assets and liabilities and an optimal liquid
asset cushion;

. Maintain a diversified structure of funding sources and distribution of investments by counterparties;
" Develop actions to raise debt funding,;

L] Assess sustained balances on customers accounts, monitor the level of concentration of balances on
customers’ accounts in order to prevent an abrupt outflow of funds from customers’ accounts;

L Perform cash flow modeling and supervise liquidity ratios under various scenarios that reflect changes in
the macroeconomic and market operating environment,

. Perform stress testing of the bank’s exposure to liquidity risk and financial market conditions on a regular
basis and as and when significant changes in external and internal factors arise or are expected.
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Risk management [continued)
Liquidity risk and funding management (continued)

Operational control aver liquidity ratios, including Lliquidity gaps, is performed at the Bank by the Directorate for
Currency and Financial Transactions. The follow-up monitoring is performed by the Risk Directorate. Liguidity
control results are reported to the Bank's management and used for management decision-making.

For the purposes of identifying available sources to cover an unexpected deficit of liquid assets, the Bank daily
monitors and forecasts the liquidity reserve. The liquidity reserve comprises the following instruments:

. Cash on the Bank's correspandent accounts, cash on hand, cash on accounts with market makers and
clearing centers, and the net balance of the Bank's overnight placements;

. Short-térm deposits placed with banks considered by the Bank as highly reliabile;

" Liquid securities measured at fair value less any discount for unexpected losses due to market risk
realization that can be promptly converted into cash or used as a collateralized funding.

In arder to take into account any pessible changes in projected cash flows, the Bank uses a procedure of stress
testing liquidity ratios in accordance with scenarios covering both internal factors, specific to the Bank, and
external factors:

. non-fulfillment by the Bank's counterparties of transaction, lean and debt obligations {credit risk
realization);

. patential additional liquidity outflow following changes in the ruble exchange rate {currency risk
realization);

. resources additionally required from subsidiaries;

] decrease in the market value of the securities portfolio (market risk realization);

. unexpected outflow of funds from customers’ accounts;

. reduction in the expected inflow of funds 1o customers’ accownts;

. reduced or closed access to financial market resources;

. reduction in the Bank's credit rating;

. early repayment of the attracted loans due to the breaches of covenants in respect of the Bank's financial
perfarmance as stipulated in the respective contracts.

The Risk Directorate uses the procedure of liquidity ratios stress testing on a scheduled and unscheduled basis.
Scheduled stress testing is carried out on a monthly basis. Unscheduled stress testing is carried out upon decision
of an authorized body of the Bank, as well as in case of an indication of potential stress changes in internal and
external risk factors, upon initiative of the Bank's functions involved in liquidity control activities. Findings of
the analysis of the Bank's liquidity indicators calculated for varigus scenarios are communicated by the Risk
Directorate to the Directorate for Currency and Financial Transactions, Assets and Liabilities Committee and the
Bank's management and are used in making decisions on measures required for regulating Liquidity and planning
the Bank's and the Group’s operations.
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Risk management (continued)
Liguidity risk and funding management (continued)

In the event of an emergency, the Bank uses the following liquidity support mechanisms:

. concluding repurchase agreements,

. selling the portfolio of highly liquid assets;

. taking rmeasures to close positions in low liquid securities and to assign loan portfolio-related recelvables;

M maintaining close cooperation with Bank's customers for the purpose of setting the funds withdrawal
schedule;

» maintaining transparency of the Bank's operations.

As at 31 December 2016, financial assets and Liabilities of the Group had the following expected maturities:

Mo stated
Up to L month 1 to & mosths 6 to 12 months  Over 1 year muatisrity Total

Financiasl assets
Cash and cash equivalents s Tk - = - 150.1
Financial assets at fair value through

prafit or loss (i F- ] 01 14 4.2 127 19,3
Financial assets lent and pledged as

callateral under repurchase

BfreamEnls 22 11 a1 13 - 4.7
Special purpose secounts 7945 - = - - ™.y
Amounts due from banks and treasury T4 113 417 01 04 91%
Loans 16 cushomers B4R 14759 165.3 15065 = 1.904.5
Het investments in eases 21 5T 438 1970 - 1R
Investment financial ssse1s:

= avallable for sale 1584 111 i T4 1630 4T0%
= held i maturity 03 i1 1.2 143% - 18.0
Subsardinated loans 1o banks - 13 3.0 £33 - 7.4
Ineesiments in associabes and jobntly

contralled entities - - = - 9T 39T
Othar inancisl assets 53 319 104 116 0y 611

6147 Ei&.0 2718 18456 30,7 13808

Finarcial Liabilities
Amounts dee 1o baniks .7 T 1007 T94.6 = 6445
Finarial Labdities at fair value

throwgh profit of Lasy 05 01 - 01 - 1R
Amounts dee to the Fussian

Government and the Bank of Russia g2 6.4 1100 55581 - 5538
Amounts diok B Cusiomers 2006 1028 595 69.2 . 5521
Dokt securities issued 356 9.1 BOuD ] - 10346
Fimsnce lease liabilities 0.4 41 46 66,5 - 759
Subordinated depasits - ] = 915 - 825
Otheer finamcial liabilities 166 16 5.7 4 1.3 0.6

&07.9 1957 358.5 L7951 1.3 2.954.5

Mt pesition 1168 {71.7 (B4A.T) 328 319.4 426.3
Accumulated gag 2158 1391 544 1069 4263
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Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk and funding management (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, financial assets and liabilities of the Group had the following expected maturities:

Mo stated
Uptol month  1to & months 61s 12 months  Ower 1 year maturity Tatal
__[Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated) _ (Restated)  (Restated) (Restated)

Fimancial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1991 118 - - - 1111
Financial assets at fair value through

prafit or lods B9 a1 o1 L% 3193 518
Financlal assets lent and pledged i

collatersl under reparchase

Agresments 6A.2 4.8 0 47 = TRD
Special punpose accoants (14 - - = - 63.5
Amously dise from bands and reasury 6.0 9.0 LR 140 - 68.3
Assats of disposal group held for sale - - - - 112.8 1218
Liands 0o pustomiers 1007 1141 16T 19959 1.7 1.580.3
Met invesiments in Leases £8 365 iTa 1600 - 3431
Irvestment financial assets:

= grailable for sale 18740 919 b6 180 5% 908
= hald to matuFity 06 hE 19 173 - 7.5
Subordinated loans 1o hanks = 3.0 1.9 465 - 504
Irvesbmants in associated 3o paingly

conbiedled entities = = - - 99 a9
Cither ingncial asets 54 1.2 24.0 143 1.3 1261

T48.4 471.2 IBO0LE 15743 160.8 41554

Financial lishilitses
Arrounts dus 1o hanks 219 109.5 1385 G545 - 1.019.4
Financial Uabdities at fair value

through profit or loss - 21 01 né - i8
Amaurts dee 1o the Eussian

Government and the Bank of Russia TA43 1094 51 1475 - 7044
Liabilities of disposal group held fer

wale = - = - 69.0 9.0
Amounts due b CUSIHMErs 54T 1731 94.7 508 - G415
Diebd securities issued ar 1276 s 611 = 1,179.9
Firuece laase liablitios 1.1 5.0 56 942 - 105.9
Subordinated deposits - - - 1031 - 1631
Other financial lishilitie 184 10 432 (L] 17 32,2

8191 73L7 3257 1,911, 8 For 3.BE0.0

Bt positicn {70.7) 161.5 55.1 4614 1901 3754

As at 31 December 2015, accumulated liquidity deficit with maturities of "Up to 1 month’, "1 to & months™ and
“6 to 12 months™ was primarily established because the Bank classified its liabilities as amounts due to the
Russian Government and the Bank of Russia and amounts due to customers in accordance with contractual
maturities, As at 31 December 2016, there was no accumulated liquidity deficit with any maturity as a result of
extending the maturity of liabilities classified as amounts due to the Russian Government and the Bank of Russia
(Note ) in 2016.

While the majority of available-for-sale securities is shown as "Up to 1 month”, disposal of such assets upon
demand is dependent upon financial market conditions. Significant security positions may not always be
liguidated in a short period of time without adverse price effects. Also, such classification of matwrities fior
liabilities classified as amounts due to customers in accordance with contractual terms does not reflect the
historical stability of customers’ current accounts. Thelr liquidation has taken place over longer periods.
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Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk and funding management (continued)

Due to the fact that in 2014 S&P downgraded Vnesheconombank’s long-term foreign currency credit rating to
BBE- and then inJanuary 2015 to BB+ and in 2015 Moody's downgraded the long-term foreign currency credit
rating of Vnesheconombank to Bal, the lending banks for a number of loan agreements obtained the right to
demand early repayment of the loans provided. As at 31 December 2016, Vnesheconombank's liabilities under
such agreements totaled RUB 3063 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 4914 billion). As at the date of
suthorization of these consolidated financial staterments, Vnesheconambank did not receive notices demanding
an early repayment of previously provided loans. These liabilities are classified in accordandce with contractual
terms since early withdrawal of funds is not expected and such appreach reflects historical stability of accounts.
Their redemption historically is taken place over a longer period - at maturity. The management of the Bank is
taking all of the appropriate liquidity management measures and expects the Government to provide suppart if
mecessany.

Amounts payable under settlements with the Russian Government, other than the Bank of Russias deposits,
generally do not carry a specified maturity and are shown as having a residual maturity of up to one manth. IR
practice, these amounts are available to the Bank for longer periods.

As at 31 December 2015, there is no Liquidity deficit for all maturities.
Analysis of financiol liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2015 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Exception is made for derivatives
(assets and Liabilities), which are shown by amounts payable and receivable as well as the cost of the realizable
non-monetary assets and by contractual maturity. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice
were to be given immediately. However, the Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on
the earliest date they are entitled to, and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows calculated by the
Group based on information for prior periods.

Legs than o

As at 31 December 2016 3 months 12 months 1te 5 years Ower 5 years Total
Financial liabilities
Amaunts due to banks i81E B2 1264 18 693.2
Gross settled derivative financial instruments

- Contractual amounts payable 4.6 1.5 01 = 6.2

- Walue of underlying assets to be sold = 1.3 = 1.0 13

= Contractual amounts recenable [5.5) - [0.&) {3.8) (12.7)
Armounts due to the Russian Government and the

Bank of Russia B4.7 124.2 1530 450.7 B92.6
Amounts due (9 Cuslomers 3157 147.2 624 327 568.0
Debt securities [ssued o8.7 1283 TBES 1120 1,525.4
Finance lease Liabilities 23 70 1713 345 B0.9
Subordinated deposits - - B4 YR 582.0
Onher Uabilities 128 =7 4.7 15 12.1
Total undiscounted financial liabilities _s3 44 LaTeR 1793 3.970.2
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Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk and funding management (continued)

Less than Ito

As at 31 December 2015 Tmonths 12 months  1to 5 years  Ower 5 years Total
Financial liabilities
Ameunts due to banks 260.0 1035 £99.2 479 1,110.6
- Contractual amounts payable 67.3 ih 1z - 69.5
= Walue of underlying assets to be sold - = 11 = 11
- Contractual amounts receivable (66.5) 03 [1.2) - {67.5)
Amounts due (o the Russian Government and the

Bank of Fussia 4317 BE.D 1819 65,3 T65.E
Amounts due bo customers 413146 1708 481 8.2 680.7
Debt securities Esued S64 121.7 55219 535.8 10728
Fimance lease Liabilities 148 3.4 455 544 1111
Subardinated deposits - - 9.0 450.0 459.0
Othes liabiities 1.2 9.4 0.6 1.7 3.9
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 1,206.4 608.0 1,438.3 98313 4,236.0

The maturity analysis of liabilities does not reflect the historical stability of customers’ current accounts. Thelr
liquidation has historically taken place over a longer period than indicated in the tables above. These balances
are included in amounts due in "less than 3 months” in the tables above.

Amounts due to customers (Note 27) include term deposits of individuals. In accordance with the Russian
legislation, the Group is obliged to repay such deposits upon demand of a depaositor. According to the legislation
of the Republic of Belarus, the Group is obliged to repay the amount of these depesits at the first call of the
depositor within five days. In accordance with the legislation of Ukraine, the return of a fixed-term deposit and
the accrued interest on demand of the depositor before expiration of their term or before occurrence of other
circumstances specified in the agreement is only possible if it is explicitly provided in the bank deposit
agreement.

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group's financial commitments and
contingencies (letters of credit, guarantees, undrawn loan facilities, reimbursement obligations). Each undrawn
loan commitment s Included in the time band containing the earliest date it can be drawn down. For issued
financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which
the quarantee could be called.

Liss than Sto

5 months 12 months 1o 5years Ower 3 years Total
o1& 951.2 188 45.5 34.7 1.061.2
2015 870.5 10.5 476 543 9E3.2

The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or contractual commitments will be drawn until
expiry of the commitments,

As at 31 December 2015, credit-related commitments presented in the ‘less than 3 months’ categery include

liabilities in the amount of RUB 357.5 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 209.7 billion), whose maturities are
linked to settlements under export contracts.
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Risk management [continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk of adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments due to changes in market
variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices for equities (equity risk) and commodities. The
purpose of the Group’s market risk management activities is providing a balance between the level of accepted
risks and profitability of banking operations.

Group members that are engaged in banking activities monitor the market risk level on a daily basis. Group
members that are not banking institutions monitor the market risk Llevel on a regular basis, To control the market
risk level and to set its limits the Group uses the sensitivity analysis, calculation based on VaR methodology and
stress testing. Consolidated risks of the Group are primarily assessed using the sensitivity analysis.

AL the parent entity level interest rate, currency and equity risks are primarily assessed using the VaR
methodology which enables assessing maximum Losses from the portfolio of financial instruments that can be
incurred during a certain period of time (projection horizon) with a given confidence level. The VaRk methodology
is a probabilistically statistical approach that is based on the data of changes in market risk factors and allows
taking account of risks diversification. To assess the price risk of the portfolio of market securities, the Bank
applies the VaR methodology according to which the weighing pracedure for statistical data of risk factors
depends on their historical distance from the date of calculation. The equally weighted calculation method is
applied to assess the risk of the open currency positien. For management and external reporting purposes, the
Bank uses VaR calculations with a 99% confidence level and a 10-day projection horizon to assess the price risk
of the portfolio of market securities and a 1-day projection horizen to assess the risk of the open Curmency
position of the Bank. The depth of retrospective data used for VaR calculation is 670 working days.

VaR ealculation results are assessed by the Bank subject to limitations inherent in the VaR methodology, ie.
possible failure to comply with initial assumptions, namely:

. historical abservations used to calculate unexpected losses in the future period might not contain all
passible future changes in risk factors, especially in case of any extreme market events,

- usage of a given projection horizon assumes that the Bank's positions in financial instruments can be
liguidated or hedged over this period. Should the Bank have large or concentrated positions and/or should
the market lose its liquidity, the used period of time might be insufficient for clesing or hedg img positions
but unexpected Losses estimated with VaR would remain within set Limits;

. applying a 99% confidence level does not permit assessing losses that can be incurréd beyond the
selected confidence level;

* Vak methodology assesses the amount of losses from the portfolio of financial instruments under the
assumptions that the volume of positions will remain constant over the projection horizon and the Bank
will not perform transactions that change the velume of positions. Should the Bank be engaged in
purchase and sale of financial instruments over the projection horizon, VaR estimates can differ from
estimates of actual losses.

To control the adequacy of the VaR calculation model, the Bank regularly uses back-testing pracedures that
enable it to assess differences between estimated and actual losses.

In order to obtain more precite estimates, the Bank is making efforts to enhance inputs used in the current
model which provides adequate estimates under normal market conditions. Also, the Bank is making efforts to
improve approaches that take into account extrasrdinary (stress) changes in the market behavior in the process
of risk management.

107



36,

VEE Group Hotes to 20156 consalidated
financial statements

(i billions of Russian rubles, unless othenwise stated)

Ritk management [continued)
Market risk (continued)

The Bank performs stress testing procedures on a regular and unplanned basis that enables the Bank to assess
stress losses from realization of unlikely extracrdinary events on financial instruments’ portfolios and open
CurTency positions, i.e. losses that are out of predictive Limits of probabilistically statistical methods. The above
approach supplements the risk estimate obtained from the VaR methodology and sensitivity analysis. The Bank
uses a wide range of historical and hypothetical (user) scenarios within stress testing procedures, tress testing
results are reported to the Bank's management and used for making management decisions.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair values or
future cash flows of financial instruments.

The interest rate policy of Group members refers to maintenance of a balanced structure of claims and
obligations sensitive to change in interest rates (interest rate position) that provides limitation of possible
unfavorable change in net interest income and/for equity of a Group member at an acceptable level.

The procedures of identification, assessment and control of the level of interest rate risk in Group members are
formalized through developed internal regulations and rules as well as requirements of national regulators.
Group members perform sensitivity analysis of net interest income and equity using different scenarios of market
interest rate changes for the purpose of controlling financial losses arising from unfavorable changes in interest
rates.

In addition, banks within the Group forecast and control the capital adequacy ratios subject to the effect of the
interest rate risk,

Group members use a number of market instruments, including IR5s, to manage its interest rate sensitivity and
repricing gaps related to changes in interest rates of assets and liabilities.

In performing the sensitivity analysis of the net interest income and equity the interest rate gap methed is used.
The interest rate gap method is used to assess changes in the amount of net interest income and equity by using
data on mismatch of claims and obligations sensitive to interest rate changes aggregated at given maturity
intervals. A combination of negative scenarios that take into account the effect of internal and external risk
factors related to the market situation is used as a part of the analysis. Scenarios are prepared eithér based on
hypothetical events that can occur in the future or based on past events - historical stress scenarios.

Sensitivity analysis is performed on a regular and unplanned basis. The basis for an unplanned sensitivity
calculation is as follows:

. expected appearance of large or concentrated positions in financial instruments’ portfolios or significant
changes in their value, which can significantly affect the balance of the interest rate position;

" expectations of significant changes in the market situation as well as socio-political and/or economic
events that can have a significant adwerse impact on the amount of net interest income/equity.
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Risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)

The Bank uses two approaches in modeling risk factors. The statistical approach is based on the followimg
assumptions:

. the actual structure of volume and maturities of claims and obligations is kept constant in the whole
projection horizom;

. changes in the term structure of interest rates occur instantly as at the reporting date and once during
the projection horizomn

in addition to the statistical approach to modeling risk factors, the Bank performs the sensitivity analysis by
madeling dynamic changes in interest rates and the volume and maturity structure of claims and obligations
using a more complex set of assumptions made by the Bank on a case-by-case basis.

The sensitivity of the statement of profit or loss Is the estimate of the effect of the assumed changes in interest
rates on the net interest income befare tax for one year calculated for floating rate financial assets and financial
liabilities held at 31 December 2016 and at 31 December 2015, as well as the amount of revaluation of fixed
rate trading financial assets and derivative financial instruments. The sensitivity of equity to changes in interest
rates is calculated as the amount of revaluation of fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets in case of
assumed change in interest rates. The effect of revaluation of financial assets was calculated based on the
assumgption that there are parallel shifts in the yield curve.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s statement of profit or loss and the Group’s equity
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates by key reference rates, with all other variables held constant.

The sensitivity was calculated for instruments within the Group's portfolio, excluding bonds held within the
Bank's portfolio. The interest rate risk for this bond portfolio was calculated using the VaR methodology.,

Sensitivity of the
statement of profit  Sensitivity of

Increaze in %, or loss equity
Rate 016 2016 2016
Key rate of the Bank of Russia 0.50% 0.4 -
Z-m MosPrime 3.09% [0.2) -
Z-m LIBOR USD 0.25% {i0.4) -
%-m LIBOR EUR 0.20% 01 -
¥Tr 5% US Treasuries 1.02% = {0.6)
RGBEY 166% 0.3 (0.7}
YT Ukraknian sovereign bonds 18.36% - {0.%)
Refinancing rate of NB RB 1.00% 01 =
Interest curve far KZT 4.5% 0.4 -

Sensitivity of the
staternent of profit  Sensitivity of

Decrease in 3, or loss equity
Rate 1016 1016 1016
Key rate of the Bank of Russia =1.00% [i0.8) =
3=m MaosPrime ~309% 0.2 -
RGBEY -2 6% 0.4 0.7
Refinancing rate of NE RE ~300% 0.5 -
Interest curve for KZT -4.5% i0.4) =
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Risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Sensitivity of the
statement of profit  Sensitivity of

Increase in %, or loss equity
Rate 2015 2015 2015
Key rate of the Bank of Russia 1.00% 24 -
B-m MosPrime 1.00% (0.1} -
¥TM 5Y US Treasuries 0.20% - 0.2}
RGBEY 1.00% - (0.2}
¥TM Ukrainian sovereign bonds 15.00% - (1.1
Refinancing rate of NB RB 1.50% 0.6 -
Interest curve far KIT 4.0 0.5 -

Sensitivity of the
statement of profit  Sensitivity of

Decroase in %, or loss equity
Rate 2015 2015 2015
Key rate of the Bank of Russia -5.00% 7.5 -
3-m MosPrime -5.00% 0.4 -
5-m LIBOR USD -0.05% - 0.1
YTM 5Y US Treasuries (.10% - 01
RGEEY ~-2.00% 01 0.4
¥TM Ukrainian sovereign bonds -2.00% = 0.2
Refinancing rate of NB RB -7.50% (&) -
Interest curve for KZT -2 35% .3 =

Below are VaR measures for the bond portfolio of the Bank as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2015,

1016 2015
Wak 0 30

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or future cash flows will change due to
changes in foreign eéxchange rates.

Group members calculate on a regular basic open currency positions by assets and liabilities recorded in the
statement of financial position, and claims and obligations not recorded in the statement of financial position,
which are subject to changes in currency and precious metals rates. Vnesheconombank's subsidiary banks set
Limits on the cumulative open position as well as limits on open positions in each currency and for precious
metals based on the requirements of the national regulator.

The VaR estimate obtained using the historical modeling method with a 99% confidence level and a 1-day
projection horizon is used by the Bank as a currency risk estimate, The aggregate currency risk in respect of the
Bank's open currency positions is estimated subject to historical correlation of exchange rates of foreign
currencies against the Russian ruble.
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Risk management [continued)
Market risk [continued)

The table below shows open currency positions of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015,
which include items of the statement of financial position and currency positions in derivative financial
instruments by currencies against the Russian ruble (open positions).

2015
Curmency 2016 {restated)
uso [449.7) 457
EUR (79.9) 169.2]
Dther currencies L1 ¥ 7

Changes in the open USD position resulted from the transfer of USD-denominated loans and the receipt of
reimbursement in Russian rubles (Mote 40). The Bank controls and regulates this open position pursuant to the
decisions made. At the date of signing these consolidated financial statements, the open USD position decreased
following the foreign currency purchases in the market in the amount of USD 44 billion (equivalent of
RUB 245.0 billion).

Below is the Bank's VaR measure for open currency positions as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015:

2016 1015
Valt 1.7 13

The table below shows the sensitivity of open currency positions of the Group (excluding the Bank) a5 at
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible
mavement of the currency rate against the Russian ruble en the staternent of profit or loss (due to the fair value
of currency sensitive financial assets and liabilities). ALl other variables are held constant. A negative amount in
the table reflects a potential net reduction in the statement of profit or loss or equity, while & positive amount
reflects a net potential increass,

Change in Change In
exchange rate, Effect on profit exchange rate, Effect on profit

% before tax %% before tax

Currenty 2016 2016 1015 2015
EUR 22.18% (4.4) 20.21% (7.8)
-22.18% 44 -20.21% 18
s 211.26% (521 19.74% (4.9]
-21.26% 5.2 -19.74% 45
LAH 3915% (1.4) 57.94% 19.3
-39.15% 14 -37.94% 12.3)
KET 26.73% (1.5} 15009% (1.1)
-26.73% 1.3 -15.09% n e |
BYH 24 .56% 0.5 25.36% 11
24, 56% 0.5) -25.36% (1.1}
HED 21.21% [0.3) - L
-21.21% 0.3 = 1K
OHY 21.20% 0.2 19.6% 0.0
-21.20% i0.2) ~19.6% (0.0}
GeP 21.90% QU 19.85% 0.0
-31.90% 009 -19.B5% (0%
CHF 15.04% 0.0 11.13% 00
~25.04% (0.0} -21.33% (0.0
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Risk management (continued)
Market risk [continued)
Operational control over open currency positions is performed by the Directorate for Currency and Financial

Transactions. The follow-up menitoring is performed by the Risk Directorate. Results of control over open
currency positions are reported to the Bank's management and used for making management decisions.

Equily price risk

Equity price risk is the risk of adverse changes in the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument as
a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual equities.

Group members use the VaR methodology and/or portfolio sensitivity analysis 1o assess the equity price risk.

Below are VaR measures for the equity portfolio of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

2016 2015
Wal 6.3 18.7

The effect on profit before tax and equity of other Group members of reasonably possible change in equity
indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Change in equity
Change in Index, price, Effect on profit
% % before tax, Effect on equity,
Market index 1016 2016 1016 2016
MICEX invdi 19% 19% 0.0 0.4
-19% -19% 0.0 (0.4)
Russian Depositary Index USD E3 k- = 0.0 il
5% - (0.0 (0.0
Change in equity
Change in index, price, Effect on profit
= % before tax, Effect on equity,
Market index 2015 2015 1015 2015
MICEX index 0% 18% 50 4.0
-20% -18% (500 {#4.0)
Russian Depositary Index USD LT 21% 0.0 11
-30% 1% 0.0 {1L.1)

Sensitivity analysis for sensitivity of the value of unquoted equity financial instruments to changes in reasonable
possible alternative assumptions is presented in Note 37,

Prepayment risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties
repay or request repayment earlier or Later than expected. Management believes that the Group’s exposure o
prepayment risk is insignificant.

Operational risk is the risk of financial losses resulting from using inadequate internal procedures of banking
transactions, unintentional or deliberate misconduct {emission to act) of an entity's personnel and third parties,
inadequacy and/or failures of technological, IT or other systems applied, or ensuing from the effect of external

circumstances.
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Risk management (continued)

Prepayment risk (continued)

To limit losses from realization of operational risk, the relevant mechanisms and procedures are developed and
applied at Vnesheconombank, namely:

. regulation of business processes;

. internal control ever compliance with transaction procedures, internal rules and regulations;

® control over compliance with credit limit discipline;

* control over compliance with regulatory requirements, including anti-money laundering and terrorism
financing legislation;

® identification of areas of potential conflict of interests and their monitoring;

] segregation of employee functions and duties;

. seqregation of rights of access to information and tangible assets;

. establishment of procedures for decision-making and reporting across all lines of business;

. upgrading business process automation;

. backup of information stored in information systems;

. professional development and improvement of employee incentive system;

® improvernent of organization and security of employee labor;

. property and liability insurance.

Work is underway to improve a set of measures aimed to ensure the Bank's ability to operate as a going concern

of restore its operations in case of emergency caused by full or partial loss (unavailability) of the Banks
resources.

Established and operating within the Risk Directorate is a division responsible for erganization, coordination
and methodological support of the operational risk management process, as well as its continual improvement.

In 2016, Vnesheconombank approved a new framework for operational risk management based on a systematic
proactive approach to operational risk management and securing integrated risk management through the
following procedures:

. Determination of the acceptable level of operational risk;

» Collection of data on internal aperational risk events;

. Collection of data on external operational risk events;

. Expert assessment of risks,;

. Monitoring operational risk levels using key risk indicators;

. Monitoring indicators of operational risk appetite.

The Bank has assigned employees at each business unit who are responsible for organizing and coordinating
operational risk management procedures, which includes collecting and providing data on operational risk
events, as well as interacting with the operational risk management subdivision in the course of performing

those procedures. Regular training activities on operational risk management are held for employees and
executives of Vnesheconombank at all levels.
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Risk management (continued)
Prepayment risk [continued)

In the fourth quarter of 2016, Vnesheconombank approved the Standard on Operational Risk Management
within the Group and launched a project for the implementation of the automated operational risk management

systern (AORME).

The operational risk level is calculated using the basic indicative approach recommended by the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision and the Bank of Russia and based on the data of the Bank’s statement of
profit or loss.

Strategic risk

Strategic risk s the risk of financial losses as a result of errenecus/deficient decision making when determining
the business and growth strategies of the Group (strategic management). Such errors/deficiencies are revealed
in failure to reflect and/or insufficient reflection of potential threats to the business of the Group that arise from
inappropriate or insufficiently grounded choice of business activities in which the Group may differentiate, lack
of or insufficient financial, technology er human resources and organizational measures/management decisions
that must facilitate accomplishment of the Group's strategic objectives.

Strategic risks within the Group are managed at two levels: the level of the Group and the level of Group
members. The Group's strategic risk is managed by the authorized bodies of Vnesheconombank, with the related
decisions made by the authorized bodies of the Group members. Vnesheconombank's authorized bodies make
decisions pursuant to the provisions established in the Law, On the Bank for Development, and in ather requlatory
acts.

The authorized bodies of the Group members act upon the recommendations of Vnesheconombank's authorized
bodies when making their own decisions as prescribed in the constituent documents of the respective Group
members. Strategic risks of the Group members are managed on the basis of decisions made by the authorized
bodies of the respective Group member, with account of the recommendations of Wnesheconomiank's
authorized bodies,

Fair value measurement

The Group determines the policies and procedures for recurring fair value measurement, such as unguoted
trading and available-for-sale securities, unquoted derivatives, Investment property and for non-recurring
measurement, such as assets held far sale.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilitles on the basis

of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as
explained above.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

The tables below present an analysis of assets carried at fair value in the financial statements and assets whose
fair value is disclosed separately, by level of fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016:

Fair value measurement using

active markets inputs Inputs

51 December 2016 {Level 1) (Lewel ) [Level 3 Total
Assets measured ot fair valve
Trading financial assets 0.5 = = 0.5
= Equity securities 0.2 - - 0.2
- Eurobands issued by the Russian Federation 02 - - 0.2
- Eurobonds of Russian and forelgn [sswers [ ] - = 01
Derivative finantial instruments = 5.2 15 4.7
- Foreign exchange contracts: foreign - 02 - 0.2
- Forward contracts: equaty financial instrements = 0% 15 2.0
- Qption coniracts with forelgn cumency - 15 - 15
Financial assets designated as at fair walue through profit

or lass - - 14.0 14.0
Trading financial assets pledged under repunthase

agreements - - Al &
Inwestment financial assets available for sale 144.7 1167 1089 4703
= Uinits - - 171.8 1718
- Shares and participation interests 5E.5 0 L& 62.1
- Corparate bonds 127 78.0 - 90.7
- Federal Loan Bonds (OFZ) 135 7.4 - 399
- Municipal and sub-federal bonds 19 - 1.9
- Dbt instruments isswed by foreign government bodies 0.5 155 = 26.0
- Evrobonds of Russian and Toréign issusrs 55.0 oS - 35.5
- Eurobonds isswed by the Russian Federation 3.6 13 - 6.9
- Other financial assets available for sale = - 155 35.5
Irnvestrent financlal assets available for sale pledged

under repurchase agreements 1.1 = & 21
= Corporate bonds 11 - = 1.1
- Federal Loan Bonds (OFZ) - i - -
- Eurpbonds of Russian and foneign Ssuers - - - -
- Eurchands issued by the Russian Federation 01 = i 0.1
Investment property (classified as other assets) i = 0.0 30.0
Assets for wiich falr values ane disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents = 350.1 - 350.1
Amounts due from banks and treasury, including pledged

under repurchase agreements - - 94.9 949
Loans to customers, including pledged under repurchase

agrerments 6.3 B.A8 1,916.1 1,931.2
Ket investments |n leases - - 265.9 2659
Irvestment financial assets held to maturity 12.5 | 11 18.7
Investment finarcial ssets held to maturity pledged

undér répurchase agresments = 1.1 - 11
Subordinated loans to banks = - 646 b

1662 4850 1,597.0 3.2448.2
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Falr value measurement [continued)

The tables below present an analysis of liabilities carried at fair value in the financial statements and llakilities
whose fair value Is disclosed separately, by level of fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2016:

Significant  Significant
Quoted prices in  observable  unobservable

active markets Inputs inputs

51 December 2016 (Lewel 1) {Level 1) [Level 5) Total
Lizbilities measoired ot fair valoe
Derivative financial liabilities = 03 - 0.5
« [nterest rate swaps: foreign - 0.2 - [ e
- Cross-cumrency inferest rale Swaps = 0.3 3 0.3
Liakitities for which fair valves are disclosed
Amounts due to banks - - 6445 B4 5
Amounts dus to the Russian Government and the Bank of

Russia - - 5584 558.4
Amounts dise bo custamers - - 5340 534.0
Dbt securities [ssued 419.2 5416 90.5 1,051.3
Finance lease liabilities - - 63.7 3.7
Subordinated deposits - - 111.7 111.7

419.1 5471.1 2,002.6 1,963.9
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Fair value measurement (continued)

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value measurement at the end

of reporting period by level of the fair value hierarchy as of 31 December 2015

Significant
observable

Quoted prices in

imputs

active markets  (Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs

[Lewel 3)

Total

31 December 2015 {Level 1) [Restatid) {Restated) (Festated)
Assets measured at faie valve
Trading financial assets 8.3 0.5 — 8.8
- Equity securities 6.8 - - 6.8
- Federal Loan Bonds (OFZ) 0.6 . - 0.6
« Eurchonds issusd by the Russian Federation 0.4 = = 0.4
- Eurphonds of Bussian and fereign isswers 05 i - 0.5
- Other deit financial assets = 0.5 ~ 0.5
Destvative financial instruments - 17 - L7
- Forsign exchange contracts; foreign - 0.4 - 0.1
- Forward contracts: equity financial instrurments - 0% - 03
« Diption contracts with foreign cummency - 1.5 - 1.3
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit

or Loks - - 41.1 411
Trading financial assets pledged under repurchase

agreements 4.4 - o 44
- Federal Loan Bonds (OFZ) 4.0 - = 4.0
- Corporate bands 0.4 - = 0.4
knvestment financial assets available for sale 1810 68.0 418 390.8
- Units - - an 5.0
- Shafes and participation intérests 1907 20 .5 199.6
- Corparate bonds 334 19.2 = 32,6
- Federal Loan Bands {OFZ) 14.2 208 - 35.0
- Municipal and sub-federal bomnds 46 02 - 48
- Debit ingtruments issued by foreign government bodies 6 199 - 225
- Eurobonds of Russian and forelgn issuers 51.1 15 = 3.6
- Eurobonds isswed by the Russian Federation 4.4 4.4 = 8.8
- Other financial assets available for sale - - 319 319
Irvestment financial assets mailable for sale pledged

under repurchase agreements 10.9 5.0 - 62.9
- Corporate bonds 5.2 50.2 - 55.4
- Federal Loan Bonds (OFZ) 4.5 - - 4.5
- Eurchonds of Russian and forelgn kssuers 01 18 - 1.9
- Eurobonds issued by the Russian Federation 11 = - 1.1
investment property (classified as other assets) - - 8.4 8.4
Assets for wiich fair values ane disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents - 121 - 5211
Amounts due from banks and treasury, including pledged

under repurchase agreements - = 68.6 6B .6
Loans to customers, including pledged under repurchase

agresments oF 4.5 2.507.% 2.5412.5
Het investments in leases - = 3018 3018
Irvestment financial assets held to maturity 18.0 9.3 0.3 7.6
Investrent financial assets held to maturity pledged

wnder repurchase sgresments 4.6 50 - 9.6
Subordinated loans to banks - - 4.4 544

3279 494.1 5.024.1 5.846.1
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Fair value measurement (comtinued)

The tables below present an analysis of liabilities carried at fair value in the financial statements and liabilities
whose fair value is disclosed separately, by level of fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2015:

Fair value measurement using

Significant Significant
Quoted prices in  observable  unobservable

active markets inputs Inputs

31 December 2015 fLevell)  (Levell) {Level 3) Total
Liabilities raascrod ot fair value
Diertvative finandial Labdlities = 18 - 18
- |nterest rate swaps: foreign - 05 L 05
- Cross-qurrency interest rate swaps = 2.3 = 3
Liskiiithes for which fair valves ane disclosed
Amounts dug ta banks - = 10128 1,011.8
Amounts due to the Russian Government and the Bank of

Russia - - 7001 T00.1
Amaounts dise b0 DUSTOMErs - - 6465 646,53
Debt securities issued 4404 G069 102.3 1.149.6
Finance lease Liabilithes - = 855 B5.5
Subordinated deposits - - 102.1 102.1

440.4 6097 1,649.1 5.699.2
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Fair value measurement (continued)
Financial instruments not recorded at fair value in the statement of financial position

Set out below is a comparisen, by class, of the carrying values and fair values of the Group's financial instruments
that are not recorded at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. The table does not include
the fair values of non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities.

51 December 21016 51 December 1015
Carrying Unrecognized
Carrying Unrecognized  amount Falrvalue  gain/[loss)
amount  Fairvalve gain/floss) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5501 5501 - 5221 3121.1 =
Amounts due from banks and

Lreasury 923 94,9 16 683 B84 1K1
Loans to customers 19045 19298 153 25805 15416 (3871
Het investments in Leases 1836 659 17.m 3431 501.8 (41.3)
Inwestment financial assets held 1o

maturity 18D 18.7 o.r 175 116 0.1
Subardinated loans 574 &i4.6 1.2 504 S4.4 40
Financial assets lent and pledged

unider repurchass agreements

- Investment financial assets

held to maturity 11 11 - 9% 9.6 01

- Lopans 10 customers 1.4 1.4 = 09 0.9 =

- Amounts due from banks = - = 05 0.3 -
Financial Liabilities
Amounts due to banks 445 (2B 0.2 10194 10128 4.6
Amounts due 1o the Russian

Gowernment and the Bank of

Russia 5538 5564 [4.5) TOE4 7001 6.3
Armounts due 1o CUSTOMErs 5111 5340 [(1.9) G423 G463 4.0
Debt securithes ssued 1,024.6 10513 [26.7) 11799 11496 0.3
Finance lease liabilities 7559 637 12.2 1059 B5.5 204
Subardinated deposits 925 1117 (19.2) 1021 1021 =
Tatal unrecognized change in fair

valug (21.9) [16.1)

Valuation methodologies and assumptions
The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of assets and

liabilities recorded at fair value in these financial statements and those that are not recorded at fair value in the
statement of financial position but disclosed.

Assets for which fair valve approximates carrying value
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short-term maturity (Less than three months),

it is assumed that their carrying value approximates their fair value. This assumption also applies to demand
deposits and assets without a specific maturity.
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Falr value measurement [continued)
Valuation methodologies and assumptions {continued)
Financial assets and fnancial ligbilities carried ot amortized cost

Fair value of the quoted bonds is based on price quotations at the reperting date. The fair value of unquoted
instruments, loans to customers, customer depasits, amounts due from banks and amounts due to the CBR and
banks and other financial assets and liabilities, obligations under finance leases is estimated by discounting
future cash flows using rates determined using internal methodology which allows to include the effect of
change in credit risk and risk-free rate since the initial recognition of the loan.

The fair value of floating interest rate instruments is generally their current value. Interest rates on loans to
customers and amounts due from banks bearing a fixed interest rate may be revised in case of material changes
in the market situation. Consequently, interest rates on loans issued shortly before the reporting date do not
differ materially from interest rates applicable to new instruments with similar credit risk and maturity. If the
Group determines that interest rates on previously issued loans differ materially from those applicable to similar
instrurments at the reporting date, the Group estimates the fair value of these loans. Such estimates are based
on the discounted cash flow method using discount rates that are determined from the current yleld on
government bonds with similar maturity, and credit spreads.

Assets and labilities recorded at fair value
Derivative instruments

Derivatives valued using a valuation technigue with significant observable inputs are primarily interest rate
swaps, currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently applied valuation
techniques include forward pricing and swap pricing models using present value calculations. The models
incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward
rates and interest raté curves.,

Derivative instruments valued using a valuation technique with significant non-market observable inputs are
primarily long-term option centracts. Such derivative products are valued using models, which imply the exercise
of options in the shortest possible period of time.

Trading securities and available-for-sale investment securities

Trading securities and investment securities available for sale valued using a valuation technique or pricing
models primarily consist of unquoted equity and debt securities. Such assets are valued using valuation models
which incorporate either only observable data or both observable and non-observable data. The non-observable
inputs include assumptions regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and
economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates.
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Fair value measurement (continued)
Assets and Liabilities recorded at fair value |continued)
Movements in Level 3 assets ond liabilities measured o fair value

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and clasing amount of Level 3 assets and liabilities
that are recorded at fair value;

Calrs s Lersses )
recorded In  recorded @R

the staterment  other

At 1 Janwary of profit or  comprehen-  Disposed) Transfers  Reclassifica- 51 December
016 Lo shve Income Settled Additiors  fresm Level 1 tion 1016

Aigetd
[eewiwative financial

AR - - - - 15 - E 15
Financial assets

desigrated a5 at fai

vl through prafit

[ 14 411 = - = [ ] = [35.2) 140
Invedtraent fananclal

assets available far

iple 418 [T ] 4% (3.3 0.2 & 1648 1089
Inwestrnent propemy

{within other sssets) B4 - - 0.1 129 E 1.3 00
TotalLevel 3assets 913 04 43 By 07 0 1504 154.4

Gains on investment financial assets available for sale in the amount of RUB 3.2 billion are recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or Loss in "Interest income”, Losses on investment financial assets available for
sale in the amount of RUB 2.8 billion constitute impairment and are recognized in the consolidated statement
of profit or Loss in "Net gains/{loss) on investment financial assets available for sale”,

Unrealized gains from revaluation of investment assets available for sale in the amount of RUB 4.3 billien are
recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in “Change in unrealized gains/{losses) on
investment financial assets available for sale, including reclassification of such gains/{losses) to profit or loss
due to impairment and/or disposals”,

Reclassification include units in Mutual Fund RDIF for the amount of RUB 168.9 billion reclassified to investment
financial assets available for sale, as well as decrease in financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss and investment financial assets available for sale for the amount of RUB 33.2 billion and
RUB 3.7 billion respectively due to deconsolidation of the fund (Note 4).

In 2016, there were no transfers of financial assets from Level 3 to Level 1 and Level 2. The reason for the
transfers from Level 1 to Level 3 is that the market for these securities has become inactive, which has led to a
change in the method used to determine fair value.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the 2015 opening and clesing amounts of Level 3 assets which
were recorded at fair value:

Tramsfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are considered performed at the end of the reporting period.
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Fair value measurement [continued)
Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value (continued)

Gaing/Tlnsses) Gaing/losses)
mecorded in recorded In
the statement  othar

&b 1 Jaruary  of profit or  comprehen- Transfers Ortheer 31 Decembar
2015 loss _ siveincome Disposals  Additions  intoLevell changes 2013
ASEETE
Financisl assets
designated a4 at faie
value thecugh profit
oF leds 183 Ly = - 135 = (1) 41.1
Investment fingndisl
a5sets available for
sale 477 (1.0 (.5} (3.4 01 {115 - 418
Inwestment propedt
nWlMﬂH-rmlLl- i3 < = (] 0.6 - 043 24
Total Level § assets T4.3 IL.” m} & & —& & ﬁ-ﬂl

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2

The following table shows transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for financial assets
and liabilities, which are recorded at fair value, during the reparting period:

Transfers from Level 2 to Level 1
1016 2015
Fimancial asseis
Investment financial assets available for sale 18.1 141
Transfers from Level 1 to Level 2
1015 2015
Financial assets
Investment financial asseis available for sale 16.3 3.2

In 2016 and 2015, the above financial assets were transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 as they became actively
traded during the reporting year,

In 2016 and 2015, the above financial assets were transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 as they ceased to be
actively traded during the year and their fair values were consequently obtained through valuation techniques
using abservable market inputs.

Gains or losses on Level 3 instruments included in profit or loss for the year were as follows:

1016 2015
Realized Unrealized Total Realized Unrealized Taotal
‘gains/{lasses) gains/{losses) gains/(losses) gains/{losses) gains/(losses) gains/(losses)
Gainsfflosses) recorded in the
staternent of profit or loss 5.4 (1.8) 0.4 50 [4.7) (1.7
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value (continued)

Significant unobservable inputs and sensitivity of Level 3 financial instruments measured at foir value to changes in

key assumptions

The following table shows the quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs used in the fair
value measurement categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying Valuation Unctaervable Range (welghted
31 December 2016 value e mputs avesge)  Adjustment
Financial assets ot fair value through
profit or loss
Dierivatiee financial asset 1 1.5 Dizcounted cash Mows Disoount rate 1419% 1%
Group 1 of inancial assets 19 Oiker valuaticn techniguees Mot applicabie Hot applicetde -
Group X of financial sssets ar Diteouried cash Mo Wisighted Feersge cost of
capital 15.08% 1%
Termingd pencd growtn 425%
Group T of financial assets i4 Discounted cash flows  Wisighted aversge cost of
capital 1540% 05%, I%
Ienvestmenit financial ssiels mvailable
for sale
Growp 3 of equity securities 19  Other valuation techmiques Halt agplicable Hot spplicable
Growp 4 of equity securities 170.0 Discounted cash flows  Weighted average cost of
Capital 114%17.9% 0.5%
Terminal peviod growth D1%-4%
Growp 5 of other fnancial assets
available for sale 355 Mulliplses Fadr value Mt asuets 057 05%
Group & of equity seturitied 14 Weighted sversge EV/PAX
musdtiplier {PAX-passerger traffic) {1115 %
EV/EBITDA 11.30
Ev/Saled 575
inwestment property (within Other
i)
Group 1 of Investment property 16 Comparative method Disoount 10%-20%
Costef 1 sgm RUB 2.2 thousand  4.6%-459%
Group I of Investment property 14 Disccunted cash fAivws Costiof 1 sgm EUE 304 thousard -
RUB 417 thousand i%
Group § of IFvestment propsy 21 Discounted cash Mows Discount rate 180% 1%
Group 4 of lmvestment property 25 Comparative method Drscount RO%-16.5%
Cost ol 1 sgm RUB 9176 thowssnd =
RUE 1510 thousand 5%
Groug 5 of imvestmant property 15.5 Discounted cash flows Mscount rate 1614%-17.7% 1%
Groug & of irvestment Property 6.8  Dther valustion techiniques Mot spplicatle -
Growp 7 of imvestment Propemy o1 Ortheer valuation techniques Mok applicable =
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Assets and Uabilities recorded at fair value (continued)

Casrying Valuation Unobeervable Range [weighted
31 December 2015 SOt technigue ___Inputs average) Adjustment
Fimancial assets designated & at fair
walus through profit or loss
Group 1 of Ainancial assets 7R Other waluation techrigques Mot applicable Hat spplicable -
Group 1 of financisl Hists 153 Diseounted cash fpas Wieighted average cost of
capital 1L%-165% 05%
Termiral peviod growth 10%-3.0%
Irvetnent financlal asaets gvailable
for sale
Growp 3 of equity securitbes 43 Other valustion techniques Piot applicable Mot applicable -
Gnazp 5 of other financial assets
availacie for sale e Mltiplier Fair walueMet assets 056 %
Groap & of equity securities 7 Weightied sverage EV/PRX
msktiplies [PAX-passenger traffic) Qo %
ENV/EBITDA 113
EN/Saley L
Group § of equity securities 19 Discounted cash Riows Wheaghted average cast af
Capital 11 7%-14 3% 5%
Terminal period growth 2040
Irvesirnent property (within Other
anaets) :
ﬁml.lp1 = property M s of i F.I.:Hmmu =
1 of envstment 13 Discounted cash flows LCosof 1 sqm =
BLE 418 thouwisnd 5%
Group § of nvestment property 1.8 Discounted cash Nows Discount rate 130% 1%
Group 4 of lavestrent prapery 18 Comparative method Diseount BO%-11 8% 5%
Cestof 1 ;gm EUE 8.0 thousand =
AUB 37 7 vhewssnd
Growp 7 of lnvestiment property 02 Orther valustion pechnigiaes Mot applicable Mot applicable -

To determineg the impact of reasonably possible alternative assumptions, mentioned above, the Group adjusted
key unobservable inputs. The following table shows the impact of reasonably possible alternative assumptions

on the fair value af Level 3 instruments:

Assets

Derivative financial assels

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit of loss
Irvestment financial assets available for ale

Irvestment property [classified a3 other asseis)

Assels

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or Loss
Inwestment financial assets available for sale

Investment property (classified as other assets)

31 December 2016
Effect of reasonably
posiible altemative
Carrying amourt assumption
15 (.2}
140 .1
1065 [1.5)
131 (1.5
51 December 2015
Effect of reasonably
possible altermative
Carrying amount assumplions
133 (0.1}
5.5 {0.8)
59 (0.5)
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Fair value measurement (continued)
Assets and Uabilities recorded at fair value (continued)

To determine the impact of possible alternative assumptions relating to the financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit of loss, investment financial assets available for sale and derivative financial asset, the
Group took a prudent approach and adjusted key unobservable inputs at the lower interval boundary of possible
assumptions. If the upper interval boundary of possible assumpticns were applied, their positive impacts as at
31 December 2016 would have amounted to RUB 0.1 billion, RUB 1.0 billion and RUB 0.1 billien, respectively
(31 December 2015: RUB 0.1 billion and RUE 0.8 billion). As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no derivative
fimancial assets.

Transferred financial assets and assets held or pledged as collateral
Transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety

The following table provides a summary of financial assets which have been transferred in such a way that part
of all of the transferred financial assets do not qualify for derecognition:

Trading Investment finarcial
financial assets  Financial svsets svpilabie for sale  assets held to maturity
Gevem- Govern- [ Amnouris
31 December  Tranaferred menl debt Oimer debt  ment debt Oiber debt  Equity  ment debt Other debt  Lears to  dise From
1016 mﬂummmmwﬂumﬂummm Tatal
Carrying walue Repunchase
nfa:r;u u gheEments = = 0d | - - 1.1 i4 = 4.7
Tﬂ"' = = —i A - _. ¢ —jl-lil _- $
Camrying value Repurchase
of associated agresments
liabilities with Customers = - - - - - - = = 5
Repurchase
Sfreamenls
with chedit
IRdTRLARSn L - - o1 13 - - 1.0 1.5 - 4.5
Trading Ervestenent finamtlal
firancial asiets Fimancial assets available for sale  assets held to maturity
g G- Govemn- Amounts
31 December  Transferred mentdebd Other debt ment debt Other debl  Equity  ment debt Other debt Loassto  due from
2015 finamcial asset  securithes  securiibes  securithes  securited  secwniies  socurities  securities  customwrs  banks Total
Caarying value B Fuldi
i on s ey 40 04 56 573 : 07 83 0 03 780
Totsl 4.0 0.4 56 57.3 - 0.7 8.8 0.9 0.3 78.0
Casrying walue  Repurchase
of associated agreements
|iakvilitins with the Bank
af Rusdis 40 0.4 4.6 0.2 - - &9 = = b1
Repurchass
agresmenti
with customers - - - 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
Repurchase
agreements
with credit
inetibutions - = 1.0 31 = ar 30 0.6 0.2 B.&
Total 4.0 0.4 5.6 53.4 - 0.7 1.9 0.8 0.2 718

“__ﬂ__—
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Transferred financial assets and assets held or pledged as collateral (continued)

Repurchase agreements

The securities sold under repurchase agreements are transferred to a third party while the Group receives cash
in exchange, or other financial assets. If the securities increase or decrease in value, the Group may, in certain
circumstances, require, or be required, to pay additional cash collateral The Group has determined that it retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities, which Includes credit risk, market risk, country risk and
operational risk, and therefore has not derecognized them. In addition, it recognizes a financial liability for cash
received.

Similarly, the Group may sell or re-pledge securities borrowed or purchased under reverse repurchase
agreements, but has an obligation to return the securities In this case, the counterparty retains almaost all risks
and rewards of ownership. Accordingly, the Group does not recognize such securities and records a separate
asset for any possible collateral provided as cash,

Under the contracts, the counterparty is allowed to sell or repledge the securities sold under repurchase
agreements in the absence of default by the Group, but has an obligation to return the securities at the maturity
of the contract.

Assets provided as collateral

The Group provides assets that are on its statement of financial position as collateral in various day-to-day
transactions that are conducted under the usual terms and conditions applying to such transactions. The Group
pledged securities in the amount of RUB 4.7 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 78.0 billion} as collateral under
repurchase agreements. - “Transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety’.

The Group provides assets that are on its statement of financial position as collateral in various day-to-day
transactions that are conducted under the usual terms and conditions applying to such transactions.

31 December 2016 31 December 2015

Carrying value of  Caerying value of  Carrying value of  Carrying value of
BESELs related liability assels refated liability

Amounts due from banks and treasury 6.2 5.3 16 11
Loans 1o customers 87 inr 4545 1945
Securities 0.5 0.5 1.1 0.8

454 565 43176 196.2

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the amount of net investments in leases related to assets
pledged as collateral under loan agreements was RUB 39.1 billion and RUB 59.1 billion, respectively.

The Group enters into reverse repurchase transactions. The table below provides information on these
transactions.
31 December 2016 51 December 2015
Loans issued under  Fairvalue of  Loans isswed under  Fair value of
repurchase securities received repurchiase securities recefved
Bgreements as collateral agreements as eollateral

Cash and cash equivalents 46,3 516 1.0 4.8
Loans 10 CUsTEdmens 3.6 420 4500 423

#9.9 4.6 67.0 671
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Transferred financial assets and assets held or pledged as collateral (continued)
Assets provided as collateral (continued)

In addition, the Group holds RUB 0.3 billion included in amounts due to banks (31 December 1015:
RUB 0.2 billion) (Note 26), RUB 2.1 billion included in amounts due to customers (31 December 2015:
RUE 3.6 billion) (Note 27) and RUB 1.0 billion of promissory notes issued by the Group (31 December 2015:
RUB 0.9 billion) (Mote 28) as collateral for letters of credit and issued guarantees. The Group is obliged to return
the collateral at maturity of the letters of credit and guarantees.

Offsetting of financial instruments
The tables below show financial assets offset against financial labilities in the statement of financial position,

as well as the effect of enforceable master netting agreements and similar arrangements (ISDA, RISDA, etc.) that
do not result in an offset in the statement of financial position;

Gross amount of
recognized Felated amounts Related smounts
Finsmeial Met amount of  not offuet inthe  not offset in the
Gross amount of  Instruments sef  financlal assets  stabement of statemment of
recogrined o ini thee recogained in the financlal position financisl pesiticn
fimancial itatement of statement of Fimpneinl Cazh collateral
51 December 1016 instruments  financial position Nnancial position  Instruments recehved Het amount
Financial aisets
Cazh and cath equivalents
(rerverse repurchase
afrepmenis) 463 = A3 46,3 - -
Loars o cusiomers
[reverse repuschase
agreemsnts) 36.9 - 169 (54.8) - 15
Loars to cusiomers 1.7 - nr - {24.6) 31
Toital 110.9 - 1107 (80.9) [24.6) 54
Fimancial liabilities
Amounts due to banks
(repurchase agreemsents) 43 = 43 i4.5) - =
Amaunts dus 10 CUSTOmErs 153 i 5.8 = [14.6) 1.2
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Offsetting of financial instruments [continued)

Groas amount of
recognited Related amourts
financial Wit amauntof  not set off in the
Gross amount of  ingtrumnents set  fimancial suiets stagement of
recognized off in tht recegnized In the financisl pesition
financial statement of sinbement of Finarncial
51 December 2015 instruments  financlal position financial position  Instruments Mt amsunt
Financial aszets
Cash and cash equivalents (reverse repurchase
BRI 0 - 1.0 (2104 -
Loans 1o CUSBOMETs (Teverse nepurchase
agresments) 460 : 460 i46.00 =
Otheer assets (st transactions) o1 - 01 - 01
Total a7l - &7l [&7.0) 01
Finamcial Uabilities
Ampiznts due to the Rusiian Government and
the Bk of Russia frepurchate agreementy) 641 - 4.1 {641} -
Amounts due 1o banks (reparchase
agriemants) B6 5 B (£.5) =
Arreants dud to cusbomens (repurchase
agreementy) 01 - 01 {0.1) -
Other Liabilities (spot ransactions) 0.1 = 01 z 0.1
Total 719 - 719 (72.5) 0.1

There are no offset financial instruments in the statement of financial pesition as at 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2015.

Related party transactions

In accordance with 1AS 24 Relaoted Party Disclosures, parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability to control or jointly control the other party or exercise significant influence aver the other party in making
financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed
to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.

Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related
parties may not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts a5 transactions between unrelated
parties.

Related parties include the state, key management of the Group, associates and jointly controlled entities. Since

Vnesheconombank is a state corporation, all state-controlled entities or entities on which the state has a
significant influence (collectively - state-related entities), are considered to be related parties of the Group.
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Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with associates, jointly controlled entities and key management persennel

The wvolumes of transactions with associates, jointly controlled entities and key management personnel,
outstanding balances at the year-end, and related expense and income for the year are as follows:

31 December 2006 51 December 2015
Jointly Key laintly Key
eontrolled  managesent controlled  managerment
Associates entities personnel  Associates entities persannel
Fimanclal assets designated as at
fair value through profit or Loss 21 - - 17.0 134 -
Due from other banks and treasury
at 1 January = = - - = =
Additions related to changes in
the Group 22.7 = - - - -
Amounts placed during the year - L 1 . i £
Amounts repadd during the year (1.7) = - - - &
Other changes 14 = = = 5 =
Due from other banks and treasury
at 1 larueary 114 = e - 1 - =
Loans to customers at 1 January 1360 14.2 0.1 198.2 10.8 01
Loans granted during the year 57 04 0l 2.0 1.4 -
Loans repakd during the year (] (1.2 i0.1) (&) - -
Changes related to changes in the
Group (158.6) 14.4 = - - -
Other changes after revaluation {124 (1.8) - 56.4 10 -
Loans to customers at
51 December 78 6.0 01 136.0 i4.3 0.1
Less allowance for impairment (12.3) (14.5) = (119.8) {7.3) :
W Dacember net . E L e W,
2016 2015
Jointly Key oiritly Key
controlled  management controlled  management
Assogiates entities persannel  Assodiates entities personnel
Current accounts - = =R = 01
Customer deposits at 1 January 927 - 4.5 16.8 - 4.0
Dreposits received during the year 71 = 2.9 136 - 0.3
Repayments related to changes in
the Growp - = 0.3} - < -
Deposits repaid during the year {16.6) - (4.2) (20.1) - {37
Oither changes {0.2) - (2.6) {0.6) = {0.1)
Customer deposits at 31 December - = 0.3 9.7 - 4.5
Guarantees ssued and undrawn
loan commitments L —— i p— . s—— ———
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Related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with associates, jointly controlled entities and key management personnel (continued)

For the year ended 51 December
1016 2015
Jointly Key Jointly Key
controlled  management contrelled  management

Associates entities personnel  Assoclates entities personnel

Ingerest income on amounts due

from banks and treasury 1.4 - - - - =
Interest income on subgrdinated

Loans to banks 0.7 - - - - -
interest income on loans 4.1 1.7 - 78 11 =
Interest expense on amounts dise

to customers (0.9 - (0.1} (L5 = (0.4)
Pravision for impainment of

interast-garning assets (TE.4) {0.5) = (11.1) (5.3 -

Compensation to key management peérsonnel comprises the following:

2016 2015
Salaries and other short-term benefis 1.5 1
Mandatory contributions to the pension fund 0.2 LI
Social security contributions di 0.1
2.6 1.4

Total compensation to key management personmel
Transactions with the state, state institutions and state-related entities

The information about transactions with the Russian Government, its authorized institutions and the Bank of
Russia Is provided in Mote 9.

The Bank is servicing, in an agency capacity, government foreign financial assets and, until the date determined
by the Russian Government, the government foreign debt of the former USSR and the Russian Federation
(Mote 10).

At 11 December 2016, transactions with state-related entities include cash non-interest-bearing deposits
{obligatory reserves) maintained by the Group banks with the Bank of Russia in the amount of RUB 2.9 billion
{31 December 2015: RUB 3.2 billion) (Note 14).

At 31 December 2016, transactions with state-related entities include cash non-interest-bearing depaosits at
correspondent account with the Bank of Russia in the amount of RUB 37,8 billion (31 December I015:
RUB 40.6 billion) (Note 14).

The Bank recognized within the equity financial result from distribution of capital to the Russian Government
due to disposal of subsidiaries SME Bank JSC and RDIF Management Company LLC, as well as deconsolidation
of units in Mutual Fund RDIF gwned by the Bank (Note 30).

Included in line "Retained earnings” was a loss of RUB 4.1 billion related to the Vnesheconombank's free-of-
charge transfer to the state treasury of the Russian Federation of assets received as a loan compensation

[Note 30,
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Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with the state, state institutions and state-related entities (continued)

In the normal course of business, the Bank and the Group's subsidiaries grant loans to state-related banks, as
well as raise financing and issue guarantees in regard to these banks (the list of transactions with banks is not
complete). These transactions are carried out primarily under market conditions, except for those disclosed in
Hote 14, Transactions with state-related banks account for the major portion of all of the Group's operations on
granting loans to banks and the minor portion of financing raised from banks and guarantees issued.

Balances of significant transactions with state-related banks at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are
stated in the table below:

Amounts due from banks and treasury
31 December 31 December

Bank Type of transaction 2016 2015
Bank 1 Interest-bearing loans and deposits with banks matwring
within %0 days 90.5% 2315
Bank 2 Interest-bearing loans and deposits with banks maturing
within 90 days a0 -
Bank § Term interest-bearing deposits with banks 5.5 64
Bank 4 Interest-bearing loans and deposits with banks maturing
within %0 days - o
Bank 5 interest-bearing loans and deposits with banks maturing
within 90 days - 6.8
105.2 43,7
Amounts due to banks
51 December 31 December
Bank Type of ransaction 1016 2015
Bank 1 Loans and other placements from Russian banks 1343 152.8
Bank 5 Loans and other placements fram Russian banks 589 5.4
Bank & Loand and ather placements from Russian banks 432 G075
Bank 7 Loans and other placements from Russian banks 6.6 1.5
Bank B Loans and other placements from Russian banks 50 0.7
148.0 2307
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Related party transactions [continued)
Transactions with the state, state institutions and state-related entities (continued)

In the normal course of business, the Bank and the Group’s subsidiaries grant loans to state-related customers,
as well as issue guarantees to these customers, maintain thelr current accounts, and raise deposits from them
{the list of transactions with customers is not complete). These transactions are carried out primarily under
market conditions, except for those disclosed in Note 17. Transactions with state-related customers account for
the major portion of all of the Group's operations with customers. Balances of the most significant transactions
with state-related institutions and entities at 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2015 are stated in the

tables below:
Loans Undrawn loan Loans Undrawm loan
fo custemers  commitments  to customiers  commitments

Bomrower industry 11 December 2016 31 December 2015
Customer 1 Financing 1781 = - =
Customer 2 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods 1029 - 1200 116
Customer 3 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods ThA 15.2 B 237
Customer 4 Financing 4008 - 40.7 -
Customer 5 Mamufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods ied 122 8.2 209
Customer 6 Transport LA - 40.4 -
Customer 7 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods 504 - 7.7 =
Customer 8 Electric endngy 5.2 - R -
Customer 9 Tranipon 49 = 215 5.6
Customer 10 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods 43 - 30.4 =
Customer 11 Manufacturing, incleding heavy machinery
and production of militany-related goods 16.7 = .7 =
Customer 12 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods 12.7 - 156 -
Customer 13 Financing 9.1 - a1 .
Customer 14 Electric energy 6.7 - 810 -
Customer 15 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of milltary-related goods 6.7 17 B3 g0
Customer 16 Trade 5.7 - 6.5 30
Customier 17 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods 5.7 - 4.2 17
Customer 18 Telecommunications 55 - 5.5 -
Customer 19 Telecommunications 5.5 o 50 4.4
Custosmer 20 Elactric energy 53 6.3 5.2 6.8
Customer 21 Real estate and construction - - 438 -
Customer 27 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and preduction of military-related goods = - 181 =
Customer 23 Sclemce and education = - 152 -
Customer 24 Transport - - 9.5 -
Customer 25 Transport - = 9.4 -
Custemer 26 Other 48 - a.0 -
Customer 27 Financing P = 59 1.1
Customer 2B Manufacturing, including heavy machinery
and production of military-related goods - x 2.1 =
8614 48.9 627.5 4.8
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Related party transactions (continued)

Transactions with the state, state institutions and state-related entities {continued)

Het investments in lexies
31 December 31 December
Customer Industry 2016 2015
Customer 25  Transport 76.5 101.4
Customer 29  Transport 554 327
Customer 30  Transport 5.3 [:¥:3
Customer 31 Transport 5.3 6.7
1215 147.6
Amounts due to cEstomers
51 December 31 December
Customer Industry 2016 2015
Customier 31 Financing A5.9 =
Customer 33 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery and production of
military-related goods 115 T
Customer 18 Telecommunications 11.1 38.7
Customer 5 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery and production of
military-related goods .z 2
Customer 7 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery and production of
military-related goods 5B 11
Customer 25 Trangport 15 10
Custodmer 34 Financing 1.2 75
Customer 35 Transport - 9.5
Custeamer 36 Infrastructure development - a3
Customer 37 Financing = 5.5
Customer 38 Telecommaunications. - 5.0
Customer 39 Dil and gas = 30
109.2 161.6
Guarantees issued
31 December 51 Decembaer
Customer Industry 1014 20135
Customer 33 Manufacturing, including heavy machinery and production of
military-related goods 1594 1986
Customer 40 Electric energy 83 44
167.7 20%.0

As at 51 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group's investments in debt securities issued by the Russian
Government comprised:

Financial assets at falr value through profit or loss

Financial assets at falr value through profit or loss pledged under repurchade
agreements

Inwestment financial assets:
- available for sale
- hedd to maturity
Investment financial assets lent and pledged under repurchase agresments
- available for sale
» heldd to maturity

51 December 31 December
2016 1015

. 10

= 40

48.7 48.6

14 or

01 5.6

- 0.8
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Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with the state, state institutions and state-related entities {continued)

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, there were no transactions involving derivative financial
instruments with the Russian Government.

In the normal course of business, the Group invests in securities issued by state-related isswers and enters into
derivative contracts with such counterparties, As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group's
investments into securities issued by state-related issuers, as well as derivative transactions with such
counterparties comprised;

31 December 2015
51 December 2016 (Restated)
Equity securities  Debt securities  Equity securities  Debt securities

Financial assets at fair value through

profit of Loss 0.8 - 18.2 i R
Financlal assets pledged as collateral

under repurchaie agreements

- ait Tair walue thraugh profit or loss - - = 0.4

- available for sale - 7 - 57.7

- held 1o maturity - - - 14
- laans o customers - 14 - -
Investment financial assels pvailable for

sale 2183 1031 1539 456
Investment financial assets held to

maturity = 10.7 - 113

As at 31 December 2016, investment financial assets available for sale also include a financial asset with a fair
value of RUB 35.5 billion (31 December 2015: RUB 31.9 billion) issued by a state-related bank.

During the reporting period ended 31 December 2016, in the Line "Net gains/(loss) on investment financial assets
available for sale” of the consolidated statement of profit or Loss, the Bank recognized gain from disposal of
equity securities to a state-related entity in amount of RUB 19.5 billion. The realized part of the revaluation
previously recorded in equity and reclassified to the statement of profit or loss comprised RUB 9.6 billion.

During the reporting period ended 31 December 2016, in line “Insurance premiums” of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the Bank recognized premium of RUB 24.4 billion received under insurance contracts
with twio Russian state-related banks (Note 35).

During the reporting period ended 31 December 2016, in line "Other operating income” of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the Bank recognized gains of RUB 182.9 billion from disposal of loans of a state-
related entity against the Russian Government guarantee (Mote 31).

Significant financial results related to transactions with the state are presented below:

1016 2015
Interest expense
Amounts due to the Bank of Russia {346 [45.8)
Amounts due to the Russian Government (30.2) (38.5)
Government grants 2119 S30.5
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Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with the state, state institutions and state-related entities [continued)

Government grants recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2016 include a gain from
government grants in the amount of RUB 210.9 billion related to the funds recorded within operations with the
Russian Government, its authorized institutions and the Bank of Russia in the consolidated statement of financial
position (2015: RUB 325.4 billion) (Mote 9).

Gain of RUB 1.0 billion on initial recognition of loans granted by the Bank of Russia for the purposes of further
issue to banks through JSC SME Bank under the program of extending leans to small and medium enterprises
was also recorded in the line "Government grants™ of the consolidated statement of prefit or loss for 2016
(Mate 16).

During the reporting year ended 31 December 2016, the Bank recognized a loss of RUB 4.1 billion within
*Uncovered Loss™ in equity related to the Vnesheconombank's free-of-charge transfer of assets received as a loan
compensation to the state treasury of the Russian Federation (Mote 30).

Capital adequacy

The capital adequacy ratio is one of the most important indicators characterizing the level of risks accepted by
the Bank and, therefore, determining its financial stability. To comply with the minimum level of 10% set out in
the Memorandum on Financial Policies and to maintain a high credit rating, the Bank monitors its capital
adequacy ratio on an ongoing basis.

Methodology of calculation of the capital adequacy ratio are elaborated on the basis of regulations issued by
the Bank of Russia and with regard to the generally acceptable international practices of computing capital
adequacy ratios, and approved by the Supervisory Board of the Bank,

In 2016 and 2015, the Bank complied with capital adequacy ratio requirements.

At 31 December, the Bank's capital adequacy ratio calculated in accordance with the above methods was as
fiollowes:

1015 2015
Care capital TE21A4 S9B5
hdditional capital 619 4348
Less deductions from capital (597.5) (573.3)
Total equity 526.8 460.0
Risk-weighted assets #5178 59154
Capital adeguacy ratio 11.6% 11.7%

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure and in accordance with Federal Law Mo, 82-FZ, the charter
capital of the Bank may be increased pursuant to a resolution of the Russian Government on the account of
additional asset contribution of the Russian Federation or retained earnings of Vnesheconombank. Proposals
regarding income distribution are drafted by the Management Board of the Bank and further approved by the
Supervisory Board.
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Subsequent events

In February 2017, the Group’s leasing company made secondary placement of Series 001P-01 bonds with a
nominal value of RUB 2.8 billion, maturing in July 2025. This issue provides for an offer in July 2018.

In January 2017, the Bank issued Series PBO-001R-05 exchange-traded bonds with a nominal value of
RLUE 10.0 billion, maturing in December 2021. This issue is not subject to an offer.

In February 2017, the Bank fulfilled its obligations to redeem its own Eurobonds with a nominal value of
LED 750 million {equivalent to RUE 44.1 billion at the date of purchase).

In March 2017, the Bank issued Series PBO-001R-06 exchange-traded bonds with a nominal value of
RUB 15.0 billion, maturing in July 2018, This issue is not subject to an offer.

In March 2017, the Bank purchased 2,070,000 ordinary registered shares additionally issued by J5C "North
Caucasus Development Corporation™ fior the total amount of RUE 2.1 billion at the expense of the federal budget
subsidy received by Vnesheconombank in Decemnber 2016 in the form of an asset contribution frem the Russian
Federation for Vnesheconombank to increase the share capital of JSC "Morth Caucasus Development
Corporation” for the purposes of creating a medical cluster on the Caucasian Mineral Waters tefritory and
implementing investment projects (Note 30). The Bank's interest in the share capital of JSC "North Caucasus
Development Corporation” remained unchanged at 100%.

In March 2017, Vnesheconombank received a subsidy from the federal budget in the form of an asset
contribution of the Russian Federation of RUB 76.7 billion as compensation for costs related to the fulfillment
of obligations arising from foreign borrowings in the capital markets. The federal budget for 2017 and for 2018
and 2019 planned periods provide for subsidies to be granted to Vnesheconombank in 2017 for the total amount
of RUB 150.0 billion to compensate for part of costs related to the fulfillment of obligatiens arising from foreign
borrowings in the capital markets and losses arising from free of charge transfer of assets to the state treasury
of the Russian Federation.

In April 2017, pursuant to the decision of the Vnesheconombank’s Supervisory Board concerning optimization
of the foreign network of Ynesheconombank's representative offices, the Bank's representative offices in
Johannesburg (RSA) and New Delhi (India) ceased their operations.

In April 2017, the Bank made a secondary placement of previously purchased BO-03 Series exchange-traded
bonds with a total nominal value of RUB 0.5 billion, maturing in July 2018, and BO-05 Series exchange-traded
bonds with a total nominal value of RUB 1.7 billian, maturing in August 2020,

In January-April 2017, the Group fulfilled its obligations to purchase its own bonds with a total nominal value
of RUB 35.7 billion.

In January-Apeil 2017, the Bank issued USD-denominated and EUR-denominated guarantees and counter
guarantees in favor of customers totaling RUB 6.8 billion (equivalent as of the date of these consolidated
financial statements). In addition, in January-April 2017, USD and RUB-denominated quarantees previously
issued by the Bank for clients for the total amount of RUB 13,1 billion expired (equivalent at the reporting date).
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INCOME AND EXPENSES
RELATED TO INVESTMENT OF
TEMPORARILY SURPLUS FUNDS
BY STATE CORPORATION
“BANK FOR DEVELOPMENT AND
FOREIGN ECONOMIC AFFAIRS
(VNESHECONOMBANK)”

as at 1 January 2017

Code Year to Date
(RUB thous.)

Income from investment of temporarily surplus funds 010 309,788,822.11

Expenses related to investment of temporarily surplus

020 269,080,958.36
funds

Profit or loss from investment of temporarily surplus funds

(item code 010-020) 100 40,707,863.75
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